# Bergman Kernel Asymptotics for Partially Positive Line Bundles

INAUGURAL - DISSERTATION

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

# Hendrik Herrmann

aus Köln Deutschland

Köln, 2019

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. George Marinescu
	Prof. Silvia Sabatini, Ph.D.
Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Markus Kunze

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 07.09.2018

#### Zusammenfassung

Ende des letzten Jahrhunderts lieferten Catlin und Zelditch eine vollständige Beschreibung des folgenden Phänomens: Betrachtet man die Bergman-Kern-Funktion  $B_k$  des k-ten Tensorproduktes eines positiven holomorphen Geradenbündels L über einer kompakten, geschlossenen, komplexen Mannigfaltigkeit M, so hat diese Funktion eine asymptotische Entwicklung in k, d.h.  $B_k$  lässt sich als formale Summe

$$B_k \sim a_0 k^n + a_1 k^{n-1} + a_2 k^{n-2} + a_3 k^{n-3} \dots$$
, für  $k \to \infty$ 

schreiben. Hierbei kodieren die Funktionen  $a_0, a_1, \ldots$  lokale geometrische Eigenschaften der zugrundeliegenden Objekte M und L. In diesem Sinne untersuchen wir sowohl das asymptotische Verhalten der Bergman-Kern-Funktion als auch das Verhalten des zugehörigen Bergman-Kerns für den Fall, dass die Mannigfaltigkeit nicht notwendigerweise kompakt, die Metrik nur teilweise positiv, und die zugrundeliegende Geometrie nicht beliebig regulär ist.

Im ersten Teil der Arbeit nehmen wir an, dass M ein beschränktes Gebiet des euklidischen Raums ist und konstruieren einen asymptotisch reproduzierenden Integralkern für quadratintegrable holomorphe Funktionen bezüglich eines beliebigen gewichteten inneren Produkts. Wir zeigen, dass zu jeder natürlichen Zahl N eine offene Teilmenge  $M_N$  existiert, auf welcher sowohl der Bergman-Kern als auch die Bergman-Kern-Funktion eine asymptotische Entwicklung bis hin zur Ordnung Nbesitzen, abhängig von der Regularität der zugrundeliegenden geometrischen Objekte. Es stellt sich heraus, dass die Krümmung der Metrik außerhalb von  $M_N$ beliebig seien kann. Unsere Methode liefert außerdem eine explizite Darstellung der Koeffizienten dieser asymptotischen Entwicklung für jede Wahl von Koordinaten.

Im zweiten Teil der Arbeit nehmen wir an, dass M ein Gebiet einer vollständigen Kähler-Mannigfaltigkeit X ist und dass sich L zu einem holomorphen Geradenbündel  $L_0$  über X fortsetzen lässt. Wir beginnen mit einer oberhalbstetigen Metrik auf L und betrachten die Menge  $M_{\infty}$  bestehend aus Punkten, an denen diese Metrik durch positive Metriken auf  $L_0$  niedergehalten wird. Unter Verwendung der Resultate des ersten Teils beweisen wir, dass der Bergman-Kern und die Bergman-Kern-Funktion eine asymptotische Entwicklung auf  $M_{\infty}$  haben, wobei die Ordnung dieser Entwicklung nur durch die Regularität der Geometrie begeschränkt wird.

#### Abstract

A famous result of Catlin and Zelditch developed in the end of the last century gives a complete description for the following phenomena: Given a positive holomorphic line bundle L over a closed compact complex manifold M the Bergman kernel function  $B_k$  for the k-th tensor power of L has a full asymptotic expansion. More precisely,  $B_k$  can be written as a formal sum

$$B_k \sim a_0 k^n + a_1 k^{n-1} + a_2 k^{n-2} + a_3 k^{n-3} \dots$$
, for  $k \to \infty$ 

where the coefficients  $a_0, a_1, \ldots$  purely depend on the local geometric data of X and L. In that sense, we study the asymptotic behavior of the Bergman kernel function and the related Bergman kernel when M is not necessarily compact, L is only partially positive and the geometric data fail to be smooth.

In the first part of this thesis we consider M to be a bounded domain in the Euclidean space and establish a local asymptotically reproducing kernel for square integrable holomorphic functions with respect to a weighted inner product. From this method we deduce that for any non-negative integer N the Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function have an asymptotic expansion on some set  $M_N$  up to some order less than or equal to N depending on the regularity of the geometric data. It turns out that the curvature of the metric can be arbitrary in the complement of  $M_N$ . In addition, our method provides an explicit formula for the coefficients in this expansion which holds for any choice of coordinates.

In the second part we assume that M is a domain contained in a complete Kähler manifold X and that L can be holomorphically extended to a holomorphic line bundle  $L_0$  over X. We start with an upper semi-continuous metric on L and consider the set  $M_{\infty}$  consisting of points where the metric of L can be suppressed by positive metrics defined on  $L_0$ . Using the results obtained in the first part, we prove that the Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function have an asymptotic expansion on  $M_{\infty}$  where the order of the expansion is just limited by the regularity of the geometric data.

# Acknowledgments

I am very happy to thank my advisor Prof. George Marinescu for his great support and being my teacher for more than 10 years. I am very grateful for all the time he spent in advising me in various topics and helping me in communicating complex ideas and thoughts. I still enjoy the inspiring discussions in his office during tea time.

Beside my advisor, I would like to thank Prof. Chin-Yu Hsiao for introducing me to the theory of Bergman kernels in 2012 by teaching me the foundations in that field. An important part of this thesis is due to his precious advice and ideas.

I warmly thank Prof. Xiaoshan Li for teaching me so many things with patience and dedication during our collaborations.

My overall view on mathematics was strongly influenced by Prof. Hansjörg Geiges, Prof. Franz-Peter Heider and Prof. Tassilo Küpper. I owe them my warmest gratitude for their seminars, lectures and fruitful discussions.

I would like to thank the Graduiertenkolleg 'Global Structures in Geometry and Analysis', the CRC TRR 191 and the Mathematical Institute of Cologne for financial support and a pleasant working atmosphere. Furthermore, I warmly thank the Mathematical Institute Academia Sinica in Taipei and the School of Mathematics and Statistics in Wuhan for financial support during my visits and their great hospitality. I am very thankful for the excellent discussion with the strong mathematicians there.

My sincere thanks are due to all my friends, colleagues and group members. I especially thank my friend Dr. Roland Siegbert for his help with finishing this thesis by teaching me the secret of organizing work in a meaningful way. Furthermore, I would like to thank him for a lot of fruitful discussions and progressive coding sessions.

I am very thankful to my family for their great support during all my life which made it possible to write this thesis. In particular, I would like to thank my mother Dr. Petra Herrmann who gave me a wonderful childhood with a lot of love and security, my grandmother Marianne Ostermann who started teaching me the foundations of mathematics when I was a child and my grandfather Dr. Fritz Ostermann who introduced me to higher mathematics when I grew older. I am especially thankful for the stimulating conversations with my grandfather and Yuriy Stepanov about mathematics and physics. Moreover, I thank my brother Dr. Gerrit Herrmann for a lot of productive discussions on mathematics and computer science.

I am deeply indebted to my father Dr. Friedrich Herrmann for his intellectual and financial support, and for spending days and nights on proofreading this thesis.

Most importantly, I wish to thank my girlfriend Isabelle Charton. She was always there for me and I am very thankful for her love and patience.

# Contents

1	Inti	oduction and Statement of the Results	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Local Expansion	4
	1.3	Global Expansion	9
	1.4	Relation to Previous Results	13
	1.5	Sketch of the Proofs	17
		1.5.1 Reproducing Kernels with Asymptotically Small Errors	17
		1.5.2 Approximation of Bergman Kernels on Manifolds	19
<b>2</b>	Ber	gman Kernels in $\mathbb{C}^n$	21
	2.1	Analysis and Basic Notations	21
		2.1.1 Analysis in $\mathbb{R}^n$	21
		2.1.2 Analysis in $\mathbb{C}^n$	26
		2.1.3 Real and Complex Hessians	28
	2.2	Basic Properties of Holomorphic Functions	30
	2.3	$L^2$ -Norm Estimates for Holomorphic Functions	34
	2.4	Reproducing Kernels and Bergman Kernel Functions	37
	2.5	The Localization Property	43
	2.6	The Method of Stationary Phase	48
	2.7	An $L^2$ -Norm Estimate for the Stationary Phase Formula $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	53
	2.8	Decomposition of $H^0_k(D)$	66
3	3 Bergman Kernel Expansion		71
	3.1	Local Expansion of the Bergman Kernel	71
	3.2	Coefficients	80
	3.3	Bergman Kernels on Manifolds	90
	3.4	Global Bergman Kernel Expansion	92
Bi	ibliog	graphy	99

# Chapter 1

# Introduction and Statement of the Results

# 1.1 Introduction

Let E be a holomorphic line bundle over a complex manifold M and let  $\mathcal{O}(M, E)$ be the space of global holomorphic sections. The choice of a Hermitian metric on E and a volume form  $dV_M$  on M defines the space  $L^2(M, E)$ , which is the space of  $L^2$ -integrable sections in E with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_h$  coming from the inner product

$$(u,v)_h := \int_M h(u,v) dV_M$$
, for  $u, v \in L^2(M, E)$ .

For simplicity we will assume that h and  $dV_M$  are smooth objects. Let

$$H_2^0(M, E) = L^2(M, E) \cap \mathcal{O}(M, E)$$

denote the space of holomorphic sections with finite  $L^2$ -norm. One can check that this is a closed d-dimensional subspace of  $L^2(M, E)$  where  $d \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  strongly depends on the choice of the inner product when M is non-compact. Since  $H_2^0(M, E)$ is closed there exists a unique orthogonal projection  $L^2(M, E) \to H_2^0(M, E)$ . It turns out that this projection can be represented by an integral kernel  $P_{h,dV_M}$  called Bergman kernel which is a smooth section  $M \times M \to E \boxtimes E^*$  and by restricting  $P_{h,dV_M}$  along the diagonal in  $M \times M$  we obtain the so called Bergman kernel function  $B_{h,dV_M} \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$ . Given an orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^d$  of  $H_2^0(M, E)$  we have the following representations

$$P_{h,dV_M}(x,y) = \sum_{j=1}^d s_j(x) \otimes s_j(y)^* \in E_x \otimes E_y^*,$$
  

$$B_{h,dV_M}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^d |s_j(x)|_h^2 \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x,y \in M.$$
(1.1)

From the construction it is already clear that (1.1) does not depend on the choice of the orthonormal basis. Furthermore, we have  $\int_M B_{h,dV_M} dV_M = d$ , so  $B_{h,dV_M}$ should be seen as a dimension density of  $H_2^0(M, E)$ . The Bergman kernel was first introduced by Stefan Bergman in 1922 for domains in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  [1]. Because of its strong connection to many subjects in complex geometry, complex analysis and quantum physics it has attracted a lot of attention during the last century till now (see [30], [11]). The Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function appear for example in the context of pseudoconvex boundaries [7], [19], [28] and extensions of holomorphic maps [18], holomorphic embeddings [21], distribution of zeros of random holomorphic sections [35], existence and approximation of Kähler metrics [36], vanishing theorems [14] as well as in quantization theory [34], [25], [18], [9], [32] and the computation of path integrals [15]. For a complete reference see the book of Ma–Marinescu [30]. A very important subject is to study the Bergman kernel for the line bundle  $L_k = L^k \otimes E$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $L^k$  is the k-th tensor power of a holomorphic Hermitian line bundle L over M. The metrics of L and E induce a metric  $h_k$  on  $L_k$  and one tries to understand the asymptotic behavior of  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$  and  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  for  $k \to \infty$ . When L is positive, i.e. its metric has a positive curvature, M is compact and  $h_k$  and  $dV_M$  are smooth it follows from a result of Catlin [10] and Zelditch [38] that  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  has an asymptotic expansion that is

$$B_{h_k,dV_M} \sim a_0 k^n + a_1 k^{n-1} + a_2 k^{n-2} + \dots$$
(1.2)

where  $a_0, a_1, \ldots$  are smooth functions with  $a_0 > 0$ . More precisely, for any  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ there exists a constant  $C = C_{N,r} > 0$  such that

$$\left\| B_{h_k, dV_M} - \sum_{j=0}^N a_j k^{n-j} \right\|_{C^r(M)} \le C_{N, r} k^{-N-1+n}$$

holds for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Furthermore, they calculated  $a_0$ . Note that the computation of the coefficients  $a_j$  in terms of local geometric data is an interesting but difficult subject (see Section 1.3 and the discussion therein).

In general, the asymptotic behavior of  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$  and  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  in the case when L is globally positive or semi-positive and M possess a complete Kähler metric is well understood due to Dai-Lu-Ma [13] and Ma-Marinescu [30]. Their results even hold for symplectic manifolds and orbifolds and can be generalized to the case where  $h_k$  is singular in some specific cases (see [31], [12], [20]).

When L fails to be globally semi-positive there are - compared to the wide range of literature for the globally positive case - only a few results known. The most general results for that case are due to Berman [5] and Hsiao–Marinescu [20]. In [4] and [5] Berman studies big line bundles over compact projective manifolds. He established criteria on the existence of an asymptotic expansion in terms of equilibrium weights. Hsiao–Marinescu proved in [20] the existence of an asymptotic expansion under the assumption that the Kodaira-Laplacian has a small (local) spectral gap. Given a point  $p \in M$  where the curvature of L fails to be positive it follows from a result of Berman [2] (see also [20]) that

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} k^{-n} B_{h_k, dV_M}(p) = 0.$$

This shows that one should consider the set of points where L is positive in order to get an asymptotic expansion as in (1.2).

In this thesis we consider the case when the metric of L is arbitrary and study the asymptotic behavior of  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$  and  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  at points where the curvature of L is positive. Starting with bounded domains D in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and globally trivial line bundles, assuming that the metric and the volume form is continuous up to the boundary, we give a self contained proof for Bergman kernel expansion based on elementary methods from complex analysis in combination with the asymptotic expansion of oscillatory integrals in a version proven by Hörmander [24] which allows us to weaken the regularity assumptions on the metric  $h_k$ . It turns out that for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we have an expansion up to order N on a set  $D_N$  (see Definition 1.1) where the curvature is positive, sufficiently regular and the metric satisfies some growth condition on Dbut is not necessarily semi-positive in the complement of  $D_N$ . Furthermore, thanks to Hörmander's method of stationary phase, our approach leads also to an explicit formula for all coefficients  $a_i$  in the asymptotic expansion (1.2) (see Definition 1.12). The main result in this part of the thesis is the construction of a reproducing kernel which asymptotically recovers the value of any holomorphic function at any given point in  $D_N$  up to some error which is an  $O(k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon})$  (see Theorem 1.3). The set  $D_N$  can be very small or even empty strongly depending on D and N. However, by shrinking D we can always ensure that  $D_N$  is non-empty. In this sense our results provide a local reproducing kernel which can be used to study the Bergman kernel in a more general case which leads to the second part of the thesis.

In the second part we will combine our results of local reproducing kernels with the  $L^2$  estimates of Hörmander [22] given in a generalized version by Demailly [14]. We study the Bergman kernel for a domain M contained in a complete Kähler manifold X for line bundles which can be globally extended to X. Given a continuous volume form  $dV_M$  on M and an upper semi-continuous Hermitian metric h on L we obtain quite general results on Bergman kernel expansion for some set  $M_h$  which consists of points where the metric h is suppressed by a semi-positive metric  $h_0$  of a holomorphic line bundle  $L_0$  over X with  $L_0|_M = L$  (see Definition 1.14, Theorem 1.15 and Theorem 1.16). An important feature of this method is that we can assume very weak regularity conditions on h and  $dV_M$  in the complement of  $M_h$  (see Example 1.19).

The thesis is organized as follows: this chapter provides an overview on our results (Section 1.2 and Section 1.3) as well as a discussion of their relation to previous results (Section 1.4). Furthermore, we give a sketch of the proofs in Section 1.5 pointing out the main ideas. Chapter 2 contains a detailed study of Bergman kernels and their asymptotics on domains in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . In Chapter 3 we will prove the results announced in Section 1.2 and Section 1.3.

# **1.2 Local Expansion**

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain  $\varphi, \rho \in C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$ . We will consider the setting  $(D \times \mathbb{C}, h) \to (D, dV_D)$  where the projection of the line bundle is given by  $(z, \lambda) \mapsto z$ ,  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  and h is defined by  $|(z, \lambda)|_h^2 = |\lambda|^2 e^{-\varphi(z)}$ . We identify holomorphic sections with holomorphic functions on D via the trivialization  $z \mapsto (z, 1)$ , that is we consider the space  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) = \{f \in \mathcal{O}(D) \mid ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} < \infty\}$ where the norm  $|| \cdot ||_{k\varphi,\rho}$  is induced by the inner product

$$(f,g)_{k\varphi,\rho} = \int_D f\overline{g}e^{-k\varphi}dV_D, \quad f,g \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D).$$

Assume  $\varphi \in C^{N+2}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  for some non-negative integer  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . We define the functions  $\gamma_N, \tilde{\varphi}_N : D \times \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ ,

$$\gamma_N(z,w) = \frac{\varphi(z)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le N+2} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} \varphi(z)}{\partial^{\alpha} z} (w-z)^{\alpha},$$
  
$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) = \varphi(w) - \gamma_N(z,w) - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}.$$

The complex Hessian of  $\varphi$  in  $z \in D$  is the Hermitian  $n \times n$  matrix given by

$$H_{\varphi}(z) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 \varphi(z)}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_l}\right)_{1 \le l, j \le r}$$

Let  $D_{\varphi,+}$  denote the set of points in D where  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  is positive definite.

# Definition 1.1

We say that  $z_0 \in D$  has the N-th localization property (for  $\varphi$ ) if the following two conditions are satisfied

(i) 
$$z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$$
  
(ii)  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0, z) > 0$  for all  $z \in \overline{D} \setminus \{z_0\}$ .

The set of all points which satisfy this condition is denoted by  $D_{\varphi,N}$ .

#### Example 1.2

Let  $D \subset C^n$  be a domain and  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}, \varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j |z_j|^2$ , where  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ are positive real numbers. We have  $H_{\varphi}(z) = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  and hence  $D_{\varphi,+} = D$ . Furthermore,  $D_{\varphi,N} = D$  holds for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

We have  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$  if and only if the transformed weight  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0,\cdot)$  is positive on  $\overline{D} \setminus \{0\}$  (see Figure 2.1 in Section 2.5). Note that it does not need to be plurisubharmonic away from  $z_0$ . The *N*-th localization property is carefully studied in Section 2.5. For example, if *D* is bounded, we have that  $D_{\varphi,N}$  is open. We will show that under certain regularity conditions on  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  we have that  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  have asymptotic expansions up to order N and N/2 on  $D_{\varphi,N}$  and  $D_{\varphi,N} \times D$ . Our first main result is the construction of some reproducing kernel function which recovers the value of any holomorphic function  $f \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  at a point  $z \in D_{\varphi,N}$  up to some error of order  $N + 1 - n + \varepsilon$  where  $\varepsilon > 0$  can be chosen arbitrarily small.

### Theorem 1.3

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain,  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  a non-negative integer and

$$\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D}) \text{ and } \rho \in C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$$

be two functions such that  $\rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$  and  $dV_D(z) = \rho(z)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . For any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ and  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $|\alpha|, j \leq N$ , there exist functions  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$  where  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  only depend on  $\varphi, \rho$  and their derivatives at  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$ , such that  $K_{k\varphi,N} : D_{\varphi,+} \times D \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$K_{k\varphi,N}(z,w) = k^{n} e^{k(\gamma_{N}(z,z) + \gamma_{N}(z,w))} \sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}$$

satisfies the following: For any compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|f(z) - (f, K_{k\varphi,N}(z, \cdot))_{k\varphi,\rho}|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le Ck^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon} ||f||^2_{k\varphi,\rho}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in K$  and  $f \in H^0_{k \omega, \rho}(D)$ .

Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{6N+3n+4}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in K\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2$  has a positive lower bound and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{4N+2n+2}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{w\in\overline{D}}\rho(w)$  has a positive lower bound.

We have an explicit formula for  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$ ,  $j, |\alpha| \leq N, j \leq N - \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$  (see Theorem 3.17 and Remark 3.18) in terms of  $\rho$ ,  $\varphi$  and their derivatives. In the smooth setting we can show that this formula also holds for  $j > N - \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$  with some improvements (see Lemma 3.23). Note that for the expansion of the Bergman kernel function  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  we just need to know  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(j)}$ .

#### Definition 1.4

For  $\varphi \in C^{6j+3n+4}(D,\mathbb{R})$  and  $\rho \in C^{4j+2n+2}(D,\mathbb{R}), \rho > 0$ , define  $b_j = b_j^{\varphi,\rho} \colon D_{\varphi,+} \to \mathbb{R}$ by  $b_0 = 1$  and for  $j \ge 1, z \in D_{\varphi,+}$  set

$$b_{j}(z) = \sum_{d=1}^{2j} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d} \\ |\alpha|=2j}} \sum_{\substack{(\beta^{(1)},\ldots,\beta^{(d)}) \in (\mathbb{N}^{n}_{0})^{d-1} \\ |\beta^{(1)}|,\ldots,|\beta^{(d-1)}| \leq j}} (-1)^{d} \nu_{\tau,\beta^{(1)}}^{(\alpha_{1})} \nu_{\beta^{(1)},\beta^{(2)}}^{(\alpha_{2})} \cdots \nu_{\beta^{(d-1)},0}^{(\alpha_{d})}$$

where

$$\nu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(r)} = \frac{\lambda^{\beta}}{\beta!} \frac{\chi_{|\alpha|,|\beta|}^{(r)}}{\rho(z)} \sum_{l=0}^{r+|\alpha|+|\beta|} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=l+\frac{r+|\alpha|+|\beta|}{2}\\\eta \ge \max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (-1)^{l} \frac{\eta!}{l!\lambda^{\eta}} \mu_{\eta-\alpha,\eta-\beta}^{(l)}$$

$$\chi_{p,q}^{(r)} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{, if } 2 \mid (r+p+q) \text{ and } r \ge |p-q| \\ 0 & \text{, else,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(l)} = \sum_{\substack{(\alpha^{(0)},\dots,\alpha^{(l)}) \in (\mathbb{N}_{0}^{n})^{l+1} \ (\beta^{(0)},\dots,\beta^{(l)}) \in (\mathbb{N}_{0}^{n})^{l+1}}_{|\alpha_{m}^{(0)}|+\dots+|\alpha_{m}^{(l)}|=\alpha_{m}} \frac{\beta_{\alpha^{(0)},\beta^{(0)}}(z)}{\alpha^{(0)}!\beta^{(0)}!} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{l} \frac{\varphi_{\alpha^{(j)},\beta^{(j)}}(z)}{\alpha^{(j)}!\beta^{(j)}!}$$

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = (X_w)^{\alpha} (X_w)^{\beta} \rho(z) \text{ and}$$

$$\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = \begin{cases} \left(\overline{X_w^{\alpha}} X_w^{\beta} \varphi\right)(z) &, \text{ if } \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 2, \min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 1, \\ 0 &, \text{ else,} \end{cases}$$

with

$$(X_w)^{\alpha} = \prod_{m=1}^n X_{w,m}^{\alpha_m}, \ X_{w,m} = F_{m1} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} + \ldots + F_{mn} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_n}$$

where  $F = (F_{lm})_{1 \le l,m \le n}$  is an invertible complex matrix such that  $F^*H_{\varphi}(z)F = \text{diag}(\lambda_1,\ldots,\lambda_n)$  for some  $\lambda_1,\ldots,\lambda_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and we set  $\lambda^{\eta} = \lambda_1^{\eta_1}\cdots\lambda_n^{\eta_n}$ .

Note that in Definition 1.4 we have  $X_w^{\alpha} = \partial_w^{\alpha}$  when F = Id and that  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$  strongly depend on the choice of F. From the definition it is not clear that  $b_j(z)$  is real valued, independent of F and continuous. This has to be proven.

#### Lemma 1.5

We have that  $b_j(z)$  is well defined and independent of the choice of F. Furthermore, given  $\varphi \in C^{6j+3n+4+l}(D)$  and  $\rho \in C^{4j+2n+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R})$  for some  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we have  $b_j \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$ .

We will show now that the  $b_j$ s ,  $b_j = b_j^{\varphi,\rho}$ , defined above are precisely the coefficients in the asymptotic expansion of the Bergman kernel function. See Section 2.1 for the notations we use in Theorem 1.6.

#### Theorem 1.6

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain and

$$\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), \ \rho \in C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$$

be two functions such that  $\rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$  and  $dV_D(z) = \rho(z)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and any  $0 \le r \le l$  we have

$$B_{k\varphi,\rho} - \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{\varphi,\rho} = O(k^{-c_r(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,N})$$

with  $c_r = 1 - \frac{r}{l+1}$ . More precisely, for any compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$ , any  $0 \le r \le l$ and any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant  $C = C_{K,\varepsilon,l} > 0$  such that

$$\left\| B_{k\varphi,\rho} - \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{\varphi,\rho} \right\|_{C^r(K)} \le C_{K,\varepsilon,l} k^{-c_r(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in K\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2$  has a uniform positive lower bound and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{w\in\overline{D}} \rho(w)$  has a uniform positive lower bound.

We have the following theorem for the off-diagonal expansion.

#### Theorem 1.7

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain and

$$\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), \ \rho \in C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$$

be two functions such that  $\rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$  and  $dV_D(z) = \rho(z)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . Given  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ define  $P_{k\varphi,N} \colon D_{\varphi,N} \times D \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) = k^n e^{-k(\frac{\varphi(w)}{2} - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)})} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} \overline{\sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}}$$

satisfies with  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  as in Theorem 1.3. For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $r \leq l$  we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - P_{k\varphi,\rho,N} = O(k^{-\frac{c_r}{2}(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,N} \times D)$$

with  $c_r = 1 - \frac{r}{l+1}$ . More precisely, for any compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N} \times D$ , any  $r \leq l$ , and any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant  $C = C_{K,l,\varepsilon} > 0$  such that

$$\left\|P_{k\varphi,\rho} - P_{k\varphi,\rho,N}\right\|_{C^{r}(K)} \le C_{K,l,\varepsilon} k^{-\frac{cr}{2}(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1,\infty)$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in K\times\overline{D}} |w-z|^2/\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)$  has a uniform positive lower bound and  $\rho$  in a bounded set in  $C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{w\in\overline{D}}\rho(w)$  has a uniform positive lower bound.

#### Corollary 1.8

Let  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N} \times D$  be compact. Given  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist constants  $C, \delta > 0$  such that  $|P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w)| \leq C\left(k^n e^{-\delta k|w-z|^2} + k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+\varepsilon}\right)$  holds for all  $(z,w) \in K$ ,  $k \in [1,\infty)$ . Here C and  $\delta^{-1}$  stay bounded under the same conditions on  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  as in Theorem 1.7.

# Definition 1.9

Given  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}D \cap C^{0}(\overline{D}), \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}, j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$  define  $b_{j,\alpha} \in C^{\infty}(D_{\varphi,+})$ 

$$b_{j,\alpha} = \frac{\alpha! \pi^n \rho}{\det(H_{\varphi})} \overline{\lambda_{2j+2|\alpha|,\alpha}^{(j)}}$$

with  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  as in Theorem 1.3, and set

$$\hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) = \frac{k^n \det(H_\varphi(z))}{\pi^n \rho(z)} e^{-k(\frac{\varphi(w)}{2} - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)})} \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor - j} \frac{b_{j,\alpha}(z)}{\alpha!} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}$$

for  $(z, w) \in D_{\varphi, +}$ .

# Corollary 1.10

With the notations in Theorem 1.7 and Definition 1.4 assuming that  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  are smooth and continuous up to the boundary, i.e.  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$ , we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - \hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,4N} = O(k^{-N+n+r-\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,4N} \times D),$$
  
$$B_{k\varphi,\rho} - \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j = O(k^{-(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,N})$$

for any  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and any  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$ .

Note that we do not assume that  $D_{\varphi,+} = D$ , that is  $\varphi$  does not need to be positive definite (or positive semi-definite) everywhere on D. In a geometric sense this means that the fiber metric induced by  $\varphi$  is only partially positive. In general the set  $D_{\varphi,N}$ is small or even empty depending strongly on N. On the other hand we have that given any  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and any point in  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$  there exists an open neighborhood Uof  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in U_{\varphi,N}$  holds. Therefore, our results should be considered as local expansion results. However, using some deep result of Hörmander [22] and Demailly [14] we can apply our local computations to a more general setting. We are going to describe the results obtained for such a setting in the next section. Let us finish this section with the following example.

# Example 1.11

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain. Let  $U \subset D$  be some open set  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U, \mathbb{R})$  a smooth non-negative function supported in U. Consider the weight  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap$  $C^0(\overline{D}), \ \varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j |z_j|^2 + \psi(z), \ \lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n > 0$ . As in Example 1.2 we find  $V := D \setminus U \subset D_{\varphi,+}$ . Given  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), \ \rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$ , any  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and any  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$  we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - \hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,4N} = O(k^{-N+n+r-\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(V \times D),$$
  
$$B_{k\varphi,\rho} - \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_{j,0} = O(k^{-(N+1)+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(V)$$
(1.3)

with

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho,2N}(z,w) = \frac{k^n}{\pi^n \rho(z)} e^{-\frac{k}{2} \left( \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j (|w_j - z_j|^2 - z_j \overline{w_j} + \overline{z_j} w_j) \right)} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N-j} \frac{b_{j,\alpha}(z)}{\alpha!} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}.$$

An explicit formula for  $b_{j,\alpha}$  is obtained in Theorem 3.17 and Lemma 3.23. We will state this formula here for the case n = 1 and  $\lambda_1 = 1$ . We find

$$b_{j,\alpha} = \sum_{d=1}^{2j+|\alpha|} \sum_{\substack{\tau \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ |\tau|=2j+|\alpha|}} \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^{d-1} \\ \beta_1, \dots, \beta_{d-1} \le 2j+2|\alpha|}} \frac{(-1)^d}{\beta! \rho^d} \nu_{\alpha,\beta_1}^{(\tau_1)} \nu_{\beta_1,\beta_2}^{(\tau_2)} \cdot \dots \cdot \nu_{\beta_{d-1},0}^{(\tau_d)}$$

where

$$\nu_{p,q}^{(r)} = \chi_{p,q}^{(r)} \frac{\partial_z^{\frac{r+q-p}{2}} \overline{\partial_z^{\frac{r+p-q}{2}}} \rho}{(\frac{r+q-p}{2})!(\frac{r+p-q}{2})!}$$

with  $\chi_{p,q}^{(r)}$  as in Definition 1.4. Note that  $b_{j,0} = b_j$  holds which implies that the sum for  $b_{j,0}$  just need to be considered for  $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{d-1} \leq j$ .

# **1.3 Global Expansion**

Let  $(L, h) \to (M, dV_M)$  be a holomorphic Hermitian line bundle over a complex manifold M with volume form  $dV_M$ . Given complex coordinates (U, z) around a point  $p \in M$  and a local holomorphic frame s we can identify  $h \sim e^{-\varphi}$  with  $\varphi =$  $-\log(h(s, s)), dV_M = \tilde{\rho}dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  for some positive function  $\tilde{\rho}$ , and holomorphic sections on U with holomorphic functions in the complex variable z. We say that h is upper semi-continuous or has upper semi-continuous weight if  $-\log(h(s, s))$  is upper semicontinuous for any local holomorphic frame s. Let  $M_{h,+}$  denote the set of points in M which have a neighborhood where h is of class  $C^2$  and has positive curvature. Let  $(E, h_E)$  be another holomorphic line bundle with smooth Hermitian metric. We are interested in studying the Bergman kernel  $P_k = P_{h^k \otimes h_E, dV_M}$  and its Bergman kernel function  $B_k = B_{h^k \otimes h_E, dV_M}$  for the space  $H_2^0(M, L^k \otimes E)$  consisting of all holomorphic sections with finite  $L^2$ -norm as mentioned in Section 1.1. We define the following invariants for our setting.

# Definition 1.12

Assume that h is of class  $C^{6j+3n+4}$  and  $dV_M$  is of class  $C^{4j+2n+2}$ . Define

$$b_j = b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M} \colon M_{h,+} \to \mathbb{R}, \ b_j^{h,dV_M,h_E}(p) = b_j^{\varphi,\rho}(z(p))$$

where  $b_j^{\varphi,\rho}$  is given by the formula in Definition 1.4 with respect to a choice of local trivializations s of L and e of E and local coordinates (U, z) with  $\varphi = -\log(h(s, s))$ ,  $\rho = h_E(e, e)\tilde{\rho}, dV_M = \tilde{\rho}dV_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

# Lemma 1.13

The function  $b_j = b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M}$  is well defined, that is  $b_j$  is independent of the choice of coordinates and trivializations. Furthermore, we have that  $b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M} \in C^l(M_{h,+},\mathbb{R})$  if h is of class  $C^{6j+3n+4+l}$  and  $dV_M$  is of class  $C^{4j+2n+2+l}$ .

Definition 1.12 together with Lemma 1.13 give us globally defined quantities which decode information of h,  $h_E$  and  $dV_M$  and are explicitly given in local coordinates. Note that it follows from the definition that  $b_j$  does not depend on any choice of a Hermitian metric on M. Since the  $b_j$ s are our candidates for the coefficients in the expansion of the Bergman kernel function that observation becomes obvious because the definition of  $B_k$  only depends on the choice of volume form and line bundle metric.

One of the most important cases where the Bergman kernel and its Bergman kernel function has an asymptotic expansion is when  $L \to M$  is a positive holomorphic line bundle over a compact Hermitian manifold M. The Hermitian metric on M induces a volume form  $dV_M$ . As mentioned in Section 1.1 a theorem of Catlin [10] and Zelditch [38] (see also [30]) implies that  $B_k$  has an asymptotic expansion, that is

$$B_k \sim a_0 k^n + a_1 k^{n-1} + a_2 k^{n-2} + \dots$$
(1.4)

A very difficult task is to calculate the coefficients  $a_j$  in terms of local geometric data. It is well-known that the Bergman kernel localizes in that setting (see [30, Section 4.1.2]). Hence we have  $a_j = b_j$ . In other words we established an explicit formula (in local coordinates, see Definition 1.4 and 1.12) for the coefficients  $a_j$ . But this formula does not give a direct link between the coefficients and geometric objects. As mentioned before the coefficients  $a_j$  should not depend on the choice of the Hermitian metric on M but on its volume form. However, under the assumption that L is positive the curvature induces a unique Kähler metric  $\omega$  on M. So it is natural to express the  $a_j = b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M}$  in terms of the geometry with respect to that specific Kähler metric. Since the construction of  $b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M}$  given in Definition 1.12 holds for any choice of local coordinates, we can choose Kähler normal coordinates (see [6]) and some "good" local frame of E and find that the derivatives of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$ in Definition 1.4 are directly linked to the curvature tensor and the Ricci tensor of  $\omega$ , the curvature of  $h_E$  and their covariant derivatives (see also [37] and Section 1.4).

We will now introduce the setting where we want to prove an asymptotic expansion. In order to get a full asymptotic expansion one has to assume the metric h and the volume form to be smooth, i.e. to be of class  $C^{\infty}$ , at least at points one wants to prove the expansion. Let  $L_0$  and  $E_0$  be two holomorphic line bundles over a complete Kähler manifold X with metric  $\omega$  and let  $M \subset X$  be a domain. Fix a smooth Hermitian metric  $h_E$  on  $E_0$  and consider the holomorphic line bundles  $L = L_0|_M$  and  $E = E_0|_M$  over M. Let h be a Hermitian metric on L with upper semi-continuous weight. We will use the notation  $c_1(L, h)$  to denote the curvature of the Hermitian line bundle (L, h) at points where the metric h is of class  $C^2$ . Locally we can write  $c_1(L, h) = -\frac{i}{2}\partial\overline{\partial}\log(h(s, s))$  for any local holomorphic frame s of L.

#### Definition 1.14

We define the set  $M_{h,\infty} \subset M$  by saying  $p \in M_{h,\infty}$  if and only if p has an open neighborhood U where h is smooth with positive curvature and there exists a smooth semi-positive metric  $h_0$  on  $L_0 \to X$  and  $k_0$  with  $h \leq h_0$  on M and  $h = h_0$  on U and  $kc_1(L_0, h_0) + c_1(E, h_E) \geq 0$  for all  $k \geq k_0$ .

We will study the Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function for the line bundle  $L_k = L^k \otimes E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)} M$  where the metric  $h_\omega$  on  $\Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)} M$  is induced by the metric  $\omega$  and the volume form is given by  $dV_M = \rho \frac{\omega^n}{n!}$ , where  $\rho \in C^0(M, \mathbb{R})$  is positive and bounded. In local coordinates (U, z) we will use the holomorphic frame  $dz := dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n$  for  $\Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)} M$  and find  $dV_M = \rho \tilde{\rho} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ ,  $h_\omega(dz, dz) = 1/\tilde{\rho}$ . Hence we find that  $b_j$  is independent of  $\omega$ , so we set  $b_j^{h,h_E,\rho} := b_j^{h,h_E \otimes h_\omega,dV_M}$  in this setting. Putting  $h_k := h^k \otimes h_E \otimes h_\omega$  to denote the metric of  $L_k$  we write  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$ for the Bergman kernel and  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  for the Bergman kernel function of the space  $H_2^0(M, L_k)$ . We have the following results.

# Theorem 1.15 (On-Diagonal Expansion)

Let  $L_0$  and  $E_0$  be two holomorphic line bundles over a complete Kähler manifold  $(X, \omega)$  and let  $h_E$  be a smooth Hermitian metric on  $E_0$ . Let  $(M, dV_M)$  be a domain inside X with volume form  $dV_M := \rho \omega^n$  for some bounded, positive function  $\rho \in C^0(M, \mathbb{R})$  and consider the holomorphic line bundles  $L = L_0|_M$  and  $E = E_0|_M$  over M. For any upper semi-continuous metric h on L and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  consider the holomorphic line bundle

$$(L_k, h_k) = (L^k \otimes E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)} M, h^k \otimes h_E \otimes h_\omega)$$

and let  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  denote the Bergman kernel function for the space  $H_2^0(M,L_k)$ .

Given any  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$  assuming  $\rho \in C^{4m+2n+2}(M_{h,\infty})$  with  $m = Nr + N + r^2 + r + 2$ , we have

$$B_{h_k,dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L,h)^n}{n!dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N b_j^{h,h_E,\rho} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1+n}) \text{ in } C^r(M_{h,\infty}).$$

More precisely, given any compact set  $K \subset M_{h,\infty}$  and any partial differential operator F of order  $\leq r$  there exists a constant  $C = C_{K,F}$  such that

$$\left| F\left( B_{h_k, dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L, h)^n}{n! dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N b_j^{h, h_E, \rho} k^{-j} \right) (p) \right| \le Ck^{-N-1+n}$$

holds for all  $p \in K$  and all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Here C is bounded when  $\rho$  stays in a bounded in  $C^{4m+2n+2}(M_{h,\infty},\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(M)$  such that  $\inf_{p \in M} \rho(p)$  has a uniform positive lower bound and  $\sup_{p \in M} \rho(p)$  has a uniform upper bound.

Given local coordinates (U, z) around a point  $p \in M$  and local holomorphic frames s and e of L and E, we denote by  $(U \times U, (z, w))$  the induced coordinates around  $(p, p) \in M \times M$  and choose  $\hat{s}_k(z, w) := e^{\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(z) + \varphi(w))} s^k(z) e(z) dz (s^k(w) e(w) dw)^*$  as a trivialization of  $L_k \boxtimes L_k^*|_{U \times U}$  with  $\varphi = -\log(h(s, s))$ .

Theorem 1.16 (Near-Diagonal Expansion)

Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.15 given  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$  and any point  $p \in M_{h,\infty}$  such that  $\rho$  is smooth in an open neighborhood around p, there exist coordinates (U, z) around p and local holomorphic frames s and e of L and E such that

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} - \hat{P}_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},4N}(z,w)\hat{s}^k(z,w) = O(k^{-N+n+r-\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(U \times U)$$

where  $\hat{P}_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},4N}$ :  $U \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  is defined in Definition 1.9 and  $\tilde{\rho} = \rho h_E(e,e)$ .

# Corollary 1.17

For any point  $p \in M_{h,\infty}$  there exist coordinates (U, z) around p and constants  $C, \delta > 0$  such that  $|P_{h_k, dV_M}| \leq k^n C e^{-\delta k|z-w|^2} + R(k)$  with  $R(k) = O(k^{-\infty})$  in  $C^r(U \times U)$ .

Theorem 1.18 (Off-Diagonal Asymptotics)

Let  $D \subset M_{h,\infty}$  be an open subset such that  $\rho$  is smooth on D. One has

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} = O(k^{-\infty})$$
 in  $C^r(D \times (M \setminus \overline{D})).$ 

We will now use these results to generalize the setting in Example 1.11.

# Example 1.19

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be any domain. Let  $U \subset D$  be some open set,  $\psi$  an upper semicontinuous non-negative function supported in U. Consider the weight  $\varphi$  defined by  $\varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j |z_j|^2 + \psi(z), \lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n > 0$ . As in Example 1.11 we find V := $D \setminus U \subset M_{e^{-\varphi},\infty}$ . Given a bounded function  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(V) \cap C^0(D), \rho > 0$  on D, we have that (1.3) is still valid.

# Example 1.20

Let (L, h) be a holomorphic line bundle with smooth positive Hermitian metric over a compact complex manifold X and let  $M \subset X$  be a domain with volume form  $dV_M := c_1(L,h)^n|_M$ . We denote the restriction of the Hermitian line bundle to M again by (L, h) and consider the Bergman kernel  $P_k$  and the Bergman kernel function  $B_k$  for the space  $H_2^0(M, L^k)$ . Note that in general the space  $H_2^0(M, L^k)$  contains more sections than  $H_2^0(X, L^k)$  and can be infinite dimensional while  $H_2^0(X, L^k)$  is always finite dimensional since X is compact. We find  $M_{h,\infty} = M$  and hence deduce from Theorem 1.15 and Theorem 1.16 that  $P_k$  and  $B_k$  admit asymptotic expansions on M. Furthermore, given an open set  $U \subset M$  and a perturbation of h in  $M \setminus U$  of the form  $he^{-\psi}$  for some non-negative upper semi-continuous function  $\psi$  supported in  $M \setminus U$ , we find that  $P_k$  and  $B_k$  for the perturbed metric still have the same expansion on U.

# **1.4 Relation to Previous Results**

The subject of Bergman kernel expansion has a long history started by Tian [36] in 1990. We start by giving an overview about the most famous results in this context and the results which are directly linked to this thesis. For a complete reference on Bergman kernel expansion we refer to the book of Ma–Marinescu [30]. In the following let  $(M, \omega)$  denote a complex Hermitian manifold, L a Hermitian line bundle and E a Hermitian vector bundle over X. Let  $H_2^0(M, L^k \otimes E)$  be the space of holomorphic sections in  $L^k \otimes E$  with finite  $L^2$ -norm. We denote by  $P_k$ the Bergman kernel and by  $B_k$ ,  $B_k(x) = P_k(x, x)$ , the Bergman kernel function for  $H_2^0(M, L^k \otimes E)$ . Note that if E has rank > 1 we have that  $B_k$  becomes a section in the endomorphism bundle of E. Bergman kernel expansion contains the following subdisciplines:

- On-diagonal expansion, that is the expansion of the Bergman kernel function.
- Near-diagonal expansion, that is the expansion of the Bergman kernel in a small neighborhood around the diagonal of  $M \times M$ .
- Off-diagonal expansion, that is the behaviour of the Bergman kernel away from the diagonal.
- Computations of the coefficients in the expansions.

In [36] Tian uses a so called peak section method to establish an on-diagonal expansion up to order 2 under the assumption that L is positive,  $\omega$  is the curvature of  $L, E = \mathbb{C}$  is trivial and M is compact. He also shows that - modulo some technical assumptions - this method works when  $(M, \omega)$  is a complete Kähler manifold. Catlin [9] and Zelditch [38] study the case when L is positive and M is compact, and prove a full asymptotic expansion for the Bergman kernel function using a deep result on Szegö kernel expansion on pseudoconvex boundaries due to Sjöstrand and Boutet de Monvel [7]. Furthermore, they calculate the coefficient  $a_0$ . Note that the work of Catlin [9] also contains a result on near-diagonal expansion. In [27] Lu generalizes the methods of Tian in order to prove a full asymptotic ondiagonal expansion, calculated the first three coefficients and described an algorithm for computing all coefficients. Lu assumes that M is compact and L is positive.

Under the assumption that M is a bounded pseudoconvex domain in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $L, E \simeq \mathbb{C}$ are trivial, L is semi-positive and  $\omega$  is the curvature of L, Englis proves in [17] a full on-diagonal and near-diagonal expansion on sets where L is positive using results of Fefferman [18] and asymptotic expansion for Laplace integrals. Since the coefficients in the expansion of Laplace integrals are explicitly given he computed the first four coefficients for the on-diagonal expansion in [16].

In [13] Dai–Liu–Ma (cf. Ma–Marinescu [30]) prove an asymptotic expansion for generalized Bergman kernels for spin<sup>c</sup> Dirac operators on symplectic orbifolds using a heat kernel approach. As a consequence they obtain a strong result on Bergman kernel expansion on complex manifolds under the assumption that M is compact and L is positive. Furthermore, Ma–Marinescu [30] give an algorithm for computing the coefficients for the Bergman kernel expansion (see also their work [29] for computations of the coefficients in the near-diagonal expansion). Their result also works - modulo some technical details - when  $(M, \omega)$  is complete and L is positive (see [30]).

In [3] Berman-Brendtsson-Sjöstrand give a proof for Bergman kernel expansion using  $L^2$  estimates and the construction of local reproducing kernels up to an asymptotically small error. The local kernel is obtained using techniques from microlocal analysis. They assume that L is positive and M is compact. In [37] Xu give an explicit formula for the coefficients in the expansion of the Bergman kernel function in terms of graphs and combinatorial functions.

All the results mentioned above use the assumption that the metric is smooth and has positive (or at least semi-positive) curvature. Furthermore,  $(M, \omega)$  is assumed to be compact or complete. General results for smooth metrics with arbitrary curvature are due to Berman [5] and Hsiao–Marinescu [20]. Note that the results of Hsiao– Marinescu also work for (0, q)-forms. In [5] (cf. [4]) Berman considers M to be compact and L to be a big line bundle with a smooth metric of arbitrary curvature. As a consequence of his results it turns out that Bergman kernel expansion holds (in the sense of Ma–Marinescu [30]) exactly on the set of points where the metric coincides with its equilibrium metric (modulo some base locus). Hsiao–Marinescu considered in [20] the Bergman kernel for lower energy forms and prove that this object always admits an asymptotic expansion. It follows that for arbitrary M and arbitrary smooth Hermitian metric on L the Bergman kernel  $P_k$  and Bergman kernel function  $B_k$  has an asymptotic expansion on subsets  $D \subset M$  where the Kodaira laplacian has a small (local) spectral gap. Our approach is related to methods due to Tian, Berman-Berendtsson–Sjöstrand, Berman and Englis and uses an expansion result on oscillatory integrals as proven by Hörmander in [24] (see also Theorem 2.51). Note that in this thesis we restrict ourselves to the case where E has rank one. We will now explain the relation of our results from Section 1.2 and their proofs to other results and methods in detail.

Recall that Theorem 1.3 provides a reproducing kernel for a bounded domain D which reproduces the value of any holomorphic function at any point of  $D_{\varphi,N}$  (see Definition 1.1) up to some error which is an  $O(k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon})$ . Note that we do not assume the weight  $\varphi$  and the volume form  $\rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  to be smooth, that  $\varphi$  does not need to be plurisubharmonic everywhere on D and that the estimates are uniform in  $\varphi, \rho$  up to some technical conditions. Furthermore, we give an explicit formula for the coefficients for the on-diagonal expansion (see Definition 1.4).

In [3] Berman-Brendtsson–Sjöstrand construct a reproducing kernel with error which is an  $O(k^{-N-1+n})$  (see [3, Proposition 2.7]) using techniques from microlocal analysis - which is different from our approach - in the following setting. They consider the domain D to be a ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  around the origin, fixed a smooth weight  $\varphi$  and a smooth volume form  $\rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  and assume the weight  $\varphi$  to be strictly plurisubharmonic on D. From their method they obtained an algorithm for computing the coefficients for the on-diagonal expansion but do not give an explicit formula in general.

Englis proved a result on Bergman kernel expansion in the following setting (see [17, Corollary 1]). He considered a bounded pseudoconvex domain  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  and assumed the fixed data  $\varphi$  and  $\rho := \det(H_{\varphi})$  to be smooth and bounded and  $\varphi$  to be plurisubharmonic. Under some further technical assumption he proved a full expansion of the Bergman kernel on the set of points where  $\varphi$  is strictly plurisubharmonic using an asymptotic expansion for Laplace integrals. Since the coefficients in the expansion of Laplace integrals are well-known (see [16]) he could calculate the first four coefficients. Although his method is different from ours we have that the expansion for Laplace integrals (see [16, Corollary 2]) is similar to Theorem 2.50 under the assumptions that  $\varphi$  is smooth and  $\tilde{\varphi}_N$  can be replaced by the almost analytic extension of  $\varphi$  which actually means to put  $N = \infty$ . Note that in Theorem 2.50 we also have uniformity in  $\varphi$  and its derivatives thanks to the Hörmander's method of stationary phase.

In [26] Liu-Lu develop an abstract version of the peak section method introduced by Tian [36] and generalized by Lu [27]. As a consequence of their result they obtain an on-diagonal expansion for the Bergman kernel for compact manifolds with positive line bundles under the assumption that the metric is fixed, smooth and has positive curvature. This setting seems to be quite different to our local setting considered in Section 1.2. However, we establish a local version of their abstract peak section

# Introduction and Statement of the Results

method to prove Theorem 1.3. Note that they need Hörmander's  $L^2$  estimates which we can avoid here. Since on a compact manifold the space of holomorphic sections is finite dimensional it is much easier to prove that the Bergman kernel function can be approximated by their peak section method. In our case the space of holomorphic functions is always infinite dimensional. That leads to the problem that we do not see immediately that our computations approximate the Bergman kernel function. We overcome this difficulty by introducing the local reproducing kernel with small error (see Theorem 1.3). It turns out that this is actually an improvement of the method of Liu–Lu since we also obtain results for the off-diagonal expansion (see Theorem 1.7). We refer to Section 1.5.1 and Remark 1.21 for more information about the relation between our method and the method of Liu–Lu. Note that the results of Dai–Liu–Ma and Ma–Marinescu also provides uniformity in the geometric data. On a compact manifold this implies that the expansion holds under weaker regularity assumptions on the metric, that is the metric does not need to be of class  $C^{\infty}$ .

In [37] Xu gives a closed formula for the coefficients in the expansion of the Bergman kernel functions. More precisely, he proves that any coefficient is the weighted sum over a set of special graphs which correspond to geometric objects of the manifold, that is the curvature and its covariant derivatives, with weights given by combinatorial functions which are recursively defined. Although our formula for the coefficients (see Definition 1.4) is less aesthetic those combinatorial functions are contained in an explicit way. However, our formula is in local coordinates and hence the connection to geometric quantities is not obvious. Choosing Kähler coordinates (see [6]) will immediately lead to an expression in terms of geometric quantities.

Let us explain now how the results from Section 1.3 and their proofs are related to previous results. In [3] Berman-Brendtsson-Sjöstrand used  $L^2$  estimates of Hörmander [23] (cf. [14]) to extend their local reproducing kernel to the entire manifold. We follow their procedure with some slight modifications to extend our local reproducing kernel (see Theorem 1.3) to the global setting (see Section 1.5.2 for an outline of the idea). As a consequence we obtain the results from Sections 1.3. Note that we assume very weak regularity conditions on the metric and the volume form outside the set we want to prove asymptotic expansion (see Example 1.19). Furthermore, our results for the on-diagonal expansions provides uniformity in the volume form which does not need to be smooth (see Theorem 1.15). In Section 1.3 assuming that the manifold M is compact and the metric and volume form are smooth and fixed, our result follows from the results of Berman in [5]. If the surrounding manifold Xis complete and the metric is the restriction of a smooth positive metric on  $L_0$  to Lour results follow from Hsiao–Marinescu [20].

# 1.5 Sketch of the Proofs

In this section we give a sketch of the proof of the results announced in Section 1.2 and Section 1.3. In Section 1.5.1 we give a description of the proof of Theorem 1.3 in a simple case and explain how Theorem 1.7 and Theorem 1.6 follows from Theorem 1.3 as a simple consequence. Furthermore, we explain how to get the formula (see Definition 1.4) for the coefficients in the expansion of the Bergman kernel function. In Section 1.5.2 we show how the results from Section 1.3 can be deduced from Theorem 1.3 and the  $L^2$  estimates due to Hörmander.

# 1.5.1 Reproducing Kernels with Asymptotically Small Errors

We will start with the proof of Theorem 1.3 and then explain how Theorem 1.7 and Theorem 1.6 follow. We start by sketching the proof while pointing out the main ideas. Note that the fundamental idea of this proof is due to Tian [36] and was generalized by Lu [27] and Liu–Lu [26] (see Remark 1.21).

For making the idea clear we consider the case n = 1, that is D is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  and we assume  $0 \in D$ . Assume that  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$  be two smooth real valued functions which are continuous up to the boundary of D with  $\rho > 0$ . Let  $H^{0}_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  be the space of holomorphic functions with finite  $L^{2}$ -norm  $\|\cdot\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and let  $K_{k\varphi,\rho}$ ,  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  be the reproducing function, the Bergman kernel and Bergman kernel function for that space (see Section 2.4 for the definition and construction of these objects). We then want to show how to get a pointwise asymptotic expansion of  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}(0)$  up to order  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  assuming that  $\varphi$  has the N-th localization property in  $z_{0} = 0$  (see Section 2.5). For any  $0 \leq \alpha \leq N$  consider the function  $v_{\alpha,k}(z) = (z - z_{0})^{\alpha} e^{-k\gamma_{N}(z_{0},z)} = z^{\alpha} e^{-k\gamma_{N}(0,z)}$  and set  $V_{N,k} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{v_{\alpha,k}\}$  (see Section 2.5 for the definition of  $\gamma_{N}$  and  $\tilde{\varphi}_{N}$ ). Our assumptions ensures that  $V_{N,k}$  is an (N+1)-dimensional subspace of  $H^{0}_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . We can split the proof into two steps:

(i) Calculate the Bergman kernel function  $B_{N,k}(0)$  at  $z_0 = 0$  for the space  $V_{N,k}$ and show that  $B_{N,k}(0)$  admits an asymptotic expansion up to order N, that is

$$|B_{N,k}(0) - a_0k + a_1k^0 + a_2k^{-1} + \ldots + a_Nk^{-N+1}| \le C_0k^{-N}$$

for real numbers  $a_0, \ldots, a_N \in \mathbb{R}$  and a constant  $C_0 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

(ii) Show that for any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  we have  $|B_{N,k}(0) - B_{k\varphi,\rho}(0)| \leq Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}$ .

**Step (i):** We have  $B_{N,k}(0) = e^{-k\varphi(0)} \sum_{j=0}^{N} |s_j(0)|^2$  where  $\{s_j\}_{j=0}^{N}$  is any orthonormal basis for  $V_{N,k}$  with respect to the inner product on  $V_{N,k}$  given by the restriction

of the inner product on  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . We observe  $v_{\alpha,k}(0) = 0$  for all  $1 \leq \alpha \leq N$ . If we choose an orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=0}^N$  with  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^N \subset \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{v_{\alpha,k}\}_{\alpha=1}^N$  we have  $B_{N,k}(0) = e^{-k\varphi(0)}|s_0(0)|^2$ . Then the ansatz is to find  $u_k = \sum_{\alpha=0}^N \lambda_{\alpha,k} v_{\alpha,k} \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ such that  $(u_k, v_{\alpha,k})_{k\varphi} = 0$  for all  $1 \leq \alpha \leq N$  and  $(u_k, v_{0,k}) = 1$ . So we are seeking for the solution of the linear equation

$$A_k \lambda_k = (1, 0, 0, \dots, 0)^T$$

where  $A_k = ((v_{\beta,k}, v_{\alpha,k})_{k\varphi})_{0 \le \alpha, \beta \le N}$  and  $\lambda_k = (\lambda_{0,k}, \ldots, \lambda_{N,k})$ . By Cramer's rule we get  $\lambda_{\alpha,k} = (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{\det A_{\alpha,k}}{\det A_k}$  where  $A_{\alpha,k}$  is the  $N \times N$  submatrix of  $A_k$  obtained by eliminating the first row and the  $\alpha^{\text{th}}$  column from  $A_k$ . We write

$$(v_{\alpha,k}, v_{\beta,k})_{k\varphi} = \int_D \chi(z) z^{\alpha} \overline{z}^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(0,z)} dV_D(z) + \int_D (1 - \chi(z)) z^{\alpha} \overline{z}^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(0,z)} dV_D(z)$$

for some cutoff function  $\chi$  supported in D such that  $\chi \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of 0. The N-th localization property ensures that the second term on the right-hand side is an  $O(k^{-\infty})$ . For the first term on the right-hand side we use the method of stationary phase due to Hörmander (see Section 2.6) to show that this term has an asymptotic expansion with an explicit formula for the coefficients. Expanding the determinants we get as a conclusion an asymptotic expansion for  $B_{N,k}(0) = \lambda_{0,k} = \frac{\det A_{0,k}}{\det A_k}$ . In order to get an explicit formula for the coefficients in that expansion we do some rescaling of the entries of  $A_k$ . More precisely, we set  $\tilde{A}_k = S_k^{-1}A_kS_k$  for some diagonal matrix  $S_k$  to get  $\tilde{A}_k = \mathrm{Id} + C_1k^{-1} + \ldots + C_Nk^{-N} + O(k^{-N+1})$  for some matrices  $C_1, \ldots, C_N$ independent of k. Using the ansatz  $\tilde{A}_k^{-1} = \mathrm{Id} + B_1k^{-1} + \ldots + B_Nk^{-N} + O(k^{-N-1})$  we could uniquely determine the k-independent matrices  $B_1, \ldots, B_N$  from  $C_1, \ldots, C_N$ using  $\tilde{A}_k \tilde{A}_k^{-1} = \mathrm{Id}$ . Since we know  $C_1, \ldots, C_N, S_k$  explicitly and  $B_{N,k}(0) = \lambda_{0,k}$  is the first entry of the vector  $S_k \tilde{A}_k^{-1} S_k^{-1} (1, 0, 0, \ldots, 0)^T$  we end up with an explicit formula for the coefficients in the expansion of  $B_{N,k}(0)$ . A detailed proof of that formula is given in Section 3.2.

**Step (ii):** Here we show that  $u_k$  satisfies some reproducing property up to order N, that is

$$|f(0) - (f, u_k)_{k\varphi}|^2 e^{-k\varphi(0)} \le Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} ||f||^2_{k\varphi}, \ f \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$$
(1.5)

for some  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  and some constant C > 0 independent of k. Let  $W_{N,k}$  be the space of all elements in  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  which vanish up to order N in 0. We have the decomposition  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) = V_{N,k} \oplus W_{N,k}$ . By construction (1.5) is true for all  $f \in V_{N,k}$ . Proving an  $L^2$ -norm estimate for the stationary phase formula in Section 2.7 and using the information about  $\lambda_{\alpha,k}$ ,  $0 \le \alpha \le N$  we find that (1.5) holds for the elements in  $W_{N,k}$ . To proof that (1.5) is true for all  $f \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  we need to establish a relation between the orthogonal complement  $V_{N,k}^{\perp}$  of  $V_{N,k}$  in  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  and  $W_{N,k}$ . More precisely, we prove that the restriction of some projection Id  $-T_{N,k}: H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) \to W_{N,k}$ 

19

coming from some modified Taylor expansion in 0 is uniformly bounded in k (see Section 2.8, Theorem 2.66). From (1.5) and the reproducing property of the kernel  $K_{\kappa\varphi,\rho}(0,z)$  (see Definition 2.34) a direct calculation shows

$$|B_{k\varphi,\rho}(0) - B_{N,k}(0)| \le ||K_{k\varphi,\rho}(0, \cdot) - u_k||_{k\varphi}^2 \le Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}.$$

We just showed a pointwise expansion in  $z_0 = 0$  here. However, in this thesis we will show that the estimate is uniform in  $z_0$ ,  $\rho$  and  $\varphi$  staying in some bounded sets which satisfy certain conditions (see Theorem 1.7 and 1.6).

Using similar arguments as above and basic  $L^2$ -norm estimates from Section 2.3 we get the estimates for  $|P_{k\varphi,\rho,N} - P_{k\varphi,\rho}|$  in Theorem 1.7. To get an estimate in the  $C^l$ -norm we use Hörmander's trick (see Lemma 3.11) and an apriori estimate for the Bergman kernel (see Corollary 2.39).

#### Remark 1.21

Our approach is related to the generalization due to Liu–Lu [26] of the methods used in [36] and [27]. In [26] Liu–Lu proved a result on the asymptotic expansion in k of the Bergman kernel function for sections in the k-th tensor power of a positive holomorphic line bundle twisted with some holomorphic vector bundle over a compact manifold. The main difference compared to our setting is that the space of holomorphic sections on a compact manifold is finite dimensional. Hence they worked with matrices  $A_k$  as above of increasing size but which contains all the information of the space of holomorphic sections. This makes it easier to prove that an inverse of a submatrix of sufficiently large but fixed size approximates already the Bergman kernel function. In our setting the space of holomorphic functions has always infinite dimension. In order to prove that our computations approximate the Bergman kernel function we construct a reproducing kernel modulo sum error in (1.5). Using this kernel we are able to deduce a result on the off-diagonal expansion from our method.

# 1.5.2 Approximation of Bergman Kernels on Manifolds

In this section we will outline the idea for the proofs of Theorem 1.15 and Theorem 1.16. For the proof of Lemma 1.13 see Lemma 3.29. The idea is basically to extend the reproducing kernel from Theorem 1.3 as a holomorphic section in the second argument to the entire manifold. Note that the extension of locally reproducing kernels to global settings via  $L^2$  estimates by Hörmander was also used by Berman–Brendtsson–Sjöstrand in [3] and Berman in [5]. In principle we follow the prove of [3, Theorem 3.1]. For making the idea clear we will just proof the expansion at one point and consider the following simplified setting. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a complete Kähler manifold of complex dimension n = 1 and  $M \subset X$  a domain. Let  $(L_0, h_0)$ be a positive holomorphic line bundle over X and let h be a Hermitian metric on  $L = L_0|_M$  such that  $h \leq h_0$  on M and  $h = h_0$  on some open set  $U \subset M$ . Choose  $dV_M = \rho\omega$  to be the volume form for some positive function  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\rho$  is bounded by a constant  $C_0 > 0$ . Set  $L_k = L^k \otimes T^{*(1,0)}X$ . We are interested in the Bergman kernel  $P_k$  and its Bergman kernel function  $B_k$  for the space  $H_2^0(M, L_k)$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  at a point  $p \in U$ . Choose coordinates (D, z) around p with z(p) = 0 and hence identify D with a subset of  $\mathbb{C}$  around 0. Assume that s is a local holomorphic frame of L defined on D, define  $\varphi = -\log(|s|_h^2)$  and set  $s_k = s^k \otimes dz$ . We have that  $s_k$  is a local holomorphic frame of  $L_k$ . By shrinking D we can ensure that 0 has the N-th localization property for  $\varphi$ . Given a holomorphic section  $\tilde{f} \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$  we have  $\tilde{f} = f_k s_k$  on D for some holomorphic function  $f_k \in H_{k\varphi,\rho}^0(D)$ . Setting  $\tilde{u}_k = u_k s_k$  with  $u_k$  as in Section 1.5.1 and using (1.5) we find since  $h_k(\tilde{f}, \tilde{u}_k) dV_M = f_k \overline{u_k} e^{-k\varphi} \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}}$ that

$$\|\tilde{f} - s_k(\tilde{f}, \tilde{u}_k)_{k,D}\|_{h_k} \le Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} \|\tilde{f}\|_{h_k, dV_M}^2, \quad \tilde{f} \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$$

where  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{k,D}$  indicates the inner product obtained by integration over D. We showed that  $\tilde{u}_k$  has locally also a reproducing property up to some error. But we cannot proceed as in Section 1.5.1 to show that  $u_k(0)$  approximates  $B_k(p)$  since  $\tilde{u}_k$ fails to be holomorphic on M. To overcome this difficulty we multiply  $\tilde{u}_k$  with a cutoff function supported and D and equal to one in an open neighborhood V of 0 and consider  $\overline{\partial}(\chi \tilde{u}_k) = (\overline{\partial}\chi)\tilde{u}_k \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(X, L_0^k \otimes T^{*(1,0)}X)$ . Thanks to the  $L^2$  estimates of Hörmander [23] in Demailly [14] we find by our assumptions a smooth section von X with values in  $L_0^k \otimes T^{*(1,0)}X$  such that  $\overline{\partial}v_k = (\overline{\partial}\chi)\tilde{u}_k$  and

$$\int_X |v_k|_{h_0,\omega}^2 dV_X \le \int_M |(\overline{\partial}\chi)|^2 |\tilde{u}_k|_{h_k}^2 dV_X$$

Since  $|\overline{\partial}\chi|^2$  is supported in an annulus around 0, properties of  $u_k$  and  $h \leq h_0$  it follows  $\|v_k\|_{h_k,dV_M}^2 \leq C_0 \int_X |v_k|_{h_0,\omega}^2 dV_X = O(k^{-\infty})$ . Furthermore, we have that  $\chi \tilde{u}_k - v_k$  is holomorphic on M and v is holomorphic on V. We conclude that

$$\|\tilde{f} - s_k(\tilde{f}, \tilde{u}_k)_{h_k, dV_M}\|_{h_k} \le Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} \|\tilde{f}\|_{h_k, dV_M}^2, \quad \tilde{f} \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$$
(1.6)

and can proceed as in Section 1.5.1 to prove that  $|B_k(p) - u_k(0)| \leq Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}$ . An approximation for the Bergman kernel  $P_k$  can also be obtained from (1.6) using similar arguments as in Section 1.5.1.

# Chapter 2 Bergman Kernels in $\mathbb{C}^n$

This chapter contains the fundamental framework for the proofs of the results announced in Section 1.2 and Section 1.3. More precisely, we present a careful study of the space of holomorphic sections with weighted finite  $L^2$ -norm. The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2.1 we state basic definitions from analysis and introduce the notations which are used during this thesis. Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 contain the notion of holomorphic functions, basic properties and basic asymptotic  $L^2$ -norm estimates for them. In Section 2.4 we introduce the Bergman kernel and proof some apriori estimates. Sections 2.5 - 2.8 contain the partial steps for the proof of Theorem 1.3 (see Section 1.5 for more explanations).

# 2.1 Analysis and Basic Notations

# 2.1.1 Analysis in $\mathbb{R}^n$

We use the following notations:  $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, ...\}, \mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}, \mathbb{R} \text{ (resp. } \mathbb{C}) \text{ is the set}$ of real (resp. complex) numbers. Given a complex number  $z = a + ib \in \mathbb{C}$ , where  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  and i denotes the complex unit  $(i^2 = -1)$ , we write  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = a$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(z) = b$ ,  $\overline{z} = a - ib$  and set

$$|z|^2 = z\overline{z} = a^2 + b^2,$$
  $|z| = \sqrt{|z|^2}.$ 

A subset  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is called domain if it is open and connected. For  $U \subset X$  we write  $U \subset X$  if U is relatively compact in X, that is the closure of U is a compact subset of X. Given an open set  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and a non-negative integer  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the set of l-times continuously differentiable complex valued functions is denoted by  $C^l(X)$ and we set  $C^{\infty}(X) = \bigcap_{l \in \mathbb{N}} C^l(X)$ . Furthermore, for l = 0 we denote by  $C^0(\overline{X})$  the continuous functions from  $\overline{X}$  to  $\mathbb{C}$ , where  $\overline{X}$  is the closure of X. The set  $C_0^l(X)$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , indicates the subspace of  $C^l(X)$  which consists of all functions which vanish outside a compact subset of X. Given a function  $f : X \to \mathbb{C}$ , the support of f, denoted by  $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ , is the closure of the set of points where f is non-vanishing. The space  $C^l(X, \mathbb{R})$  consists of all real valued function in  $C^l(X)$  and hence we define  $C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{R}), C_0^l(X, \mathbb{R}), C^0(\overline{X}, \mathbb{R})$  as above. Furthermore, we set  $C^l(X, \mathbb{C}^n) = C^l(X)^n$ ,  $C^l(X, \mathbb{R}^n) = C^l(X, \mathbb{R})^n$ . An element  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  is called a multi-index. We set

$$|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \ldots + \alpha_n, \qquad \alpha! = \alpha_1! \ldots \alpha_n!.$$

Given another multi-index  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  we further set

$$\alpha + \beta = (\alpha_1 + \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + \beta_n),$$
  

$$\alpha \ge \beta \Leftrightarrow \alpha_j \ge \beta_j \text{ for all } 1 \le j \le n,$$
  

$$\alpha - \beta = (\alpha_1 - \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n - \beta_n), \text{ if } \alpha \ge \beta,$$
  

$$\max\{\alpha, \beta\} = (\max\{\alpha_1, \beta_1\}, \dots, \max\{\alpha_n, \beta_n\}),$$
  

$$\binom{\alpha}{\beta} = \binom{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} \cdots \binom{\alpha_n}{\beta_n}.$$

Let  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  the canonical coordinate map of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We will use the notations

$$x^{\alpha} = x_1^{\alpha_1} \dots x_n^{\alpha_n}, \qquad d_x^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\right)^{\alpha_1} \dots \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_n}\right)^{\alpha_n}$$

If there is no reason for confusion  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  will sometimes denote a point or vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The Euclidean norm of x is given by  $|x| = \sqrt{|x_1|^2 + \ldots + |x_n|^2}$  and given r > 0 and  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  the open ball of radius r around  $x_0$  is  $\mathbb{B}_r(x_0) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid |x - x_0| < r\}$ . The differential of a function  $f \in C^1(X)$  is denoted by

$$df = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1} dx_1 + \ldots + \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n} dx_n$$

and we set  $|d_x f| = \sqrt{|\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}|^2 + \ldots + |\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n}|^2}$ . Given a measurable function  $f: X \to \mathbb{C}$ (measurable in the sense of the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ) its integral with respect to the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is denoted by

$$\int_X f dV_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \int_X f(x) dV_{\mathbb{R}^n}(x)$$

whenever it exists and we identify  $dV_{\mathbb{R}^n}$  with the standard volume form on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , that is  $dV_{\mathbb{R}^n} = dx_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dx_n$ . Given a map  $F: X \to Y \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $F \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R}^m)$ , we denote its Jacobi matrix at a point  $x \in X$  by  $D_x F = (\frac{\partial F_j(x)}{\partial x_l})_{1 \leq j,l \leq n}$  and write DFto describe the map  $DF \in C^0(X, \mathbb{R}^{n \cdot m}), x \mapsto D_x F$ .

For any subset  $U \subset X$  and  $f \in C^{l}(X)$  we define  $||f||_{C^{l}(U)} \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \cup \{\infty\}$  by

$$||f||_{C^{l}(U)} = \sum_{|\alpha| \le l} \sup_{x \in U} |d_{x}^{\alpha}(f)(x)|.$$

Note that if  $U \subset X$  is compact or relatively compact we have that  $||f||_{C^l(U)}$  is finite and  $f \mapsto ||f||_{C^l(U)}$  defines a seminorm on  $C^l(X)$ . We define a topology on  $C^l(X)$  in the following way:

#### Definition 2.1

A subset  $A \subset C^{l}(X)$  is closed if and only if for every sequence  $\{f_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset A$  and  $f \in C^{l}(X)$  which satisfy

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|f - f_k\|_{C^l(K)} = 0$$

for any compact subset  $K \subset X$  one has  $f \in A$ .

This gives rise for a topology on  $C^{\infty}(X) = \bigcap_{l \in \mathbb{N}} C^{l}(X)$  by saying a subset  $A \subset C^{\infty}(X)$  is closed if A is a closed set in  $C^{l}$ -topology for any  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . A subset  $S \subset C^{l}(X)$  is said to be bounded in  $C^{l}(X)$  if for any compact set  $K \subset X$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $||f||_{C^{l}(K)} \leq C$  holds for all  $f \in S$ . Moreover, assuming that  $D \subset C X$  is an open relatively compact subset of X we say that  $S \subset C^{l}(D) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$  is bounded if S is bounded as a subset of  $C^{l}(D)$  and there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $||f||_{C^{0}(\overline{D})} \leq C$  holds for all  $f \in S$ . The topology on  $C^{l}(X)$  induces a topology on  $C^{l}(X, \mathbb{R})$  and a subset of  $C^{l}(X, \mathbb{R})$  or  $C^{l}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$  is bounded if it is bounded as a subset of  $C^{l}(X)$  or  $C^{l}(D) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$ , respectively. A subset of  $C^{l}(X, \mathbb{R}^{n})$  or  $C^{l}(X, \mathbb{C}^{n})$  is bounded the image of its projection to any component is a bounded set in  $C^{l}(X)$ .

Now we are going to introduce the Landau symbols.

### Definition 2.2

Given a set A, a function  $g: A \to \mathbb{R}$ , a family of functions  $\{f_a\}_{a \in A} \subset C^l(X)$  and an open set  $D \subset X$  we say  $f_a = O(g(a))$  in  $C^l(D)$  if for any compact subset  $K \subset D$ there exists a constant  $C_K > 0$  such that  $||f_a||_{C^l(K)} \leq C_K g(a)$  holds for any  $a \in A$ . We say  $f_a = O(g(a))$  in  $C^{\infty}(D)$  if  $f_a = O(g(a))$  in  $C^l(D)$  holds for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . Given a function  $h: X \to \mathbb{R}$  we write  $f_a(x) = O(h(x))$  on D, uniformly in  $a \in A$  if for any compact subset  $K \subset D$  there exists a constant  $C_K > 0$  such that  $|f_a(x)| \leq C_K h(x)$  holds for all  $x \in K$  and  $a \in A$ .

Usually we use the Landau symbols for the setting  $A = [1, \infty) \times B$  and  $g(k, b) = k^s$  where B is a parameter set and  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  is a real number. We say  $f_k = O(k^s)$  in  $C^l(D)$  uniformly in  $b \in B$  instead of  $f_k = f_{k,b} = O(k^s)$  in  $C^l(D)$  if the parameter dependence is not explicitly written in the index. Given  $B = B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$  we also write "uniformly in  $b_1 \in B_1, \ldots, b_d \in B_d$ " instead of "uniformly in  $b \in B$ " where  $b = (b_1, \ldots, b_d)$ . We further write  $f_k = O(k^{-\infty})$  if  $f_k = O(k^s)$  holds for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### **Definition 2.3**

Let A be a set,  $\{f_{k,a}\}_{(k,a)\in[1,\infty)\times A} \subset C^l(X)$  a family of functions and  $D \subset X$ . We say that  $f_{k,a}$  has an asymptotic expansion of order  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  in  $C^l(D)$  topology uniformly in  $a \in A$  if there exist  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and functions (called coefficients)  $f_a^{(0)}, \ldots, f_a^{(N)} \in C^l(D)$  such that  $f_a^{(0)} \neq 0$  for all  $a \in A$  and  $\{f_a^{(j)}\}_{a \in A}$  is a bounded subset of  $C^l(D)$  for  $1 \leq j \leq N$  with

$$k^{-s} f_{k,a} - \sum_{j=0}^{N} f_a^{(j)} k^{-j} = O(g(k))$$
 in  $C^l(D)$ 

(uniformly in  $a \in A$ ) for some function  $g: [1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $\limsup_{k \to \infty} k^{-N}g(k) \leq 0$ . The function  $f_a^{(0)}$  is called leading coefficient.

# Remark 2.4

A simple induction shows that the coefficients in an asymptotic expansion are unique.

#### Lemma 2.5

Assume that  $f_{a,k} \in C^l(D)$ ,  $(k,a) \in [1,\infty) \times A$  has an asymptotic expansion of order N in  $C^l(D)$ -topology uniformly in  $a \in A$  such that  $|f_{a,k}|$  and the modulus of the leading coefficient is locally bounded and locally positively bounded from below, that is for any compact set there exists a constant C > 0 with  $1/C \leq |f_{a,k}(x)|, |f_a^{(0)}(x)| \leq C$  for all  $k \in [1,\infty)$ ,  $a \in A$  and  $x \in K$ . Then  $1/f_{a,k}$  has an asymptotic expansion of order N in  $C^l(D)$ -topology uniformly in  $a \in A$ . Furthermore, the coefficients in the expansion of  $1/f_{a,k}$  at a point  $x \in D$  only depend on the coefficients in the expansion of  $f_{a,k}$  in that point x.

Proof. The assumptions on the leading coefficient  $f_a^{(0)}$  in the expansion of  $f_{a,k}$  imply that  $f_{a,k}/f_a^{(0)} \in C^l(D)$  has an asymptotic expansion of order N in  $C^l(D)$ -topology uniformly in  $a \in A$ . Hence it is enough to prove the statement for  $f_a^{(0)} = 1$ . We define  $\{g_a^{(j)}\}_{j=0}^N \subset C^l(D)$  as follows:  $g_a^{(0)} = 1$  and recursively  $-g_a^{(j)} = \sum_{m=1}^j g_a^{(j-m)} f_a^{(m)}$ , where  $f_a^{(j)}$ ,  $0 \leq j \leq N$  are the coefficients in the expansion of  $f_{k,a}$ . It follows from induction that  $\{g_a^{(j)}\}_{a\in A}$  is a bounded subset of  $C^l(D)$  for  $1 \leq j \leq N$  and the construction ensures  $R_{1,a,k} := 1 - (\sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} g_a^{(j)})(\sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} f_a^{(j)}) = O(k^{-N-1})$ . Since  $f_{k,a}$  has an asymptotic expansion we have

$$R_{2,a,k} := f_{k,a} - \sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j} f_a^{(j)} = O(h_1(k)) \text{ in } C^l(D)$$

for some function  $h_1: [1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $\limsup_{k\to\infty} k^{-N}h_1(k) = 0$ , which immediately implies  $f_{k,a} = O(1)$  in  $C^l(D)$ . We calculate

$$f_{a,k} \sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j} g_a^{(j)} - 1 = R_{1,a,k} + R_{2,a,k} \sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j} g_a^{(j)} = O(h(k)) \text{ in } C^l(D)$$

with  $h_2(k) := \max\{h_1(k), k^{-N-1}\}$ . Since  $|f_{a,k}|$  is locally bounded and locally positively bounded from below, we find  $\frac{1}{f_{k,a}} = O(1)$  in  $C^l(D)$ . Hence we find

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j} g_a^{(j)} - \frac{1}{f_{k,a}} = O(h_2(k)) \text{ in } C^l(D)$$

with  $\limsup_{k\to\infty} k^{-N}h(k) \leq 0$ . From the construction of  $g_a^{(j)}$  the second part of the statement follows immediately.

We end this section by stating a modified version of the well-known theorem about local diffeomorphisms.

#### Theorem 2.6

Let  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be open,  $x_0 \in X$  a point,  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  a non-negative integer and  $S \subset C^{l+2}(X,\mathbb{R}^n)$  a bounded set. Assume that there exists a constant  $C_0 > 0$  such that  $|D_{x_0}(F)v| \geq C_0|v|$  holds for all  $F \in S$  and  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then there exists an open neighborhood  $U \subset X$  around  $x_0$  such that for any  $F \in S$  we have that  $F|_U: U \to F(U)$  is a  $C^{l+2}$ -diffeomorphism. Furthermore, there exist constants  $C, \varepsilon > 0$  with  $||F^{-1}|_U||_{C^{l+2}(F(U))} \leq C$  and  $B_{\varepsilon}(F(x_0)) \subset F(U)$  for all  $F \in S$ .

*Proof.* If S has only one element the statement is in fact the well-known theorem about the existence of local diffeomorphisms around the point  $x_0$ . To prove the modified version we will repeat the first part of the prove of the standard version given in [8, Theorem 2.1] to show that we can choose a fixed U where the restrictions of all F are invertible at the same time. The remaining claims follow then from the standard version, the chain rule and Taylor expansion.

Put  $X_{x_0} = \{x - x_0 \mid x \in X\}$ . Given  $F \in S$  we find that  $\tilde{F} \colon X_{x_0} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\tilde{F}(x) =$  $D_{x_0}(F)^{-1}F(x) - F(x_0)$  satisfies  $\tilde{F}(0) = 0$  and  $D_0(\tilde{F}) = \text{Id.}$  Setting  $\tilde{S} = \{\tilde{F} \mid F \in S\}$ we find that  $\tilde{S}$  is bounded in the  $C^{l+2}$ -norm. The assumption  $|D_{x_0}(F)v| \geq C_0|v|$ and the construction of  $\tilde{F}$  ensures that proof of the original statement follows from proving the statement for  $\tilde{S}$ . Hence without loss of generality we can assume  $x_0 = 0$ and F(0) = 0,  $D_0(F) = Id$  for all  $F \in S$ . Since S is bounded in C<sup>2</sup>-norm and  $D_0(F) = \text{Id there exists for any open set } X' \subset X \text{ a constant } C_1 > 0 \text{ such that}$  $\|\operatorname{Id} - D_x F\| \leq C_1 |x|$  holds for all  $F \in S$  and  $x \in X'$ , so we can choose r > 0 such that  $\|\operatorname{Id} - D_x F\| \leq \frac{1}{2}$  holds for all  $F \in S$  and  $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}}(0) \subset X$ . For any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and any  $F \in S$  consider the map  $g_{y,F} \colon \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)} \to \mathbb{R}^n, g_{y,F}(x) = y + x - F(x)$ . Given  $x, x_1, x_2 \in \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}}(0)$  and  $y \in \mathbb{B}_r(0)$  we find  $|g_{y,F}(x_1) - g_{y,F}(x_1)| \leq \frac{1}{2}|x_1 - x_2|$  and  $|g_{y,F}(x)| \leq |g_{y,F}(x) - g_{y,F}(0)| + |y| \leq 2r$ . We conclude that  $g_{y,F}$  is a contraction which maps  $\overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)}$  into itself. Applying the Banach fixed-point theorem shows that the equation  $g_{y,F}(x) = x$  has a unique solution  $x_{y,F}$  for any  $y \in B_r(0)$  and  $F \in S$ . For  $F \in S$  set  $V_F = F^{-1}(\mathbb{B}_r(0)) \cap \mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)$ . We find that the restriction of F,  $F|_{V_F}: \to \mathbb{B}_r(0)$  has an inverse given by  $G_F:=F|_{V_F}^{-1}(y)=x_{y,F}$ . Since F is a  $C^1$  map and by assumption we have that  $D_x F$  is invertible for all  $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)}$  we deduce that  $\tilde{F} := F|_V : \rightarrow B_r(0)$  is a  $C^1$ -diffeomorphism with

$$D(\tilde{F}^{-1}) = (D\tilde{F})^{-1} \circ \tilde{F}^{-1}.$$
(2.1)

Using  $|D_x(F)v| \ge \frac{1}{2}|v|$  for all  $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)}$ ,  $F \in S$  and  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we find that  $|\det(DF)|$ has a uniform positive lower bound. We conclude that  $\{(DF)^{-1} \mid F \in S\} \subset C^{l+1}(\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0))$  is bounded and deduce from (2.1) using induction that  $\tilde{S} = \{G_F \mid F \in S\} \subset C^{l+2}(\mathbb{B}_r(0))$  is bounded. It remains to show that 0 is an interior point of  $\bigcap_{F \in S} F^{-1}(B_r(0))$ . By the assumptions on r we find that  $|F(x) - F(0)| \le \frac{3}{2}|x|$  holds for all  $x \in \overline{\mathbb{B}_{2r}(0)}$  and  $F \in S$ . Hence, we have that  $F(U) \subset B_r(0)$  for all  $F \in S$  with  $U = B_{r/2}(0)$ . Since  $\tilde{S}$  satisfies the same properties as S we have  $|G_F(y) - 0| \le C_2|y|$ for some constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of  $F \in S$  and  $y \in \mathbb{B}_r(0)$ . Choosing  $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small leads to  $G_F(y) \in U$  for all  $F \in S$  and  $y \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(0)$ . The complete claim follows from  $F|_U^{-1} = G_F|_{F(U)}$ .

# 2.1.2 Analysis in $\mathbb{C}^n$

Identify  $(\mathbb{C}^n, z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n))$  with  $(\mathbb{R}^{2n}, x = (x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}))$  via  $z_j = x_j + ix_{j+n}$  for  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and set  $\overline{z}_j = \overline{z_j} = x_j - ix_{j+n}, j = 1, \ldots, n$ . From this identification we get that an open set  $X \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  can be treated as an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  and therefore integration of measurable functions over X, the space  $C^l(X)$  with its topology, the notion of Landau symbols for families in this space and its subspaces (like  $C_0^l(X)$ ,  $C^l(X, \mathbb{R})$ , etc.) are defined as in Section 2.1.1. We set

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j+n}} \right), \qquad dz_j = dx_j + i dx_{j+n}$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j+n}} \right), \qquad d\overline{z}_j = dx_j - i dx_{j+n}.$$

Given a function  $f \in C^1(X)$  we have

$$df = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j} dx_j = \partial f + \overline{\partial} f$$

where  $\partial$  and  $\overline{\partial}$  are defined by

$$\partial f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_j} dz_j$$
 and  $\overline{\partial} f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{z}_j} d\overline{z}_j.$ 

Furthermore, we will use the notations

$$z^{\alpha} = z_1^{\alpha_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot z_n^{\alpha_n}, \qquad \partial_z^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1}\right)^{\alpha_1} \cdot \ldots \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}\right)^{\alpha_n}$$
$$\overline{z}^{\alpha} = \overline{z}_1^{\alpha_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \overline{z}_n^{\alpha_n}, \qquad \overline{\partial}_z^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_1}\right)^{\alpha_1} \cdot \ldots \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_n}\right)^{\alpha_n}$$

where  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$  is a multi-index and set  $|z| = \sqrt{|z_1|^2 + \ldots + |z_n|^2}$ . Usually, the variables z or w will denote complex coordinates, points or vectors in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  where

their real counterparts with respect to the identification of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  are denoted by x or y, respectively. Therefore we also write  $d_z^{\alpha} := d_x^{\alpha}$  or  $d_w^{\alpha} := d_y^{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$ and  $|d_z f| := |d_x f|$  or  $|d_w f| := |d_y f|$  for  $f \in C^1(X)$ . Furthermore, the volume form on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , which is identified with the volume form on  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ , is denoted by  $dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  and we have  $dV_{\mathbb{C}^n} = \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^n dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n \wedge d\overline{z}_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge d\overline{z}_n = dx_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dx_{2n} = dV_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}$ .

#### Example 2.7

Let  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) : (0, 1) \to \mathbb{C}^n$  be a  $C^1$  map and  $f \in C^1(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . We have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}f \circ \gamma(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{j}}(\gamma(t)) \frac{\partial \operatorname{Re} \gamma_{j}}{\partial t}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{j+n}}(\gamma(t)) \frac{\partial \operatorname{Im} \gamma_{j}}{\partial t}(t)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_{j}}(\gamma(t)) \frac{\partial \gamma_{j}}{\partial t}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{z}_{j}}(\gamma(t)) \overline{\frac{\partial \gamma_{j}}{\partial t}(t)}.$$

Given a point  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  and a real number r > 0 the open disc of radius r around a is denoted by  $\mathbb{D}_r(a) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z-a| < r\}$  and we write  $\mathbb{D}_r^n(z) = \mathbb{D}_r(z_1) \times \ldots \times \mathbb{D}_r(z_n)$ to denote the polydisc of radius r around  $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . An open ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  of radius r > 0 around  $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$  is denoted by  $\mathbb{B}_r(z)$  with  $\mathbb{B}_r(z) = \{w \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid |w-z| < r\}$ . We further set  $\mathbb{D}_r^n = \mathbb{D}_r^n(0)$  and  $\mathbb{B}_r = \mathbb{B}_r(0)$ .

Let us start with the following theorem about Taylor expansion which is just a reformulation of Taylor's formula well-known in the real case.

Theorem 2.8 (Taylor's Formula)

Given a function  $f \in C^{l+1}(X)$  we have

$$f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha+\beta| \le l} \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} \left( \partial_z^{\alpha} \overline{\partial}_z^{\beta} f(z) \right) (w-z)^{\alpha} \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} + O(|w-z|^{l+1}).$$

More precisely, for any compact set  $K \subset X \times X$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left| f(w) - \sum_{|\alpha+\beta| \le l} \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} \left( \partial_z^{\alpha} \overline{\partial}_z^{\beta} f(z) \right) (w-z)^{\alpha} \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} \right| \le C|w-z|^{l+1}$$

where C is bounded when f stays in a bounded set in  $C^{l+1}(X)$ .

*Proof.* First, we prove the statement on an open ball  $B \subset X$  which is relatively compact in X. Given  $z, w \in B$  define  $\tilde{f} : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\tilde{f}(t) = f(t(w-z)+z)$ . By using induction and Example 2.7 we find

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^m \tilde{f}(t) = \sum_{|\alpha|+|\beta|=m} \frac{m!}{\alpha!\beta!} (\partial_z^\alpha \overline{\partial}_z^\beta f)(t(w-z)+z)(w-z)^\alpha \overline{(w-z)}^\beta$$

for any  $0 \le m \le l + 1$ . Taylor's Formula in one real variable together with an estimate for its remainder (see [8, Theorem 3.4]) implies

$$\left|\tilde{f}(1) - \sum_{m=0}^{l} \frac{1}{m!} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^{m} \tilde{f}(0)\right| \leq \frac{1}{(l+1)!} \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \left| \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^{l+1} \tilde{f}(t) \right|.$$

As a conclusion we find a constant C > 0 such that

$$A := \left| f(w) - \sum_{|\alpha+\beta| \le l} \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} \left( \partial_z^{\alpha} \overline{\partial}_z^{\beta} f(z) \right) (w-z)^{\alpha} \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} \right| \le C \|f\|_{C^{l+1}(B)} |w-z|^{l+1}$$

holds for all  $z, w \in B$  and  $f \in C^{l+1}(X)$ .

Now let  $K \subset X$  be a compact set and consider a smaller open ball  $B' \subset \subset B$ contained in B. There exists an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for all  $z \in B'$  and  $w \in K \setminus B$ we have  $|w - z| \ge \varepsilon$ . Furthermore, we find a constant C' > 0 such that  $A \le C' ||f||_{C^{l+1}(B)}$  holds for all  $z \in B'$ ,  $w \in K$  and  $f \in C^{l+1}(X)$  and hence we find  $A \le \max\{\varepsilon^{-n}C', C\} ||f||_{C^{l+1}(B)} ||w - z|^{l+1}$ . As a conclusion, we get that the claim of Theorem 2.8 holds on  $B' \times K \subset X \times X$ . We finish the proof, using the fact that any compact subset of  $X \times X$  is contained in a compact set  $K_1 \times K_2$ , where  $K_1, K_2 \subset X$ are compact.

# Lemma 2.9

Given  $f, g \in C^{l}(X)$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}, |\alpha| \leq l$ , we have

$$d_{z}^{\alpha}(f \cdot g) = \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} \binom{\alpha}{\beta} d_{z}^{\alpha-\beta} f d_{z}^{\beta} g, \ \partial_{z}^{\alpha} \overline{\partial}_{z}^{\beta}(f \cdot g) = \sum_{\alpha' \leq \alpha} \sum_{\beta' \leq \beta} \binom{\alpha}{\alpha'} \binom{\beta}{\beta'} \partial_{z}^{\alpha-\alpha'} \overline{\partial}_{z}^{\beta-\beta'} f \partial_{z}^{\alpha'} \overline{\partial}_{z}^{\beta'} g.$$

# Lemma 2.10

Let  $f \in C^{l}(X \times X)$  be a function and define  $\tilde{f} \in C^{l}(X)$  by  $\tilde{f}(z) = f(z, z)$ . For any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}, |\alpha| \leq l$ , we have

$$d_z^{\alpha} \tilde{f}(z) = \sum_{\beta \le \alpha} {\alpha \choose \beta} d_z^{\alpha - \beta} d_w^{\beta} f(z, w) \mid_{z=w}.$$

Lemma 2.9 and Lemma 2.10 follow from a straightforward induction.

# 2.1.3 Real and Complex Hessians

Given a function  $f \in C^2(X)$  we consider its (real) Hessian  $\operatorname{Hess}_f(z)$  at a point  $z \in X$ , which is a  $2n \times 2n$ -matrix defined by  $\operatorname{Hess}_f(z) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_j \partial x_l}(z)\right)_{1 \leq j,l \leq 2n}$ . Its complex analogue is defined as follows.

#### Definition 2.11

The complex Hessian of a function  $f \in C^2(X)$  at the point  $z \in X$  is defined by

$$H_f(z) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z_l \partial \overline{z}_j}(z)\right)_{1 \le l, j \le n}$$

The following lemma gives a relation between the real and the complex Hessian.

# Lemma 2.12

Given  $f \in C^2(X)$  and  $z \in X$  one has

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & -i\operatorname{Id}_n \\ \operatorname{Id}_n & i\operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{Hess}_f(z) \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & \operatorname{Id}_n \\ i\operatorname{Id}_n & -i\operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} = 4 \begin{pmatrix} H_f(z) & G_f(z) \\ \overline{G_{\overline{f}}(z)} & \overline{H_{\overline{f}}(z)} \end{pmatrix}$$

where we set  $G_f(z) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z_j \partial z_l}(z)\right)_{1 \le j,l \le n}$ .

*Proof.* A direct calculation shows that the entry  $a_{lj}$ ,  $1 \le l, j \le 2n$  of the matrix on the left-hand side is given by

$$a_{lj} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_j} + i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_{j+n}} - i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_j} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_{j+n}}\right) f(z) &, \text{ if } l, j \le n, \\ \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l-n} \partial x_{j-n}} - i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l-n} \partial x_j} + i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_{j-n}} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_j}\right) f(z) &, \text{ if } l, j \ge n, \\ \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_{j-n}} - i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_j} - i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_{j-n}} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l+n} \partial x_j}\right) f(z) &, \text{ if } l \le n, j \ge n, \\ \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l-n} \partial x_j} + i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{l-n} \partial x_{j+n}} + i\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_j} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_{j+n}}\right) f(z) &, \text{ if } l \le n, j \ge n, \end{cases}$$

The claim follows from  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j+n}} = 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j+n}} = 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j}$  for  $1 \le j \le n$ .  $\Box$ 

# Corollary 2.13

Let  $z_0 \in X$  be a point. Assume that  $f \in C^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  satisfies  $\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z_0) = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = 2$ . One has  $\det\left(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Hess}_f(z_0)\right) = |\det H_f(z)|^2$ .

*Proof.* Using the same notations as in Lemma 2.12, the assumptions on f imply  $G_{\overline{f}}(z) = G_f(z) = 0$ . Furthermore, one has

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & -i \operatorname{Id}_n \\ \operatorname{Id}_n & i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & \operatorname{Id}_n \\ i \operatorname{Id}_n & -i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} = 2 \operatorname{Id}_{2n}.$$

Then the claim follows from Lemma 2.12 and basic properties of the determinant.  $\hfill \Box$ 

In real analysis the real Hessian matrix plays in important role with respect to the notion of convexity or convex functions. The analogue in complex analysis is called pseudoconvexity and is related to so called plurisubharmonic functions.

#### Definition 2.14

A function  $f \in C^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  is called strictly plurisubharmonic (spsh) in  $z_0 \in X$  if  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  is positive definite. We say f is spsh on  $D \subset X$  if it is spsh in any point  $z_0 \in D$ . We denote by  $D_{f,+}$  (or sometimes  $D_+$ ) the largest subset of X where f is spsh.

# Example 2.15

Let  $z_0 \in X$  be a point and  $f \in C^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  a real valued function. If  $\operatorname{Hess}_f(z_0)$  is positive definite (i.e. f is convex in a neighborhood of  $z_0$ ) then f is spsh in  $z_0$ . Assuming that  $\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z_0) = 0$  holds for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = 2$  we find that  $\operatorname{Hess}_f(z_0)$  is positive definite if and only if f is spsh in  $z_0$ .

In order to describe coefficients which appear in the expansion of some integrals (see Section 2.6) we are interested in second order differential operators of the form

$$\langle Ad_x, d_x \rangle := \sum_{1 \le l, j \le 2n} a_{lj} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_l \partial x_l} \quad \text{and} \quad \langle B\partial_z, \overline{\partial}_z \rangle := \sum_{1 \le l, j \le n} b_{jl} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_l \partial \overline{z}_j}$$

where  $A = (a_{lj})_{1 \le l,j \le 2n}$  and  $B = (b_{lj})_{1 \le l,j \le n}$  are matrices with complex entries of size  $2n \times 2n$  and  $n \times n$ , respectively. We need the following relation between these objects.

#### Lemma 2.16

Let  $z_0 \in X$  be a point. Assume that  $f \in C^2(X, \mathbb{R})$  is strictly plurisubharmonic in  $z_0$ and satisfies  $\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z_0) = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = 2$ . One has

$$\langle (\operatorname{Hess}_f(z_0))^{-1} d_x, d_x \rangle = 2 \langle H_f^{-1}(z_0) \partial_z, \overline{\partial}_z \rangle.$$

*Proof.* Using Example 2.15 we find that the inverse of  $\text{Hess}_f(z_0)$  exists. From Lemma 2.12, the proof of Corollary 2.13 and the assumptions on f we have

$$\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & \operatorname{Id}_n \\ i \operatorname{Id}_n & -i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H_f^{-1}(z) & 0 \\ 0 & \overline{H_f^{-1}(z)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & -i \operatorname{Id}_n \\ \operatorname{Id}_n & i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} = \operatorname{Hess}_f^{-1}(z). \quad (2.2)$$

We write  $\operatorname{Hess}_{f}^{-1}(z) = (a_{lj})_{1 \leq l,j \leq 2n}$  and  $H_{f}^{-1}(z) = (b_{lj})_{1 \leq l,j \leq n}$ . Given  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  we deduce the following identity from (2.2):

$$4\sum_{1\leq l,j\leq 2n}a_{lj}x_{l}x_{j} = \sum_{1\leq l,j\leq n}b_{lj}(x_{l}+ix_{n+l})(x_{j}-ix_{n+j}) + \sum_{1\leq l,j\leq n}\overline{b_{lj}}(x_{l}-ix_{n+l})(x_{j}+ix_{n+j}).$$

Since  $\overline{b_{lj}} = b_{jl}$ ,  $\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j+n}} \right)$  for  $1 \le l, j \le n$  and by replacing  $x_j$  with  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$  we find

$$\sum_{\leq l,j \leq 2n} a_{lj} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} = 2 \sum_{1 \leq l,j \leq n} b_{jl} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_l} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j}$$

and the claim follows.

# 2.2 Basic Properties of Holomorphic Functions

# Definition 2.17

A function  $f \in C^1(X)$  is called holomorphic if  $\overline{\partial} f = 0$ , that is

1

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} f = 0$$
, for  $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ .

30
The set of all holomorphic functions on X is denoted by  $\mathcal{O}(X)$ .

A map  $F = (F_1, \ldots, F_m) \colon X \to \mathbb{C}^m$  is holomorphic if each of its components is a holomorphic function. The property of being holomorphic is preserved under holomorphic maps.

#### Lemma 2.18

Let  $Y \subset \mathbb{C}^m$  be an open set,  $F = (F_1, \ldots, F_m) \colon X \to Y$  a holomorphic map and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(Y)$  a holomorphic function. We have  $f \circ F \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ .

*Proof.* Since f is holomorphic we find by Example 2.7 that  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} f \circ F = \sum_{l=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial w_l} \frac{\partial F_l}{\partial x_j}$ holds for all  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n$ . Thus, we conclude  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_j} f \circ F = \sum_{l=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial w_l} \frac{\partial F_l}{\partial \overline{z}_j} = 0$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ .

A map  $F =: X \to Y$  between two open sets  $X, Y \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  is called biholomorphic if it is bijective with holomorphic inverse.

#### Lemma 2.19

Let  $X, Y \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be two open sets and  $F = (F_1, \ldots, F_n): X \to Y$  a  $C^1$ -diffeomorphism which is holomorphic. We have that  $F^{-1}: Y \to X$  is holomorphic, that is F is biholomorphic.

*Proof.* Let D(F) be the real Jacobi matrix of F seen as a map between two open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  using the identification  $\mathbb{C}^n \simeq \mathbb{R}^n$  as before, that is D(F) is the Jacobi matrix of the map  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_n) \mapsto (\operatorname{Re} F_1(z), \ldots, \operatorname{Re} F_n(z), \operatorname{Im} F_1(z), \ldots, \operatorname{Im} F_n(z))$ with  $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n), z_j = x_j + iy_j, 1 \leq j \leq n$ . We find

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & i \operatorname{Id}_n \\ \operatorname{Id}_n & -i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} D(F) \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_n & \operatorname{Id}_n \\ -i \operatorname{Id}_n & i \operatorname{Id}_n \end{pmatrix} = 2 \begin{pmatrix} G(F) & \overline{G(\overline{F})} \\ G(\overline{F}) & \overline{G(F)} \end{pmatrix}, \ G(F) = \left(\frac{\partial F_l}{\partial z_j}\right)_{1 \le l, j \le n}.$$

Since F is holomorphic we find  $G(\overline{F}) = \overline{G(\overline{F})} = 0$ . Furthermore, D(F) is invertible at any point  $z \in X$ . This implies that G(F) is an invertible complex  $n \times n$ -matrix at any point  $z \in X$ . Doing the same procedure for the inverse map  $F^{-1}$  and using  $D(F)D(F^{-1}) = \mathrm{Id}_{2n}$  we end up with

$$\mathrm{Id}_{2n} = \begin{pmatrix} G(F) & 0\\ 0 & \overline{G(F)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} G(F^{-1}) & \overline{G(\overline{F^{-1}})}\\ G(\overline{F^{-1}}) & \overline{G(F^{-1})} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} G(F)G(F^{-1}) & G(F)\overline{G(\overline{F^{-1}})}\\ \overline{G(F)}G(\overline{F^{-1}}) & \overline{G(F)}\overline{G(F^{-1})} \end{pmatrix}$$

Since G(F) is invertible at any point  $z \in X$  we conclude  $\overline{G(F^{-1})} = G(\overline{F^{-1}}) = 0$ which shows that  $F^{-1}$  is holomorphic.

The boundary of a disc  $\mathbb{D}_r(a) \subset \mathbb{C}$  is given by  $\partial \mathbb{D}_r(a) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z - a| = r\}$ . Given a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}_r^n(z) = \mathbb{D}_r(z_1) \times \ldots \times \mathbb{D}_r(z_n)$  of radius r > 0 around  $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$  its distinct boundary  $\partial_0 \mathbb{D}_r^n(z)$  is defined by  $\partial_0 \mathbb{D}_r^n(z) = \partial \mathbb{D}_r(z_1) \times \ldots \times \partial \mathbb{D}_r(z_n)$ . We start with a fundamental theorem of Cauchy for holomorphic functions in one complex variable.

## **Theorem 2.20** (Cauchy's Integral Theorem)

Let X be an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  a holomorphic function. Given an open set  $D \subset \subset X$  with piecewise  $C^1$ -boundary  $\partial D$  one has

$$2\pi i f(z) = \int_{\partial D} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta$$

for any  $z \in D$ .

*Proof.* Choose  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that  $\mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z) \subset D$  holds for all  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ . We have that  $D \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z)$  has a piecewise  $C^1$ -boundary. We then apply Stokes' formula (see [14, (1.18)]) and find

$$\int_{\partial D} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta - \int_{\partial \mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z)} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta = \int_{D \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z)} d\left(\frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z}\right) d\zeta$$
$$= \int_{D \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\zeta}} \left(\frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z}\right) d\overline{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = 0$$

since  $\zeta \mapsto (\zeta - z)^{-1} f(\zeta)$  is holomorphic on  $D \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\epsilon}(z)$  and  $d\zeta \wedge d\zeta = 0$ . Thus, we can write

$$\left|2\pi i f(z) - \int_{\partial D} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta\right| = \left|\int_{\partial \mathbb{D}_{\varepsilon}(z)} \frac{f(\zeta) - f(z)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta\right| \le 2\pi \sup_{\zeta \in \mathbb{D}_{\varepsilon}(z)} |f(\zeta) - f(z)|$$

for all  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ . The statement then follows from the continuity of f.

From Theorem 2.20 all the basic properties for holomorphic functions in several complex variables follow.

**Corollary 2.21** (Cauchy's Integral Theorem in Several Complex Variables) Let  $\mathbb{D}_r^n(z) \subset X$  be a polydisc. Given a holomorphic function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  one has

$$(2\pi i)^n f(z) = \int_{\partial_0 \mathbb{D}_r^n(w)} \frac{f(\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_n)}{(\zeta_1 - z_1) \cdot \dots \cdot (\zeta_n - z_n)} d\zeta_1 \dots d\zeta_n$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}_r^n(z)$ .

*Proof.* See [33, Theorem 1.3].

# Corollary 2.22

We have  $\mathcal{O}(X) \subset C^{\infty}(X)$  and therefore  $\partial_z^{\alpha}(\mathcal{O}(X)) \subset \mathcal{O}(X)$  with

$$\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z) = \frac{\alpha!}{(2\pi i)^n} \int_{\partial_0 \mathbb{D}_r^n(w)} \frac{f(\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_n)}{(\zeta_1 - z_1)^{\alpha_1 + 1} \cdots (\zeta_n - z_n)^{\alpha_n + 1}} d\zeta_1 \dots d\zeta_n$$

for any polydisc,  $\mathbb{D}_r^n(w) \subset \subset X$ , and any  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ .

*Proof.* Using the fact that f is continuous we can differentiate under the integral sign in Corollary 2.21 to prove the statement.

**Corollary 2.23** (Taylor Expansion) Fix  $w \in X$ . Given  $\mathbb{D}_r^n(w) \subset X$  and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  we have

$$f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} \frac{(\partial_z^{\alpha} f)(w)}{\alpha!} (z - w)^{\alpha} \text{ for all } z \in \mathbb{D}_r^n(w)$$

where the power series on the right-hand side converges absolutely for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}_r^n(w)$ .

*Proof.* See [33, Theorem 1.18].

#### Corollary 2.24

We have that  $\mathcal{O}(X)$  is closed in the  $C^0$ -topology. More precisely, given a sequence  $\{f_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathcal{O}(X)$  of holomorphic functions which converges locally uniformly to some function  $g: X \to \mathbb{C}$ , we have  $g \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  and the sequence converges in  $C^{\infty}$ -topology.

*Proof.* See [33, Theorem 1.9].

#### Corollary 2.25 (Identity Theorem)

Let  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  be a holomorphic function and let  $z \in X$  be a point such that  $(\partial_z^{\alpha} f)(z) = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ . If X is connected one has f = 0.

*Proof.* See [33, Theorem 1.19].

# Corollary 2.26 (Maximum Principle)

Let  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  be a holomorphic function such that  $|f|^2$  has a local maximum in X. If X is connected one has that f is constant.

*Proof.* See [33, Corollary 1.22].

From the definition of holomorphic function it follows immediately that f is holomorphic in each variable  $z_j$  when the other variables are kept fix. The converse is also true.

#### **Theorem 2.27** (Hartogs 1906)

Let  $X_1 \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $X_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^m$  be two open sets and  $f : X_1 \times X_2 \to \mathbb{C}$  a function satisfying  $f(\cdot, w) \in \mathcal{O}(X_1)$  for all  $w \in X_2$  and  $f(z, \cdot) \in \mathcal{O}(X_2)$  for all  $z \in X_1$ . Then one has  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X_1 \times X_2)$ .

*Proof.* See [23, Theorem 2.2.8].

# 2.3 L<sup>2</sup>-Norm Estimates for Holomorphic Functions

# Lemma 2.28

Let  $K \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a compact set,  $X \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  an open neighborhood of K,  $\varphi : X \to \mathbb{R}$  an upper semi-continuous function and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  a multi-index. There exist a constant C > 0 such that

$$|\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z)|^2 \le C \int_X |f(w)|^2 e^{-\varphi(w)} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

holds for all  $z \in K$  and all  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $z_0 \in K$  be a point,  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}(z_0) \subset X$ . Given a holomorphic function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  and  $r = (r_1, \ldots, r_n), 0 < r_j < \delta, j = 1, \ldots, n$ , we find

$$(2\pi i)^n \partial_z^\alpha f(z) = \alpha! \int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{f(z+re^{i\theta})}{(re^{i\theta})^\alpha} d\theta$$

for any  $z \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z_0)$  where  $re^{i\theta} = (r_1e^{i\theta_1}, \ldots, r_ne^{i\theta_1})$  and  $d\theta = d\theta_1 \ldots d\theta_n$ . Applying the standard estimate for integrals and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality one gets

$$\frac{(2\pi)^n r^\alpha}{\alpha!} |\partial_z^\alpha f(z)| \le \int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi} |f(z+re^{i\theta})| d\theta$$
$$\le (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \sqrt{\int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi} |f(z+re^{i\theta})|^2 d\theta}.$$

Squaring both sides, integrating with respect to  $r_1 dr_1 \dots r_n dr_n$  and using polar coordinates leads to

$$\frac{\pi^n}{\alpha!} e^{-M} |\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z)|^2 \int_0^{\delta^2} r_1^{\alpha_1} dr_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot \int_0^{\delta^2} r_n^{\alpha_n} dr_n \le \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z)} |f(w)|^2 e^{-\varphi(w)} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

where  $M = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}_{2\delta}(z_0)} \varphi(z)$ . Let C > 0 be the constant defined by

$$C = \alpha! e^M \left( \pi^n \int_0^{\delta^2} r_1^{\alpha_1} dr_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot \int_0^{\delta^2} r_n^{\alpha_n} dr_n \right)^{-1}$$

Then  $|\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z)|^2 \leq C \int_X |f(w)|^2 e^{-\varphi(w)} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$  holds for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z_0)$  and all  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ . By compactness, K can be covered by a finite number of polydiscs contained in X and hence the lemma follows.

# Lemma 2.29

Let  $K \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a compact set,  $X \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  an open neighborhood of K,  $\varphi \in C^3(X, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\rho \in C^0(X, \mathbb{R}), \ \rho > 0$  two real valued functions and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  a multi-index. There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\partial_{z}^{\alpha}f(z)\right|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(z)} \leq Ck^{n+2|\alpha|}\int_{X}|f(w)|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(w)}\rho(w)dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w)$$

holds for all  $z \in K$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^3(X, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\rho$  stays in a subset of  $C^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\inf_{z \in X} \rho(z)$ has a positive lower bound. *Proof.* Let  $z_0 \in K$  be a point,  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}(z_0) \subset X$  and  $S_1 \subset C^3(X, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $S_2 \subset C^0(X,\mathbb{R})$  some sets such that  $S_1$  is bounded and  $\inf_{z \in X} \rho(z) \geq C_1$  holds for all  $\rho \in S_2$  where  $C_1 > 0$  is some constant. Given a holomorphic function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ and a point  $z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}(z_0)$  we define  $g_{k,z} \in \mathcal{O}(X)$  by  $g_{k,z}(w) = f(w)e^{-k\gamma(z,w)}$  where

$$\gamma(z,w) = \frac{\varphi(z)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le 2} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \left(\partial_z^{\alpha} \varphi\right)(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}.$$

Using Taylor expansion (see Theorem 2.8) we find

$$|\varphi(w) - \gamma(z, w) - \overline{\gamma(z, w)}| \le M|w - z|^2$$

and hence  $\varphi(w) \leq \gamma(z,w) + \overline{\gamma(z,w)} + M|w-z|^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}(z_0) \times \mathbb{D}^n_{2\delta}(z_0)$ and all  $\varphi \in S_1$  where M > 0 is some constant. Similar to the proof of Lemma 2.28 we find

$$\frac{\pi^n}{\alpha!} |(\partial_w^{\alpha} g_{k,z})(z)|^2 \int_0^{\delta^2} r^{\alpha_1} e^{-kMr_1} dr_1 \cdots \int_0^{\delta^2} r^{\alpha_n} e^{-kMr_n} dr_n \le \int_{\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}(z)} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$
One has  $\int_0^\infty r^l e^{-kMr} dr = l! (Mk)^{-l-1}$  and

One has  $\int_0^\infty r^i e^{-\kappa M r} dr = l! (Mk)^{-1}$ - and

$$\int_{\delta^2}^{\infty} r^l e^{-kMr} dr \le (l+1)! k^{-1} (1+M^{-1-l})(1+\delta^{2l}) e^{-\delta^2 M k}$$

so that we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that

$$\frac{\pi^n}{\alpha!} \int_0^{\delta^2} r^{\alpha_1} e^{-kMr_1} dr_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot \int_0^{\delta^2} r^{\alpha_n} e^{-kMr_n} dr_n \ge C_2^{-1} k^{-|\alpha| - r}$$

holds for all  $k \in (1, \infty)$ . Furthermore, we have that  $\rho \geq C_1$  on  $\mathbb{D}^n_{2\delta}(z_0)$  holds for all  $\rho \in S_2$  and hence

$$|(\partial_{w}^{\alpha}g_{k,z})(z)|^{2} \leq C_{2}C_{1}^{-1}k^{n+|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^{n}(z)} |f(w)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(w)}\rho(w)dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w).$$
(2.3)

We prove the original statement by induction with respect to  $|\alpha|$ . Given  $\alpha = 0$ we have  $|(\partial_w^{\alpha}g_{k,z})(z)|^2 = |f(z)|^2 e^{-k\gamma(z,z)} = |f(z)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)}$ . Now assume that the statement holds for all  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\beta| < N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Given  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = N$  we find

$$(\partial_w^{\alpha}g_{k,z})(z) = e^{-k\gamma_z(z)}(\partial_w^{\alpha}f)(z) + \alpha! \sum_{\beta < \alpha} \frac{1}{\beta!(\alpha - \beta)!} (\partial_w^{\beta}f)(z)(\partial_w^{\alpha - \beta}e^{-k\gamma_z})(z).$$

Using the induction hypothesis, (2.3) and  $|(\partial_w^\beta e^{-k\gamma_z})(z)| \leq C_3 k^{|\beta|} e^{-k\varphi(z)/2}$  for some constant  $C_3 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1,\infty), z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}(z_0), \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  we conclude

$$|(\partial_w^{\alpha} f)(z)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le Ck^{2|\alpha|+n} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z)} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

for all  $k \in [1,\infty)$  and  $z \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z_0)$  where C > 0 is a constant independent of  $k \in$  $[1,\infty), z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}(z_0), \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . We have that K can be covered by a finite number of polydiscs contained in X and hence the conclusion of the lemma follows. 

# Lemma 2.30

Let  $\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^n \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a polydisc of radius  $3\delta$  around 0 for some  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\varphi \in C^3(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^n, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\rho \in C^0(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^n, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\rho > 0$  two real valued functions. For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|f(z)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le Ck^{|\alpha|+n+\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^n} |w^{\alpha}f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)}\rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

holds for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta})$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^3(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^0(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\inf_{z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}} \rho(z)$  has a positive lower bound.

*Proof.* Let  $S_1 \subset C^3(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $S_2 \subset C^0(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}, \mathbb{R})$  be bounded subsets such that  $\inf_{z \in \mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}} \rho(z) \geq C_0$  holds for all  $\rho \in S_2$  where  $C_0 > 0$  is some constant. We will prove the claim via induction with respect to n. Consider the case n = 1 and set

$$A_k(f) := \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}} |w^{\alpha} f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w),$$

where  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then for any  $\tau \leq \delta$  one finds

$$\begin{aligned} A_k(f) &\geq \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta} \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\tau}} |w^{\alpha} f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w) \\ &\geq \tau^{2|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta} \setminus \mathbb{D}_{\tau}} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w) \\ &= \tau^{2|\alpha|} \left( \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w) - \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Applying Lemma 2.29, there exists a constant  $C_1 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}), \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  such that

$$\sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}} |f(a)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(a)} \le C_1 k \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}} |f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w)$$

holds. Using this, the standard estimate for integrals,  $\rho \leq C_2 > 0$  on  $\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}$  for all  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $\mathbb{D}_{\tau} \subset \mathbb{D}_{\delta}$  we get

$$A_{k}(f) \geq \tau^{2|\alpha|} \left( \sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}} |f(a)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(a)} C_{1}^{-1} k^{-1} - \sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}} |f(a)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(a)} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}} 1\rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w) \right)$$
  
$$\geq k^{-1} \tau^{2|\alpha|} \sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}} |f(a)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(a)} \left( C_{1}^{-1} - C_{2}k \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}} 1 dV_{\mathbb{C}} \right)$$
  
$$= k^{-1} \tau^{2|\alpha|} \sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}} |f(a)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(a)} \left( C_{1}^{-1} - C_{2}k\pi\tau^{2} \right)$$
(2.4)

and the calculation above is true for any  $\tau \leq \delta$ . Then set  $\tau = \delta k^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2|\alpha|}}$  for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . One has

$$A_k(f) \ge \delta^{2|\alpha|} k^{-(|\alpha|+1)-\varepsilon} \sup_{a \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}} |f(a)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(a)} \left( C_1^{-1} - C_2 \delta^2 k^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{|\alpha|}} \pi \right)$$

For k large enough one can achieve that  $\delta^{2|\alpha|}(C_1^{-1} - C_2\delta^2 k^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{|\alpha|}}\pi) \geq C_3$  for some constant  $C_3 > 0$ . As a conclusion one finds C > 0 and  $k_0 \in (1, \infty)$  such that

$$\sup_{a\in\mathbb{D}_{\delta}}|f(a)|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(a)}\leq Ck^{|\alpha|+1+\varepsilon}\int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}}|w^{\alpha}f(w)|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(w)}\rho(w)dV_{\mathbb{C}}(w)$$
(2.5)

holds for all  $k \in (k_0, \infty)$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta})$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . For  $k \leq k_0$  we can choose  $\tau$  in (2.4) sufficiently small and conclude that C > 0 can be chosen large enough such that (2.5) holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

Now assume the statement holds for n-1. Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  be a multi-index and write  $\alpha = (\alpha', \alpha_n)$  where  $\alpha' \in \mathbb{N}_0^{n-1}$ . Given  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^n)$  one has  $(w' \mapsto f(w', a)) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^{n-1})$  for any  $a \in \mathbb{D}_{2\delta}$ . Furthermore, the sets  $\{\varphi(\cdot, a) \mid a \in \mathbb{D}_{2\delta}, \varphi \in S_1\}$  and  $\{\rho(\cdot, a) \mid a \in \mathbb{D}_{2\delta}, \rho \in S_2\}$  are bounded subsets of  $C^3(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^{n-1}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $C^0(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^{n-1}, \mathbb{R})$ , respectively. Using the induction hypothesis one finds a constant C' > 0 such that

$$|f(z',a)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z',a)} \le C' k^{|\alpha'|+n-1+\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n-1}} |w'^{\alpha'} f(w',a)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w',a)} \rho(w',a) dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n-1}}(w')$$

for all  $z' \in \mathbb{D}^{n-1}_{\delta}$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta})$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $a \in \mathbb{D}_{2\delta}$ . Because both sides are continuous and bounded in a, we can integrate them with respect to  $|a|^{2\alpha_n} dV_{\mathbb{C}}$  on  $\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}$  and get

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}} |a|^{2\alpha_n} |f(z',a)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z',a)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} \le C' k^{|\alpha'|+n-1+\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^n} |w^{\alpha}f(w)|^2 e^{-k\varphi(w)} \rho(w) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w).$$

Since  $\{\varphi(z', \cdot) \mid z' \in \mathbb{D}^{n-1}_{\delta}, \varphi \in S_1\}$  is a bounded set in  $C^3(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $(a \mapsto f(z', a)) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}_{3\delta})$  for any  $z' \in \mathbb{D}^{n-1}_{\delta}$ , we can apply the case n = 1, that is (2.5), on the left-hand side. Thus, for any  $\varepsilon' > 0$  there exists a constant C'' > 0 such that

$$\sup_{a\in\mathbb{D}_{\delta}}|f(z',a)|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(z',a)}\leq C''k^{|\alpha|+n+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}\int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}}|w^{\alpha}f(w)|^{2}e^{-k\varphi(w)}\rho(w)dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w)$$

holds for all  $z' \in \mathbb{D}^{n-1}_{\delta}$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta})$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ .

# Remark 2.31

In Lemma 2.30, choosing  $\delta$  sufficiently small depending on  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$ , we observe by some slight modification in the proof that the constant C can be replaced by  $\delta^{2|\alpha|}C'$  where C' > 0 is a constant which is independent of  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ .

# 2.4 Reproducing Kernels and Bergman Kernel Functions

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain and  $\rho \in C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  a continuous function such that  $\rho > 0$ on D holds. We choose the volume form on D to be  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . Given a weight,

i.e. an upper semi-continuous function  $\varphi: D \to \mathbb{R}$  which is bounded from below, we consider the space

$$H^{0}_{\varphi}(D) = H^{0}_{\varphi,\rho}(D) = \{ f \in \mathcal{O}(D) \mid \int_{D} |f(w)|^{2} e^{-\varphi(w)} dV_{D}(w) < \infty \}$$

together with an  $L^2$ - inner product defined by

$$(f,g)_{\varphi,\rho} = \int_D f(w)\overline{g(w)}e^{-\varphi(w)}dV_D(w)$$

and set  $||f||_{\varphi,\rho} = \sqrt{(f,f)_{\varphi,\rho}}.$ 

# Lemma 2.32

The pair  $(H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D), (\cdot, \cdot)_{\varphi,\rho})$  is a separable complex Hilbert space.

Proof. We have that  $L^2(D, \varphi) = \overline{C_0^{\infty}(D)}^{\|\cdot\|_{\varphi,\rho}}$  together with  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\varphi,\rho}$  is a separable complex Hilbert space. Thus, it lasts out to show that  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D) = \mathcal{O}(D) \cap L^2(D,\varphi)$ is closed. Let  $\{f_l\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}} \subset H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  be a Cauchy sequence with respect to the  $L^2$ -norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\varphi,\rho}$ . We find that  $\varphi - \ln(\rho)$  defines an upper semi-continuous function on Dwhich is bounded from below. Then, using Lemma 2.28 with respect to the weight  $\varphi - \ln(\rho)$ , we find that for any compact subset  $K \subset D$  there exists a constant C > 0such that  $\sup_{z \in K} |f_l(z) - f_m(z)| \leq C ||f_l - f_m||_{\varphi,\rho}$  holds for all  $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$ . We conclude that  $\{f_l\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges locally uniformly to some function  $g \in C^0(D) \cap L^2(D,\varphi)$ which implies  $g \in \mathcal{O}(D)$  by Corollary 2.24.

#### Lemma 2.33

Given  $z \in D$  there exists an unique function  $g_z \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  such that  $(f, g_z)_{\varphi,\rho} = f(z)$ holds for all  $f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$ .

Proof. Let  $z \in D$  be a point. We apply Lemma 2.28 with respect to the weight  $\varphi - \ln(\rho)$  to find that the map  $f \mapsto f(z)$  defines a  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear continuous map on  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . Since  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  is a complex Hilbert space we can apply the representation theorem of Riezs and find a unique function  $g_z \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  such that  $(f, g_z)_{\varphi,\rho} = f(z)$  holds for all  $f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$ .

Lemma 2.33 gives rise for the following definition.

## Definition 2.34

We denote by  $K_{\varphi} = K_{\varphi,\rho} : D \times D \to \mathbb{C}$  the function which satisfies  $K_{\varphi}(z, \cdot) \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  and  $(f, K_{\varphi,\rho}(z, \cdot)) = f(z)$  for any  $f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  and  $z \in D$ . Furthermore, set  $P_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\varphi(z)+\varphi(w))}\overline{K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w)}$  and  $B_{\varphi,\rho}(z) = P_{\varphi,\rho}(z,z)$ . The function  $P_{\varphi} = P_{\varphi,\rho} : D \times D \to \mathbb{C}$  is called reproducing kernel for the space  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  or just Bergman kernel. The function  $B_{\varphi} = B_{\varphi,\rho} : D \to \mathbb{R}$  is called Bergman kernel function. The following two lemmata describe basic properties for the Bergman kernel or the Bergman kernel function.

#### Lemma 2.35

One has  $K_{\varphi,\rho} \in C^{\infty}(D \times D)$ . Furthermore, given any orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j\geq 1}$  of  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  one has  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \sum_{j\geq 1} \overline{s_j(z)} s_j(w)$  where the sum on the right hand side converges with respect to the topology on  $C^{\infty}(D \times D)$ .

Proof (cf. [11, Theorem 6.3.2] for the case  $\varphi \equiv 0$  and  $\rho \equiv 1$ ). Let  $\{s_j\}_{j\geq 1}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  which always exists since  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  is separable. By definition one has  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot) = \sum_{j\geq 1} \overline{s_j(z)} s_j(\cdot)$  where the sum on the right-hand side converges with respect to  $\|\cdot\|_{\varphi,\rho}$ . Using the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.32 we find that  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \sum_{j\geq 1} \overline{s_j(z)} s_j(w)$  where the sum on the right-hand side converges pointwise. From this fact we observe that  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \overline{K_{\varphi,\rho}(w,z)}$  holds. Set  $\tilde{D} = \{\overline{z} \mid z \in D\}$ . Since  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z, \cdot)$  is a holomorphic function on D we conclude that  $(z,w) \mapsto K_{\varphi,\rho}(\overline{z},w)$  defines a function on  $\tilde{D} \times D$  which is holomorphic in the variable z and w separately and hence, using Theorem 2.27, it defines a holomorphic function on  $\tilde{D} \times D$ .

We still have to prove the second part of the statement. Considering  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,z)$  for  $z \in D$  we find that  $z \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |s_j(z)|^2$  defines a smooth function on D. Applying a theorem of Dini we get that the sum converges locally uniformly. Since  $|\overline{s_j(\overline{z})}s_j(w)| \leq |s_j(\overline{z})|^2 + |s_j(w)|^2$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  we have that on any compact subset  $K \subset \tilde{D} \times D$ ,

$$0 = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{(z,w) \in K} \sum_{j=N}^{\infty} |s_j(\overline{z})|^2 + |s_j(w)|^2$$
  
$$\geq \lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{(z,w) \in K} |\sum_{j=N}^{\infty} \overline{s_j(\overline{z})} s_j(w)|$$

holds. Thus,  $((z, w) \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{N} \overline{s_j(\overline{z})} s_j(z))_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a sequence of holomorphic functions which converges locally uniformly. By Corollary 2.24 all its derivatives converges locally uniformly too which proves the second part of the statement.  $\Box$ 

## Lemma 2.36

For any  $z \in D$  one has

$$B_{\varphi,\rho}(z) = \sup_{f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{|f(z)|^2 e^{-\varphi(z)}}{\|f\|^2_{\varphi,\rho}}.$$

Proof. Given  $z \in D$  one has  $e^{-\varphi(z)} \| K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot) \|_{\varphi,\rho}^2 = B_{\varphi,\rho}(z)$ . Let  $f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  be arbitrary. Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to  $(f, K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot))_{\varphi,\rho} = f(z)$  we deduce  $e^{-\varphi(z)}|f(z)|^2 \leq B_{\varphi,\rho}(z)||f||^2_{\varphi,\rho}$  and get

$$B_{\varphi,\rho}(z) \ge \sup_{f \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D) \setminus 0} \frac{|f(z)|^2 e^{-\varphi(z)}}{\|f\|^2_{\varphi,\rho}}.$$

On the other hand one has  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot) \in H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$  and  $K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,z) = ||K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot)||^2_{\varphi,\rho}$ which leads to

$$B_{\varphi,\rho}(z) = \frac{|K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,z)|^2 e^{-\varphi(z)}}{\|K_{\varphi,\rho}(z,\cdot)\|_{\varphi,\rho}^2} \le \sup_{f \in H_{\varphi,\rho}^0(D) \setminus 0} \frac{|f(z)|^2 e^{-\varphi(z)}}{\|f\|_{\varphi,\rho}^2}.$$

Replacing the weight  $\varphi$  by the weight  $k\varphi$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ , we would like to study the asymptotic behavior of  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  when k goes to infinity. We should consider some examples for such quantities to get an idea how this behavior could look like.

# Example 2.37

Let  $D = \mathbb{C}^n$  be the complex Euclidean space. Consider the weight  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(D)$ ,  $\varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j |z_j|^2$  where  $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 1, ..., n$  and set  $\rho = 1$ . For any  $k \in [1, \infty)$  one has

$$\dim H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(\mathbb{C}^n) = \begin{cases} \infty & , \text{ if } \lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n > 0 \\ 0 & , \text{ else,} \end{cases}$$

and the Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function for the case  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n > 0$ are given by

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \lambda_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot \lambda_n e^{-\frac{k}{2} \sum_{j=0}^n \lambda_j (|w_j - z_j|^2 + w_j \overline{z}_j - \overline{w}_j z_j)}, \ B_{k\varphi,\rho}(z) = \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \lambda_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot \lambda_n.$$

Consider the weight  $\varphi \in \mathbb{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{C})$ ,  $\varphi(z) = \ln(1+|z|^2)$  and assume that the volume form is given by  $\rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ , where  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ ,  $\rho(z) = (1+|z|^2)^{-2}$ . For any  $k \in [1,\infty)$ one has dim  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(\mathbb{C}^n) = k$  and one has

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \frac{k}{\pi} \left( \frac{1+z\overline{w}}{\sqrt{(1+|z|^2)(1+|w|^2)}} \right)^k , \qquad B_{k\varphi,\rho}(z) = \frac{k}{\pi}.$$

Let  $D = \mathbb{D}_r^n(0)$  be the polydisc in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with radius r > 0 around 0. Set  $\rho = \varphi = 1$ . For any  $k \in [1, \infty)$  one has dim  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(\mathbb{D}_r^n(0)) = \infty$  with

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w) = \frac{1}{\pi^n} \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{r^2}{(r^2 - z_j \overline{w}_j)^2} , \qquad B_{k\varphi,\rho}(z) = \frac{1}{\pi^n} \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{r^2}{(r^2 - |z_j|^2)^2}$$

The precise formulas in Example 2.37 can be verified by a direct computation since the monomials  $\{z^{\alpha} | \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}\}$  are already orthogonal with respect to the inner products.

The next lemma together with its consequences give upper bounds for the kdependent Bergman kernel  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and its kernel function  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and their derivatives when k goes to infinity.

#### Lemma 2.38

Assume  $\varphi \in C^3(D, \mathbb{R})$ . Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$  one has  $e^{-\frac{k}{2}h} d_z^{\alpha} d_w^{\beta} K_{k\varphi,\rho} = O(k^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|})$  on  $D \times D$ , where  $h(z, w) = \varphi(z) + \varphi(w)$ . More precisely, for any compact set  $K \subset D \times D$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(z)+\varphi(w))}|d_z^{\alpha}d_w^{\beta}K_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w)| \le Ck^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|}$$

holds for all  $(z, w) \in K$  and C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^3(D, \mathbb{R})$ and  $\rho$  stays in a subset of  $C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\rho > 0$  holds and  $\inf_{z \in V} \rho(z)$  has a positive lower bound where  $V \subset D$  is some open set satisfying  $K \subset V \times V$ .

Proof. Let  $\alpha', \beta' \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$  be two multi-indices. Lemma 2.35 implies that  $(z, w) \mapsto K_{k\varphi,\rho}(z, w)$  is antiholomorphic in the first argument and holomorphic in the second argument and hence  $d_z^{\alpha'} d_w^{\beta'} K_{k\varphi,\rho} = c \overline{\partial_z^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} K_{k\varphi,\rho}$  for some complex number  $c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0$  and multi-indices  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$  defined by  $\alpha_j = \alpha'_j + \alpha'_{n+j}$  and  $\beta_j = \beta'_j + \beta'_{n+j}, 1 \leq j \leq n$ . Because of  $|\alpha| = |\alpha'|$  and  $|\beta| = |\beta'|$  it just lasts out to estimate  $\overline{\partial_z^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} K_{k\varphi,\rho}$ .

From Lemma 2.28 we get that  $f \mapsto (\partial_w^{\alpha} f)(z)$  defines a  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear continuous map on  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . As in the proofs of Lemma 2.33 and Lemma 2.35 we find that there exists a unique element  $g_{k,z} \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  such that  $(\partial_w^{\alpha} f)(z) = (f, g_{k,z})_{k\varphi,\rho}$  holds for all  $f \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  and that one has the identity  $g_{k,z}(w) = \sum_{j\geq 1} \overline{(\partial_w^{\alpha} s_j^{(k)})(z)} s_j^{(k)}(w)$  where  $\{s_j^{(k)}\}_{j\geq 1}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . Let  $K_1, K_2 \subset D$  be two compact sets and let  $S_1 \subset C^3(D, \mathbb{R})$  and  $S_2 \subset C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  be two sets such that  $S_1$  is bounded and  $\rho > 0$ ,  $\inf_{z\in V} \rho(z) \geq C_0$  holds for all  $\rho \in S_2$  where  $C_0 > 0$  is some constant and Vis an open neighborhood of  $K_1 \cup K_2$ . We apply Lemma 2.29 and find a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that

$$e^{-k\varphi(z)}|(\partial_w^{\alpha}g_{k,z})(z)|^2 \le C_1 k^{n+2|\alpha|} ||g_{k,z}||^2_{k\varphi,\rho}$$

holds for all  $z \in K_1$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  which leads to  $\|g_{k,z}\|^2_{k\varphi,\rho}e^{-k\varphi(z)} \leq C_1 k^{n+2|\alpha|}$  where we use the identity  $(\partial_w^{\alpha}g_{k,z})(z) = \|g_{k,z}\|^2_{k\varphi,\rho}$ . Applying Lemma 2.29 again we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that

$$e^{-k\varphi(w)-k\varphi(z)}|(\partial_w^\beta g_{k,z})(w)|^2 \le C_2 k^{n+2|\beta|} \|g_{k,z}\|_{k\varphi,\rho}^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le C_1 C_2 k^{2n+2|\alpha|+2|\beta|}$$

holds for all  $(z, w) \in K_1 \times K_2$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Since  $\sum_{j \ge 1} \overline{s_j^{(k)}(w)} s_j^{(k)}(z)$  converges in  $C^{\infty}$  topology, we have

$$(\partial_w^\beta g_{k,z})(w) = \sum_{j\geq 1} \overline{(\partial_z^\alpha s_j^{(k)})(z)} (\partial_w^\alpha s_j^{(k)})(w) = \overline{\partial_z^\alpha} \partial_w^\beta K_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w).$$

#### Bergman Kernels in $\mathbb{C}^n$

Thus, we conclude that  $|e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(w)-k\varphi(z))}(\overline{\partial_z^{\alpha}}\partial_w^{\beta}K_{k\varphi,\rho})(z,w)| \leq Ck^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|}$  holds for all  $(z,w) \in K_1 \times K_2, k \in [1,\infty), \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  with  $C = \sqrt{C_1C_2}$ . Since any compact set  $K \subset D \times D$  is contained in a compact set of the form  $K_1 \times K_2$ , the claim follows.

# Corollary 2.39

Let  $\varphi \in C^N(D, \mathbb{R})$  be arbitrary. Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$ ,  $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq N$ , one has  $d_z^{\alpha} d_w^{\beta} P_{k\varphi,\rho} = O(k^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|})$  on  $D \times D$  and  $d_z^{\alpha} B_{k\varphi,\rho} = O(k^{n+|\alpha|})$  on D. More precisely, given compact sets  $K_1, K_2 \subset D$  there exist constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  such that

$$|d_z^{\alpha} d_w^{\beta} P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w)| \le C_1 k^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|} , \qquad |d_z^{\alpha} B_{k\varphi,\rho}(z)| \le C_2 k^{n+|\alpha|}$$

hold for all  $z \in K_1$ ,  $w \in K_2$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $C_1, C_2$  are bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set  $C^N(D, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\rho$  stays in a subset of  $C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  with  $\rho > 0$  and  $\inf_{z \in V} \rho(z)$ has a positive lower bound where  $V \subset D$  is an open neighborhood of  $K_1 \cup K_2$ .

Proof. Let  $S_1 \subset C^N(D, \mathbb{R})$  be a bounded set and  $S_2 \subset C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  a subset such that  $\rho > 0$  and  $\inf_{z \in V} \rho(z) \geq C'$  hold for all  $\rho \in S_2$  where C' > 0 is a constant. Define a function  $g_{k\varphi} : D \times D \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $g_{k\varphi}(z, w) = e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(z) + \varphi(w))}$ . Let  $\alpha'\beta' \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$  be two multiindices satisfying  $\alpha' \leq \alpha$  and  $\beta' \leq \beta$ . One has  $(g_{k\varphi})^{-1}(d_z^{\alpha'}d_w^{\beta'}g_{k\varphi}) = O(k^{|\alpha'| + |\beta'|})$  on  $D \times D$  where the underlying estimates are uniform in  $\varphi \in S_1$ . Set

$$A_{\alpha',\beta'}(z,w) = (d_z^{\alpha-\alpha'} d_w^{\beta-\beta'} K_{k\varphi,\rho})(z,w) (d_z^{\alpha'} d_w^{\beta'} g_k)(z,w)$$

and observe, using Lemma 2.38, that  $A_{\alpha',\beta'} = O(k^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|})$  on  $D \times D$  holds. More precisely, for any compact sets  $K_1, K_2 \subset D$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|A_{\alpha',\beta'}(z,w)| \le Ck^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|}$$

holds for all  $z \in K_1$ ,  $w \in K_2$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Then the estimates for the derivatives of  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  follow from the identity

$$d_z^{\alpha} d_w^{\beta} P_{k\varphi,\rho} = \beta! \alpha! \sum_{\beta' \le \beta} \sum_{\alpha' \le \alpha} (\alpha'! (\alpha - \alpha')! \beta'! (\beta - \beta')!)^{-1} A_{\alpha',\beta'}.$$

The estimates for the derivatives of  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  follow from the fact that we can write

$$(d_z^{\alpha} B_{k\varphi,\rho})(z) = \alpha! \sum_{\beta \le \alpha} ((\alpha - \beta)!\beta!)^{-1} (d_z^{\alpha - \beta} d_w^{\beta} P_{k\varphi,\rho})(z,z).$$

For the rest of this section we are going to study some transformation behavior of the Bergman kernel. Therefore, let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain,  $\rho \in C^0(D, \mathbb{R})$  a positive function and  $\varphi \colon D \to \mathbb{R}$  upper semi-continuous and bounded from below.

#### Lemma 2.40

Let  $f \in \mathcal{O}(D)$  be a holomorphic function and set  $\psi = \varphi + 2f + 2\overline{f}$ . We have  $P_{\psi,\rho}(z,w) = e^{f(z)-f(w)+\overline{f(w)}-\overline{f(z)}}P_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w), z, w \in D$ , and hence  $B_{\varphi,\rho} = B_{\psi,\rho}$ .

*Proof.* Given an orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^d$  of  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ ,  $d = \dim H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ , we find that  $\{s_j e^{2f}\}_{j=1}^d$  is an orthonormal basis of  $H^0_{k\psi,\rho}(D)$ . We calculate

$$P_{\psi,\rho}(z,w) = e^{-\frac{\psi(z)+\psi(w)}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{d} e^{2f(z)+2\overline{f(w)}} s_j(z) \overline{s_j(w)} = e^{f(z)-f(w)+\overline{f(w)}-\overline{f(z)}} P_{\varphi,\rho}(z,w).$$

#### Lemma 2.41

Let  $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain and  $G = (G_1, \ldots, G_n) \colon U \to D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a biholomorphic map. Set  $\varphi' = \varphi \circ G$  and  $\rho' = |\det(F)|^2 \rho \circ G$  with  $F = (\frac{G_j}{\partial z_l})_{1 \leq j,l \leq n}$ . We have  $P_{\varphi',\rho'}(z,w) = P_{\varphi,\rho}(G(z),G(w)), z, w \in D$ , and hence  $B_{\varphi',\rho'} = B_{\varphi,\rho} \circ G$ .

*Proof.* Given an orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^d$  of  $H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$ ,  $d = \dim H^0_{\varphi,\rho}(D)$ , we find that  $\{s_j \circ G\}_{j=1}^d$  is an orthonormal basis of  $H^0_{\varphi',\rho'}(U)$  since

$$(f,g)_{\varphi,\rho} = \int_U f \circ G\overline{g \circ G} e^{-\varphi'} |\det(F)|^2 \rho' dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$$

by the standard transformations for integrals.

# 2.5 The Localization Property

Throughout this section we consider the following setting: Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain and  $\varphi \in C^{M+3}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  be a real valued function which is continuous up to the boundary, where  $M \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . The volume form of D is denoted by  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  where  $\rho \in C^0(\overline{D}), \rho > 0$ , is continuous and positive on  $\overline{D}$ .

For  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $N \leq M$ , let  $\gamma_N, \tilde{\varphi}_N : D \times \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$  be defined by

$$\gamma_N(z,w) = \frac{\varphi(z)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le N+2} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} \varphi(z)}{\partial^{\alpha} z} (w-z)^{\alpha}$$

and  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) = \varphi(w) - \gamma_N(z,w) - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}.$ 

Recall that  $D_{\varphi,+}$  denotes the set of all points z in D where the complex Hessian  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  of  $\varphi$  is positive definite (see Definition 2.14). The localization property is defined as follows.



As illustrated in the two upper pictures  $z_0$  has the N-th localization property for  $\varphi$  because the transformation  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0, \cdot)$  is positive on  $\overline{D} \setminus \{z_0\}$ . In the two pictures below,  $z_0$  does not have the N-th localization property since there exists at least one point  $z \in \overline{D}$  with  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0, z) < 0$ .

Figure 2.1: Illustration of the N-th localization property

# Definition 2.42

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer. A point  $z \in D$  has the N-th localization property (for  $\varphi$ ) if the following two conditions are satisfied,

(i) 
$$z \in D_{\varphi,+},$$
  
(ii)  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) > 0$  for all  $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \{z\}.$ 

The set of all points which have the N-th localization property is denoted by  $D_{\varphi,N}$ (or sometimes  $D_N$ ) and given N > M we set  $D_{\varphi,N} = \emptyset$ .

# Example 2.43

Let  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^{0}(\overline{D})$  be defined by  $\varphi(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{j} |z_{j}|^{2}$  for  $\lambda_{j} \in \mathbb{R}_{+}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ . Then any point  $z \in D$  has the N-th localization property for arbitrary  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$ . In other words,  $D_{\varphi,N} = D$  for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $z \in D$  be a point. Since the complex Hessian  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  in z is a diagonal matrix  $\operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  with  $\lambda_j > 0, 1 \leq j \leq n$  we find  $z \in D_{\varphi,+}$ . Furthermore, one has

$$|w_j - z_j|^2 = |w_j|^2 + |z_j|^2 - w_j \overline{z_j} - z_j \overline{w_j} = |w_j|^2 - |z_j|^2 - \overline{z_j}(w_j - z_j) - z_j \overline{(w_j - z_j)},$$
  

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial w_j}(z) = \lambda_j \overline{z_j} \text{ and } \partial_w^\alpha \varphi = 0 \text{ for } |\alpha| > 1. \text{ Hence, for any } N \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ one finds}$$
  

$$\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_j |w_j - z_j|^2 = \varphi(w) - \gamma_N(z, w) - \overline{\gamma_N(z, w)} = \tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w).$$

44

## Lemma 2.44

Given any  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the set  $D_{\varphi,N}$  is open. Moreover, for any compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$ there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \ge C|w-z|^2$  holds for all  $z \in K$ and  $w \in \overline{D}$ .

Proof. Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer. If  $D_{\varphi,N} = \emptyset$  there is nothing to show. Otherwise take  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,N}$ . We will show that there exists an open neighborhood  $D' \subset D$  around  $z_0$  such that any  $z \in D'$  has the N-th localization property and that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \geq C|w-z|^2$  holds for all  $z \in D'$  and  $w \in \overline{D}$  for some constant C > 0. The complete statement follows from the fact that K can be covered by finitely many open sets.

By Taylor expansion in w at some point  $z \in D$  we find

$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) = (w-z)H_{\varphi}(z)\overline{(w-z)}^T + R(z,w)$$

and for any relative compact sets  $V, V' \subset C$  b there exists a constant  $C_1$  such that  $|R(z,w)| \leq C_1 |w-z|^3$  holds for all  $(z,w) \in V \times V'$  (see Theorem 2.8). Since the eigenvalues of  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  depend continuously on z one has that  $D_{\varphi,+}$  is open and there exist an open neighborhood  $U \subset D_{\varphi,+}$  around  $z_0$  and a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that  $(w-z)H_{\varphi}(z)\overline{(w-z)}^T \geq C_2 |w-z|^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in U \times \overline{D}$ . Thus, choosing a ball  $\mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0) \subset U$  of radius  $\varepsilon > 0$  around  $z_0$  we find that

$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \ge C_2 |w-z|^2 - C_1 |w-z|^3 \ge |w-z|^2 (C_2 - 2\varepsilon C_1)$$

holds for all  $w, z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$ . For  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small there exists a constant  $C_3 > 0$ such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C_3 |w - z|^2$  holds for all  $w, z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$ . By the assumption on  $\varphi$  we find  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0, w) \geq 2\delta$  for all  $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$ . Since  $\tilde{\varphi}_N$ is continuous on  $D \times \overline{D}$  there exists  $0 < \varepsilon' < \varepsilon$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq \delta$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon'}(z_0)$  and  $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and hence  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) > 0$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon'}(z_0)$  and  $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \{z\}$ . Set  $t = \sup_{(z,w) \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon'}(z_0) \times D} |w - z|$  then for  $C = \min\{C_3, \delta/t^2\}$  we have  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C |w - z|^2$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon'}(z_0)$  and  $w \in \overline{D}$ .

#### Example 2.45

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  a compact set and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  a multi-index. There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\int_{D} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^{2} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z,w)} dV_{D}(w)\right| \leq Ck^{-n-|\alpha|}$$

holds for all  $z \in K$  and  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set  $S \subset C^{N+3}(D, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in K\times D} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2$  has a uniform positive lower bound. Proof. Let  $z_0 \in K$  be a point. Using Lemma 2.44 we find an open neighborhood  $D' \subset C$   $D_N$  around  $z_0$  and a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C_1 |w - z|^2$  holds for all  $z \in D'$  and  $w \in \overline{D}$ . For example, choose  $C_1 > 0$  such that  $C_1 \leq \inf_{(z,w)\in K\times D} |w-z|^2/\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)$  holds for all  $\varphi \in S$  to obtain the second part of the statement. Furthermore, there exists a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that  $\rho \leq C_2$ . Thus, one has

$$|\int_{D} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^{2} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z,w)} dV_{D}(w)| \leq C_{2} \int_{D} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^{2} e^{-kC_{1}|w-z|^{2}} dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w).$$

We set

$$A_j(z) = \int_{U_j} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^2 e^{-kC_1|w-z|^2} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w) , \ j = 1, 2$$

where  $U_1 = \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $U_2 = \mathbb{C}^n \setminus D$  and write

$$\int_D |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^2 e^{-kC_1|w-z|^2} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w) = A_1(z) - A_2(z).$$

Let  $\delta = \operatorname{dist}(D', \partial D) > 0$  be the distance between D' and the boundary of D. Since  $\int_{U_2} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^2 e^{-C_1(|w-z|^2-\delta^2)} dV_{\mathbb{C}}^n(w) \leq C_3$  holds for all  $z \in D'$  where  $C_3 > 0$  is some constant and  $|w-z|^2 - \delta^2 \geq 0$  for all  $z \in D'$  and  $w \in U_2$  one finds  $A_2(z) \leq C_3 e^{-\delta^2 C_1 k}$ . One has

$$2\int_0^\infty r^{2m+1}e^{-tr^2}dr = \int_0^\infty r^m e^{-tr}dr = \frac{m!}{t^{m+1}}$$

for  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and t > 0. Then, using polar coordinates leads to

$$A_1(z) = \pi^n \prod_{j=1}^n \int_0^\infty r^{\alpha_j} e^{-C_1 k r} dr = k^{-n-|\alpha|} \frac{\pi^n \alpha!}{C_1^{|\alpha|+n}}$$

and hence there exists a constant  $C_4 > 0$  such that

$$A_1(z) - A_2(z) \le C_4 k^{-n-|\alpha|}$$

for all  $z \in D'$  and all sufficiently large  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . We conclude that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\int_{D} |(w-z)^{\alpha}|^{2} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z,w)} dV_{D}(w)\right| \leq Ck^{-n-|\alpha|}$$

holds for all  $z \in D'$  and all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

The localization property ensures that the asymptotic behavior of some integrals considered in the following sections comes from integrals with compactly supported integrands. More precisely, one has has the following.

# Lemma 2.46

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer and  $K \subset D_N$  a compact set. Given any cutoff

46

function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(D)$ ,  $0 \le \chi \le 1$ ,  $\chi \equiv 1$  in an open neighborhood of K, there exist constants  $\delta, C > 0$  such that

$$\left| \int_{D} (1 - \chi(w)) h(z, w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)} dV_D(w) \right| \le e^{-k\delta} \operatorname{Vol}(D) \|\rho\|_{C^0(\overline{D})} \sup_{(z, w) \in K \times D} |h(z, w)|$$

holds for all  $z \in K$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $h \in C^0(D \times \overline{D})$ . Here  $\delta$  can be chosen as

$$\delta = C' \inf_{(z,w) \in K \times \overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) / |w - z|^2$$

where C' > 0 is a constant which only depends on K and  $\chi$ .

Proof. Choose an open neighborhood  $D' \subset D$  around K such that  $\chi \equiv 1$  on D' holds. By Lemma 2.44 there is a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C_1 |w - z|^2$  holds for all  $(z, w) \in K \times \overline{D}$  and  $C_1$  can be chosen to be

$$C_1 = \inf_{(z,w)\in K\times\overline{D}}\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2.$$

Hence we find  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \ge C_1 \operatorname{dist}(K,\partial D')^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in K \times \overline{D} \setminus D'$  which leads to

$$\left| \int_{D} (1 - \chi(w)) h(z, w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z, w)} dV_{D}(w) \right| \le e^{-k\delta} \int_{D \setminus D'} |h(z, w)\rho(w)| dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w)$$

for any  $z \in K$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $h \in C^0(D \times \overline{D})$ . Applying the standard estimate for integrals finishes the proof.

The following lemma is important for applying the results obtained in Section 3.1 to the manifold setting. It shows that under some conditions we can always assume that the localization property holds in a local sense.

#### Lemma 2.47

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer,  $S \subset C^{N+3}(D, \mathbb{R})$  a bounded set,  $D' \subset D$  open and C' > 0 a constant such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'$ Id is positive definite for all  $z \in D'$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Given  $z_0 \in D'$  there exists an open neighborhood  $V \subset D'$  around  $z_0$  such that for any  $z \in V$ ,  $\varphi \in S$  we have that z satisfies the N-th localization property for  $\varphi \mid_{\overline{V}}$ . More precisely, there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C|w - z|^2$ and  $|d_w \tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)| \geq C|w - z|$  holds for all  $(z, w) \in V \times \overline{V}$  and all  $\varphi \in S$ .

*Proof.* By Taylor expansion in w at some point  $z \in D'$  we find

$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) = (w-z)H_{\varphi}(z)\overline{(w-z)}^T + R(z,w).$$

Choose a ball  $\mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0) \subset D'$  of radius  $\varepsilon > 0$  around  $z_0$ . There exists a constant  $C_1$  such that  $|R(z,w)| \leq C_1 |w-z|^3$  for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and  $\varphi \in S$  by Theorem 2.8. By the assumptions on S there exists a constant C' > 0 such that

 $(w-z)H_{\varphi}(z)\overline{(w-z)}^T \ge C'|w-z|^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0) \times D$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Thus, we find that

$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \ge C' |w-z|^2 - C_1 |w-z|^3 \ge |w-z|^2 (C' - 2\varepsilon C_1)$$

holds for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Similar, we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that  $|d_w \tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)| \ge |w - z|(2C' - 2\varepsilon C_2)$  holds for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Choosing  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \ge C|w - z|^2$  and  $|(\partial_w + \overline{\partial}_w)\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)| \ge C|w - z|$  hold for all  $w, z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Putting  $V = \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(z_0)$ , the claim follows.  $\Box$ 

#### Remark 2.48

Choosing  $S \subset C^{N+3}(D,\mathbb{R})$  compact in Lemma 2.47 it is sufficient to assume that  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  is positive definite in a neighborhood of  $\overline{D'}$ . Since the eigenvalues of  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  depend continuously on  $(z,\varphi) \in D \times C^{N+3}(D,\mathbb{R})$  there exists a constant C' such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'$ Id is positive definite for all  $z \in D'$  and all  $\varphi \in S$ .

# 2.6 The Method of Stationary Phase

As before, we assume that  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  is a bounded domain with volume form  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  where  $\rho \in C^0(\overline{D}), \rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$ .

# Definition 2.49

G

iven 
$$z \in D$$
,  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\varphi \in C^{N+3}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  set  
$$a_{\alpha,\beta,k\varphi}(z) = \int_D \overline{(w-a)}^{\alpha} (w-z)^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)} dV_D(w),$$

where  $\tilde{\varphi_N}$  is defined as in Section 2.5.

We like to study the asymptotic behavior of  $a_{\alpha,\beta,k\varphi}(z)$  when k goes to infinity. Recall that  $D_{\varphi,N} \subset D$  is the set of points which satisfy the N-th localization property for  $\varphi \in C^{N+3}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  (see Definition 2.42). We have the following theorem.

#### Theorem 2.50

Let  $M, N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be two non-negative integers,  $N \leq 3M+1$ ,  $\varphi \in C^{3M+4}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ and  $\rho \in C^{2M+2}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ . Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq M$ , one has  $a_{\alpha,\beta,k\varphi} = O(k^{-\max\{|\alpha|,|\beta\}\}-n})$  in  $C^0(D_{\varphi,N})$  and in particular

$$a_{\alpha,\beta,k\varphi} - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi})} \sum_{j=\max\{|\alpha|,|\beta|\}}^M k^{-j-n} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)} = O(k^{-M-1}) \text{ in } C^0(D_{\varphi,N})$$

where

$$a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} \frac{(-1)^{\mu}}{\mu!(\mu+j)!} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^{\mu+j} (h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu} \rho(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha} (w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z}$$

and  $h_{N,z}(w) = \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) - (w-z)^T H_{\varphi}(z) \overline{(w-z)}$ . More precisely, given a compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  and an open neighborhood  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  of K there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|a_{\alpha,\beta,k\varphi}(z) - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \sum_{j=\max\{|\alpha|,|\beta|\}}^M k^{-j-n} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z)\right| \le Ck^{-M-1}$$

holds for all  $z \in K$  and  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{3M+4}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|z-w|^2$  has a positive lower bound and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{2M+2}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{z\in\overline{D}} \rho(z)$ has a positive lower bound.

Furthermore, if  $|\alpha| = |\beta|$  we have  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(|\alpha|)}(z) = \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^{|\alpha|}(\overline{w}^{\alpha}w^{\beta})\rho(z)/|\alpha|!$ .

We will prove Theorem 2.50 by adapting the stationary phase formula of Hörmander to our setting.

**Theorem 2.51** (Method of Stationary Phase [24, Theorem 7.7.5])

Let  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact set, X an open neighborhood of K and M a positive integer. If  $u \in C_0^{2M}(K)$ ,  $f \in C^{3M+1}(X)$  and  $\operatorname{Im} f \geq 0$  in X,  $\operatorname{Im} f(x_0) = 0$ , det  $f''(x_0) \neq 0$ ,  $f' \neq 0$  in  $K \setminus \{x_0\}$  then

$$\left|\int u(x)e^{ikf(x)}dx - e^{ikf(x_0)}(\det(kf''(x_0)/2\pi i))^{-\frac{1}{2}}\sum_{j(2.6)  
$$\leq Ck^{-M}\sum_{|\alpha|\leq 2M}\sup|d_x^{\alpha}u|, \ k>0.$$$$

Here C is bounded when f stays in a bounded set in  $C^{3M+1}(X)$  and  $|x - x_0|/|f'(x)|$ has a uniform bound. With

$$g_{x_0}(x) = f(x) - f(x_0) - \langle f''(x_0)(x - x_0), x - x_0 \rangle / 2$$

which vanishes of third order at  $x_0$  we have

$$L_{j}u = \sum_{\nu-\mu=j} \sum_{2\nu\geq 3\mu} i^{-j+2\nu} 2^{-\nu} \langle f''(x_{0})^{-1}d_{x}, d_{x} \rangle^{\nu} (g_{x_{0}}^{\mu}u)(x_{0})/\mu!\nu!.$$

This is a differential operator of order 2j acting on u at  $x_0$ . The coefficients are rational homogeneous functions of degree -j in  $f''(x_0), \ldots, f^{(2j+2)}(x_0)$  with denominator  $(\det f''(x_0))^{3j}$ . In every term the total number of derivatives of u and of f'' is at most 2j.

*Proof.* See [24, Theorem 7.7.5].

# Lemma 2.52

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain,  $M, N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  non-negative integers with  $N \leq 3M - 2$ ,

 $S \subset C^{3M+1}(D, \mathbb{R})$  a bounded set,  $D' \subset D$  open and C' > 0 some constant such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'$ Id is positive definite for all  $z \in D'$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Furthermore, assume  $\rho \in C^{2M}(D, \mathbb{R})$ . Given a function  $u \in C^{2M}(D \times D)$  set  $u_z(w) = u(z, w)$  and

$$b_{j}(z) = \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} (-1)^{\mu} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_{w}, \overline{\partial}_{w} \rangle^{\mu+j} (h_{N,z}^{\mu} u_{z} \rho)(z) / \mu! (\mu+j)!$$

where

$$h_{N,z}(w) = \tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) - (w - z)^T H_{\varphi}(z) \overline{(w - z)}$$

Given  $z_0 \in D'$  there exist an open neighborhood  $D'' \subset C$  d' around  $z_0$ , a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}), 0 \leq \chi \leq 1, \chi \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of D'' and a constant C > 0 such that the expression

$$A_k(z) = \int_D u(z, w) \chi(w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)} dV_D(w)$$

satisfies

$$|A_k(z) - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \sum_{j < M} k^{-j-n} b_j(z)| \le Ck^{-M} \sup_{z \in D''} \|\chi u_z \rho\|_{C^{2M}(\overline{D})}$$

for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D''$ ,  $\varphi \in S$ ,  $\rho \in C^{2M}(D, \mathbb{R})$  and  $u \in C^{2M}(D \times D)$ .

Proof. We would like to apply Theorem 2.51. Therefore set  $f_z(w) = f_{z,\varphi}(w) = i\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, z+w)$  and  $x_0 = 0$ . By construction we have  $\operatorname{Im} f_z(0) = 0$  and  $f'_z(0) = 0$ . Since  $H_{\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,\cdot)}(z) = H_{\varphi}(z)$  and by Corollary 2.13 we find  $\det(f''_z(0)/2i) = \det(H_{\varphi}(z))^2 > 0$  for all  $z \in D'$ . Using Lemma 2.47 we find an open ball  $\mathbb{B}_{5\varepsilon}(z_0) \subset D'$  of radius  $5\varepsilon > 0$  around  $z_0$  and constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w) \geq C_1 |w - z|^2$  and  $|(\partial_w + \overline{\partial}_w)\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, w)| \geq C_2 |w - z|$  for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_{5\varepsilon}(z_0)$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Hence we have  $\operatorname{Im} f_z(w) > 0$  and  $f'_z(w) \neq 0$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0), w \in \mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0) \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\varphi \in S$ . Furthermore,  $S' := \{f_{z,\varphi} \mid z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0), \varphi \in S\}$  defines a bounded set in  $C^{3M+1}(\mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0))$  satisfying  $|w|/|f'(w)| \leq C_2$  for all  $w \in \mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0)$  and all  $f \in S'$ . Choose a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_{2\varepsilon}(z_0), \mathbb{R}), 0 \leq \chi \leq 1, \chi \equiv 1$  in an open neighborhood of  $\mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$ . One has

$$A_k(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0)} u(z, z+w)\chi(z+w)\rho(z+w)e^{ikf_z(w)}dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$ . For  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  set  $\tilde{u}_z(w) = u(z, z+w)\chi(z+w)\rho(z+w)$ . Then, for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  we have  $\tilde{u}_z \in C^{2M}(\mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0))$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(\tilde{u}_z) \subset \mathbb{B}_{3\varepsilon}(0)$ . Set  $X = \mathbb{B}_{4\varepsilon}(0)$ ,  $K = \overline{\mathbb{B}_{3\varepsilon}(0)}$  and apply Theorem 2.51. Thus, we find a constant C > 0 such that

$$|A_k(z) - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \sum_{j < M} k^{-j-n} b_j(z)| \le Ck^{-M}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty), z \in \mathbb{B}_{\varepsilon}(z_0)$  where

$$b_j(z) = \sum_{\nu-\mu=j} \sum_{2\nu\geq 3\mu} i^{-j+2\nu} 2^{-\nu} \langle f_z''(0)^{-1} d_x, d_x \rangle^{\nu} (g_{z,0}^{\mu} \tilde{u}_z)(0) / \mu! \nu!$$

and

$$g_{z,0}(w) = f_z(w) - f_z(0) - \langle f_z''(0)w, w \rangle / 2 = ih_{N,z}(z+w).$$

Using  $\langle f_z''(0)^{-1}d_x, d_x \rangle = -2i \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle$  from Lemma 2.16 we find

$$b_j(z) = \sum_{\nu-\mu=j} \sum_{2\nu\geq 3\mu} (-1)^{\mu} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^{\nu} (h_{N,z}^{\mu} u_z \rho)(z) / \mu! \nu!$$
$$= \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} (-1)^{\mu} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^{\mu+j} (h_{N,z}^{\mu} u_z \rho)(z) / \mu! (\mu+j)!$$

where we use that for  $\nu = j + \mu$ ,  $\mu, \nu \ge 0$  one has that  $2\nu \ge 3\mu$  holds if and only if  $\mu \le 2j$  holds to obtain the last line.

**Proof of Theorem 2.50.** Let  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  be a positive integer,  $D' \subset C$  open and  $S_1 \subset C^{3M+4}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ ,  $S_2 \subset C^{2M+2}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  be bounded sets such that  $\{\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|z-w|^2 \mid \varphi \in S_1\}$ ,  $\{\inf_{z\in\overline{D}} \rho \mid \rho \in S_2\}$  have positive lower bounds. For any  $\varphi \in S_1$  we have  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  then. Let  $K \subset D'$  be a compact subset. Given  $z_0 \in K$  we can apply Lemma 2.52 and find an open neighborhood  $D'' \subset C D'$  around  $z_0$  and a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $0 \leq \chi \leq 1$ ,  $\chi \equiv 1$  on D'' and a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that

$$\left|\tilde{a}_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z) - \frac{1}{\pi^n \det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \sum_{j < M} k^{-j-n} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z)\right| \le C_1 k^{-M}$$

where

$$\tilde{a}_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z) = \int_D \chi(w) \overline{(w-a)}^{\alpha} (w-z)^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)} dV_D(w)$$

and

$$a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} \frac{(-1)^{\mu}}{\mu!(\mu+j)!} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_{w}, \overline{\partial}_{w} \rangle^{\mu+j} (h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu} \rho(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha} (w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z}.$$

Using Lemma 2.46 we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  and  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z) - \tilde{a}_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z)| \leq C_2 e^{-\delta k}$  holds for all  $z \in D''$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Thus, there exists a constant  $C_3 > 0$  such that

$$\left|a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z) - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \sum_{j < M} k^{-j-n} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z)\right| \le C_3 k^{-M}$$

holds for all  $z \in D''$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

Now, consider  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}$  for  $j < \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\}$ . For fixed  $\mu, 0 \le \mu \le 2j$ , we write

$$\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_{w},\overline{\partial}_{w}\rangle^{j+\mu} = \sum_{|\alpha'|=|\beta'|=j+\mu} c_{\alpha',\beta'}\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'}\partial_{w}^{\beta'}$$

where  $c_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathbb{C}$  are complex numbers. Given  $\alpha', \beta' \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha'| = |\beta'| = \mu + j$ , such that  $\alpha' \geq \alpha$  and  $\beta' \geq \beta$  holds (this implies  $\mu > 0$ ) we find, using the general Leibniz rule, that

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'}\partial_{w}^{\beta'}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z} = \frac{\alpha'!\beta'!}{(\alpha'-\alpha)!(\beta'-\beta)!}\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'-\alpha}\partial_{w}^{\beta'-\beta}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w))|_{w=z}$$

holds. Since  $h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w) = O(|w|^{3\mu})$  and  $|\alpha' - \alpha|, |\beta' - \beta| < \mu$  we have that less then  $2\mu$  derivatives acting on the function  $O(|w|^{3\mu})$  which implies

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'-\alpha}\partial_{w}^{\beta'-\beta}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w))|_{w=z}=0.$$

If  $\alpha' \ge \alpha$  or  $\beta' \ge \beta$  fails, we directly observe that

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'}\partial_{w}^{\beta'}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z} = 0$$

holds. Hence,

$$\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_{w},\overline{\partial}_{w}\rangle^{\mu+j}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z}=0$$

and we conclude that  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)} = 0$  if  $j < \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\}$  which proves that  $a_{\alpha,\beta,k} \in O(k^{-\max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\}-n})$  in  $C^0(D'')$ , uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = |\beta|$ , consider  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(|\alpha|)}$ . If  $\mu > 0$  we can proceed similar as above to observe that

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha'}\partial_{w}^{\beta'}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z} = 0$$

holds for  $|\alpha'| = |\beta'| = \mu + |\alpha|$ . Treating the case  $\mu = 0$  leads to

$$\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_{w}, \overline{\partial}_{w} \rangle^{|\alpha|} (\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z} = \alpha!\beta!c_{\alpha,\beta}\rho(z) = \rho(z) \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_{w}, \overline{\partial}_{w} \rangle^{|\alpha|} \overline{w}^{\alpha}w^{\beta}.$$

Covering K by finitely many of those D'' completes the proof.

# Lemma 2.53

Given  $z \in D_{\varphi,N}$  such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  one has

$$a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=\mu+j\\\eta \ge \max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (1/\lambda)^{\eta} \frac{(-1)^{\mu} \eta!}{\mu! (\eta-\alpha)! (\eta-\beta!)} \overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta-\alpha} \partial_{w}^{\eta-\beta} (h_{N,z}^{\mu} \rho)(z)$$

where  $(1/\lambda)^{\eta} = \lambda_1^{-\eta_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \lambda_n^{-\eta_n}$ .

2.7. An  $L^2$ -Norm Estimate for the Stationary Phase Formula

*Proof.* One has  $\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle = \sum_{l=1}^n \lambda_l^{-1} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_l \partial \overline{w}_l}$  and hence

$$\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^{\mu+j} = \sum_{|\eta|=\mu+j} (1/\lambda)^{\eta} \frac{(\mu+j)!}{\eta!} \overline{\partial}_w^{\eta} \partial_w^{\eta}.$$

Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  such that  $\eta \ge \max\{\alpha, \beta\}$  holds one finds

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta}\partial_{w}^{\eta}(h_{N,z}(w)^{\mu}\rho(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}(w-z)^{\beta})|_{w=z}$$
$$=\frac{\eta!\eta!}{(\eta-\alpha)!(\eta-\beta)!}\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta-\alpha}\partial_{w}^{\eta-\beta}(h_{N,z}^{\mu}\rho)(z).$$

Given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  such that  $\eta \ge \max{\{\alpha, \beta\}}$  fails one has

$$\overline{\partial}_w^\eta \partial_w^\eta (h_{N,z}(w)^\mu \rho(w) \overline{(w-z)}^\alpha (w-z)^\beta)|_{w=z} = 0.$$

Thus, we conclude

$$a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{\mu=0}^{2j} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=\mu+j\\\eta\geq\max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (1/\lambda)^{\eta} \frac{\eta!}{\mu!(\eta-\alpha)!(\eta-\beta!)} \overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta-\alpha} \partial_{w}^{\eta-\beta}(h_{N,z}^{\mu}\rho)(z).$$

# 2.7 An $L^2$ -Norm Estimate for the Stationary Phase Formula

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer. In this section we study the asymptotic behavior for  $k \to \infty$  of the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$  between polynomials of degree at most N and holomorphic functions in  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  which vanish up to order N at some point. For brevity we will use the notations  $H^0_k(D) := H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D), (\cdot, \cdot)_k := (\cdot, \cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$ and  $\|\cdot\|_k := \|\cdot\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$  in this section. As before, we assume that  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  is a bounded domain.

#### Definition 2.54

Given a point  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$  and a holomorphic function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$  defined on an open neighborhood U around  $z_0$  we say that f vanishes up to order  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  in  $z_0$  if  $\partial_z^{\alpha} f(z_0) = 0$  holds for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ .

The following result is fundamental for proving the reprodicing property in Theorem 1.3. The idea for Theorem 2.55 in the version given below was inspired by Chin-Yu Hsiao during a discussion in 2016.

#### Theorem 2.55

For  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  let  $\varphi \in C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{R})$  be a function and  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  be a volume form, that is  $\rho \in C^{N+1}(D, \mathbb{R})$  with  $\rho > 0$ . For any  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  and  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ 

there exist an open neighborhood  $U \subset D$  around  $z_0$ , a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $0 \leq \chi \leq 1, \ \chi \equiv 1 \text{ on } U$  and a constant C such that for all  $z \in U, \ k \in [1, \infty)$ , and all functions  $f \in H_k^0(D)$  which vanish up to order N in z, one has

$$\left|\int_{D} f(w)\overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} e^{k\overline{\gamma_{N}(z,w)}}\chi(w)e^{-k\varphi(w)}dV_{D}(w)\right| \leq Ck^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon}{2}}\|f\|_{k}.$$

Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{N+4}(D,\mathbb{R})$  with a constant C' > 0 such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'$  Id is positive definite on  $\operatorname{supp}(\chi)$  and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{N+1}(D,\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\sup_{w \in \operatorname{supp}(\chi)} \rho(w)^{-1}$  has a uniform bound.

# Corollary 2.56

Given  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $\varphi \in C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ ,  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  with  $\rho \in C^{N+1}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ ,  $\rho > 0$ ,  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,N}$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  and any neighborhood  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  around  $z_0$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left| \int_{D} f(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} e^{k \overline{\gamma_{N}(z,w)}} e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_{D}(w) \right| \le C k^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon}{2}} \|f\|_{k}$$
(2.7)

for all  $z \in D'$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and all  $f \in H^0_k(D)$  which vanish up to order N in z. Here C is bounded when  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\sup_{(z,w)\in D''\times\overline{D}} |w-z|^2/\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)$  has a uniform bound for some open neighborhood D'' of  $\overline{D'}$  and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{N+1}(D, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\sup_{w\in\overline{D}} \rho(w)^{-1}$  has a uniform bound.

*Proof.* Given any point  $z_0 \in D'$  we apply Theorem 2.55 and find

$$A_1 := \left| \int_D f(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} e^{k\overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}} \chi(w) e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_D(w) \right| \le Ck^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon}{2}} \|f\|_k$$

for some cutoff function  $\chi$  with  $\operatorname{supp} \chi \subset D''$ ,  $\chi \equiv 1$  on some open neighborhood  $U \subset D''$  of  $z_0$  for all  $z \in U$ . Setting

$$A_2 := \left| \int_D f(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} e^{k \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}} (1-\chi(w)) e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_D(w) \right|$$

we have that the left-hand side of (2.7) can be estimated by  $A_1 + A_2$ . So we just need to show that  $A_2$  will decrease fast enough when k goes to infinity. Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the assumptions on  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  lead to

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
A_{2}^{2} &\leq & \left| \int_{D} |\overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} (1-\chi(w))|^{2} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z,w)} dV_{D}(w) \right| \|f\|_{k}^{2} \\
&\leq & C_{1} e^{-\delta k} \|f\|_{k}^{2}
\end{array}$$

where  $\delta, C_1 > 0$  only depend on  $\sup_{(z,w) \in D'' \times \overline{D}} |w - z|^2 / \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)$  and  $\sup_{w \in \overline{D}} \rho(w)^{-1}$ . Since we can cover D' by a finite number of such sets U the claim follows.  $\Box$ 

# Remark 2.57

Theorem 2.55 and Corollary 2.56 stay true for a fixed weight  $\varphi \in C^{N+3}(D,\mathbb{R})$ . We need to increase the regularity by one in order to get the uniformity in  $\varphi$ . The reason for that can be found in Proposition 2.59, which is also true for a fixed weight  $\varphi \in C^{N+3}(D,\mathbb{R})$  but needs the higher regularity for choosing the neighborhoods independent of  $\varphi$ .

Sketch of the proof. Before we begin with the proof of Theorem 2.55, we would like to outline the idea first by using a simple example. Consider the case  $n = 1, D = \mathbb{D}, z_0 = 0, \rho \equiv 1$  and

$$\varphi(z) := |z|^2 + \mu_a(z), \ \ \mu_a(z) := a(z^2\overline{z} + \overline{z}^2 z) + z^3\overline{z}^2 + \overline{z}^3 z^2 + |z|^{N+3}$$

for  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ . We immediately find that  $\gamma_N(0, w) \equiv 0$  and hence that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(0, z) = \varphi(z)$ . First, we choose a disk  $\mathbb{D}_{6\tau}$  with radius  $0 < 6\tau < 1$  around 0 such that  $\varphi(z) \geq C_0 |z|^2$  holds on  $\mathbb{D}_{6\tau}$  for some constant  $C_0 > 0$ . Then choose a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}_{2\tau}, \mathbb{R})$  with  $\chi \equiv 1$  on some open neighborhood  $U \subset \mathbb{D}_{2\tau}$  around 0. Given a holomorphic function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D})$  which vanishes up to order N in  $z_0 = 0$  we can write  $f(z) = z^{N+1}g(z)$  for some holomorphic function  $g \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D})$ . We then use integration by parts and get

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi(z) f(z) e^{-k\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} = (-k)^{-N-1} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi(z) g(z) e^{k\mu_a(z)} \left(\overline{\partial}^{N+1} e^{-k|z|^2}\right) dV_{\mathbb{C}}$$
$$= k^{-N-1} \int_{\mathbb{D}} e^{-k\mu_a(z)} \left(\overline{\partial}^{N+1} \chi(z) e^{k\mu_a(z)}\right) g(z) e^{-k\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}}.$$

By Lemma 2.30 we have  $\sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}_{2\tau}} |g(z)|^2 e^{-\frac{3}{2}\varphi(z)} \leq C_1 k^{N+1+n+\varepsilon/2} ||f||_k^2$  for some constant  $C_1 > 0$  independent of k and g or f respectively. It follows

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi(z) f(z) e^{-k\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} \right| \leq C_1 k^{-\frac{N+1-n}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{4}} \|f\|_k \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} G_k(z) e^{-k\frac{1}{4}\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} \right|$$

with  $G_k(z) = e^{-k\mu_a(z)}\overline{\partial}^{N+1} \left(\chi(z)e^{k\mu_a(z)}\right)$ . We write the integral on the right-hand side as  $\int_{\mathbb{D}} G_k(z)e^{-k\frac{1}{4}\varphi(z)}dV_{\mathbb{C}} = A_{1,k} + A_{2,k}$  with

$$A_{1,k} = \int_{\mathbb{D}} G_k(z)\xi(|z|^2 k^{1-\varepsilon'})e^{-k\frac{1}{4}\varphi(z)}dV_{\mathbb{C}}, \quad A_{2,k} = \int_{\mathbb{D}} G_k(z)(1-\xi(|z|^2 k^{1-\varepsilon'}))e^{-k\frac{1}{4}\varphi(z)}dV_{\mathbb{C}}$$

where  $\xi \in C_0^{\infty}((-2\delta, 2\delta), \mathbb{R}), 0 \leq \xi \leq 1$  and  $\xi \equiv 1$  on  $(-\delta, \delta)$  is a cutoff function with  $\delta = 2\tau^2$  and  $\varepsilon' = \varepsilon/8(N+1)$ . We find  $|A_{2,k}| \leq C_2 k^{N+1} e^{-\frac{\delta C_0}{4}k^{\varepsilon'}}$ . Using Example 2.45 we have  $\int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\tau}} e^{-k\frac{1}{4}\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} \leq C_3 k^{-n}$ . Then a direct calculation shows that  $|A_{1,k}| \leq C_4 k^{-n+2\varepsilon'(N+1)}$  assuming a = 0. For the general case, that is  $a \neq 0$ , we have to change the coordinates in order to eliminate all the  $z^{\alpha}\overline{z}^{\beta}$  terms with  $\min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} = 1$  in the Taylor expansion of  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0, \cdot)$  up to order N + 2. Those coordinates are provided in Proposition 2.59. A careful analysis of  $\xi(|z|^2 k^{1-\varepsilon'})G_k(z)$ 



One has that F maps the subset  $U_1 \times U_0 \subset D \times \mathbb{C}^n$  to D such that its restriction to any  $\{z\} \times U_0$  is biholomorphic. Furthermore, the  $U_2$  is always contained in  $F(z, U_0)$  and  $F(z, U_0)$  is always contained in  $U_3$  for all  $z \in U_1$ . Note that the left-hand side of the picture represents a subset of  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$  while the right-hand side represents a subset of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

Figure 2.2: Illustration of F in Proposition 2.59

using these coordinates is done in Lemma 2.63. So let us assume a = 0. Putting all together we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi(z) f(z) e^{-k\varphi(z)} dV_{\mathbb{C}} \right| &\leq C_1 k^{-\frac{N+1-n}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{4}} \|f\|_k (C_4 k^{-n+2\varepsilon'(N+1)} + C_2 k^{N+1} e^{-\delta C_0 k^{\varepsilon'}}) \\ &\leq C k^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon}{2}} \|f\|_k \end{aligned}$$

for some constant C > 0 independent of k and f.

Given n > 1 we cannot apply Lemma 2.30 directly because in general the holomorphic functions, which vanish up to order N in  $z_0$ , do not have the form  $z^{\alpha}g(z)$  in that case. We overcome this difficulty by introducing the meaning of a splitting decomposition (see Definition 2.60) and by modifying Lemma 2.30 (see Lemma 2.62). Moreover, here we just consider the case where  $z_0$ ,  $\rho$  and  $\varphi$  are fixed. To prove the general statement we also need to show that the constant C > 0 can be chosen independent of  $z_0$ ,  $\rho$  and  $\varphi$  in some suitable sets.

#### Remark 2.58

It should be mentioned that in the case n = 1 a much simpler proof of Theorem 2.55 could be given. But this simpler method does not generalize to higher dimensions since the zero set of  $z \to z^{\alpha}$ ,  $|\alpha| > 0$ , fails to be compact in that case.

For the proof of Theorem 2.55 we need to change coordinates at some point in order to show that some error terms become small. We prove the existence of those so called Kähler coordinates (see [6], [26]) in Proposition 2.59. We have to prove that in some sense those coordinates can be chosen uniformly in  $\varphi$  when  $\varphi$  stays in some bounded set in  $C^{N+4}(D)$  (see Figure 2.2 for a visualization).

# Proposition 2.59

For  $\varphi \in C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{R})$  and any  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$  and any open neighborhood  $U_3 \subset D$  around  $z_0$  there exist an open neighborhood  $U_0 \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  around 0, open neighborhoods  $U_1, U_2 \subset D_{\varphi,+}$  around  $z_0$  and  $C^2$ -map  $F = F_{\varphi} : U_1 \times U_0 \to D$  such that F(z,0) = z,  $F(z, \cdot) : U_0 \to F(z, U_0)$  is biholomorphic,  $U_2 \subset F(z, U_0) \subset U_3$  for all  $z \in U_1$  and

$$\tilde{\varphi}(z, F(z, w)) = |w|^2 - \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \ge 2\\ |\alpha|, |\beta| \le N+2}} c_{\alpha, \beta}(z) w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta} - \eta(z, w)$$

with  $|\eta(z,w)| \leq C|w|^{N+3}$  for some constant C > 0 independent of z.

If  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set  $A \subset C^{N+4}(D,\mathbb{R})$  such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'$  Id is positive definite for all  $\varphi \in A$  and for all z in an open neighborhood D' of  $z_0$  the sets  $U_0, U_1, U_2$ with  $U_1 \subset D'$  and the constant C can be chosen independent of  $\varphi$ . Furthermore,  $\{\eta(z, \cdot)\}_{z \in U_1}$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{C})$  and  $\{c_{\alpha,\beta}(z)\}_{z \in U_1}$  stays in a bounded set in  $\mathbb{C}$  for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$  with  $2 \leq |\alpha|, |\beta| \leq N + 2$ .

Proof. Let  $H_{\varphi}(z) = (\frac{\partial^2 \varphi(z)}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_l})_{1 \leq l,j \leq n}$  be the complex Hessian of  $\varphi$  in  $z \in D$ . We have that  $S_{\varphi}(z) := (\sqrt{H_{\varphi}(z)})^{-1}$  is well defined and of class  $C^{N+2}$  on D' since we can always assume that locally  $\frac{t}{2} \leq v^T H(z) v \leq \frac{3t}{2}$  for all  $v \in \mathbb{C}^n$  of unit length and all  $\varphi \in A$  for some t > 0 to get, by using the Taylor expansion of  $x \mapsto \sqrt{t + (x - t)}$  and Cramer's rule, that  $S_{\varphi}$  is well defined and of class  $C^{N+2}$ . Choose open neighborhoods  $U' \subset \subset$ D' around  $z_0$  and  $U'' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  around 0 such that the smooth map  $F_{\varphi,0} : U' \times U'' \to D$ ,  $F_{\varphi,0}(z, w) = S_{\varphi}(z)w + z$  is well defined for all  $\varphi \in A$ . Then, by a Taylor expansion of  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, F_{\varphi,0}(z, \cdot))$  we can write

$$\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z, F_{\varphi,0}(z, w)) = |w|^{2} + \eta_{1}(z, w) + \overline{\eta_{1}(z, w)} - \eta_{0}(z, w) - \eta(z, w)$$
$$\eta_{1}(z, w) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{2 \le |\alpha| \le N+1} \overline{w}_{j} b_{j,\alpha}(z) w^{\alpha} , \ \eta_{0}(z, w) = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|+|\beta| \ge 3\\ |\alpha|, |\beta| \le N+2}} c_{\alpha,\beta}(z) w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta}$$

where  $b_{j,\alpha}$  and  $c_{\alpha,\beta}$  are  $C^2$ -functions on U' such that  $c_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = 0$  if  $|\alpha| \leq 1$  or  $|\beta| \leq 1$ and  $\eta(z, w) \in O(|w|^{N+3})$ . Note that  $b_{j,\alpha}, c_{\alpha,\beta}$  and  $\eta$  also depend on  $\varphi$ . Throughout this proof by saying  $\eta(z, w) = O(|w|^{N+3})$  we mean  $|\eta(z, w)| \leq C|w|^{N+3}$  for some constant C independent of  $\varphi \in A$  and (z, w) in the domain of definition of  $\eta$ . Define a map  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}: U' \times U'' \to U' \times \mathbb{C}^n$  by  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}(z, w) = (z, G_{\varphi}(z, w))$  where

$$G_{\varphi}(z,w) = \left(w_j + \sum_{2 \le |\alpha| \le N+1} b_{j,\alpha}(z)w^{\alpha}\right)_{1 \le j \le n}$$

The real Jacobi matrix of  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}$  in  $(z_0, 0)$  is the identity map for all  $\varphi \in A$  and hence invertible. Since  $A \subset C^{N+4}(D, \mathbb{R})$  is bounded we have that  $\{\tilde{G}_{\varphi}\}_{\varphi \in A}$  is bounded in the  $C^2$ -norm. Thus, we can shrink U' and U'' independent of  $\varphi \in A$  to ensure that  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}$  is a  $C^2$ -diffeomorphism on its image for all  $\varphi \in A$ . Furthermore, we find that for any  $z \in U'$  the map  $G_{\varphi}(z, \cdot)$  has an invertible differential, is holomorphic and injective and hence biholomorphic on its image (see Lemma 2.19). Since  $\{\tilde{G}_{\varphi}\}_{\varphi \in A}$  is bounded in the  $C^2$ -norm we can find open neighborhoods  $V' \subset U'$  around  $z_0$  and  $V'' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  around 0 independent of  $\varphi \in A$  such that  $V' \times V''$  is contained in the image of  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}$  for all  $\varphi \in A$ . Denote the restriction of the inverse map of  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}: U' \times U'' \to \tilde{G}_{\varphi}(U' \times U'')$  to  $V' \times V''$  by  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}^{-1}$ . We have that  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}^{-1}$  can be written as  $\tilde{G}^{-1}(z,w) = (z, F_{\varphi,1}(z,w))$  where  $F_{\varphi,1}: V' \times V'' \to U''$  is a  $C^2$ -map such that  $F_{\varphi,1}(z,0) = 0$  and  $F_{\varphi,1}(z,\cdot)$  is biholomorphic on its image for any  $z \in V'$ . We find

$$\tilde{\varphi}_N(z, F_{\varphi,0}(z, w)) = |G_{\varphi}(z, w)|^2 - \eta'_0(z, w) - \eta'(z, w)$$

for functions  $\eta', \eta'_0$  depending on  $\varphi$  with  $\eta'(z, w) \in O(|w|^{N+3})$  and

$$\eta_0'(z,w) = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|+|\beta| \ge 3\\ |\alpha|,|\beta| \le N+2}} c_{\alpha,\beta}'(z) w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta}$$
(2.8)

where  $c'_{\alpha,\beta}$  are  $C^2$ -functions on U' such that  $c'_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = 0$  if  $|\alpha| \leq 1$  or  $|\beta| \leq 1$ . Furthermore, we observe that  $\eta'_0(z, F_{\varphi,1}(z, w)) + \eta'(z, F_{\varphi,1}(z, w)) = \tilde{\eta}_0(z, w) + \tilde{\eta}(z, w)$ where  $\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta}_0$  are  $C^2$ -functions such that  $\tilde{\eta}(z, w) = O(|w|^{N+3})$  and  $\tilde{\eta}_0$  can be written in the form (2.8). Define  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}: V' \times V'' \to V' \times D$  by  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}(z, w) = (z, F_{\varphi}(z, w))$  where  $F_{\varphi}(z, w) = F_{\varphi,0}(z, F_{\varphi,1}(z, w))$ . We have that  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}$  is a diffeomorphism on its image and that  $F_{\varphi}(z, 0) = z$  and  $F_{\varphi}(z, \cdot)$  is biholomorphic on its image for any  $z \in V'$  as the composition of the maps  $(z, w) \mapsto (z, F_{\varphi,0}(z, w))$  and  $\tilde{G}_{\varphi}^{-1}$ . Let  $U'_3 \subset \subset U_3$  be an open neighborhood around  $z_0$ . Since  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}(z_0, 0) = (z_0, z_0)$  and the properties of  $\{\tilde{G}_{\varphi}\}_{\varphi \in A}$  we find an open subset of the form  $W' \times W''$  where  $W' \subset V'$  is an open neighborhood around  $z_0$  and  $W'' \subset V''$  is an open neighborhood around 0 such that  $W' \times W'' \subset \tilde{F}_{\varphi}^{-1}(V' \times U'_3)$  holds for all  $\varphi \in A$ . Using similar arguments we find open neighborhoods  $U_1 \subset W'$  and  $U'_2 \subset U'_3 \cap D'$  around  $z_0$  independent of  $\varphi \in A$ satisfying  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}^{-1}(U_1 \times U'_2) \subset W' \times W''$  for all  $\varphi \in A$ . Now set  $U_0 = W''$  and restrict  $F_{\varphi}$  to  $U_1 \times U_0$ . We have that  $F_{\varphi}(z, 0) = z$  and  $F_{\varphi}(z, \cdot)$  is biholomorphic on its image for all  $z \in U_1$ . Furthermore,

$$\tilde{\varphi}(z, F_{\varphi}(z, w)) = |w|^2 - \tilde{\eta}_0(z, w) - \tilde{\eta}(z, w)$$

where  $\tilde{\eta}(z, w) \in O(|w|^{N+3})$  and

$$\tilde{\eta_0}(z,w) = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|+|\beta| \ge 3\\ |\alpha|, |\beta| \le N+2}} \tilde{c}_{\alpha,\beta}(z) w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta}$$

for  $C^2$ -functions  $\tilde{c}_{\alpha,\beta}$  defined on  $U_1$  such that  $\tilde{c}_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = 0$  if  $|\alpha| \leq 1$  or  $|\beta| \leq 1$ . Using standard relations between the derivatives of a map and its inverse (see Theorem 2.6) and the properties of A we find that  $\{F_{\varphi,1}(z,\cdot)\}_{z\in U_1,\varphi\in A}$  and hence  $\{F_{\varphi}(z,\cdot)\}_{z\in U_1,\varphi\in A}$  is bounded in any  $C^l$ -norm. As a conclusion we get that  $\{\tilde{\eta}(z,\cdot)\}_{z\in U_1,\varphi\in A}$  is bounded in  $C^{N+4}(D,\mathbb{C})$  and  $\{\tilde{c}_{\alpha,\beta}(z)\}_{z\in U_1,\varphi\in A}$  is bounded in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Since  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}(U_1 \times U_0) \subset V' \times U'_3$  we find that  $F_{\varphi}(z,U_0) \subset U'_3 \subset C$   $U_3$  for all  $z \in U_1$ and  $\varphi \in A$ . Given  $z \in U_1$  and  $w \in U'_2$  we can find a point  $(z',w') \in U_1 \times U_0$ such that  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}(z',w') = (z,w)$ . By the construction of  $\tilde{F}_{\varphi}$  we have z = z' and hence  $w \in F_{\varphi}(z,U_0)$ . This proves that  $U'_2 \subset F_{\varphi}(z,U_0)$  holds for all  $z \in U_1$  and  $\varphi \in A$ . Taking an open neighborhood  $U_2 \subset C U'_2$  around  $z_0$  finishes the proof.

Let  $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain and assume that U contains the closure of a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}$  of radius  $\delta$  around 0.

#### Definition 2.60

Let f be a holomorphic function on U which vanishes up to order  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  in 0. A (local) decomposition  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w)$  where  $f_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}), f_{\alpha}(w) = \sum_{\beta} a_{\beta}^{(\alpha)} w^{\beta}, |\alpha| = N+1$ , converges absolutely on  $\overline{\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}}$  is called a splitting decomposition (of f) if for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n_0, |\alpha| = N+1$ , the following holds:  $a_{\beta}^{(\alpha)} \neq 0$  implies  $a_{\beta'}^{(\alpha')} = 0$ for all  $\alpha', \beta'$  satisfying  $\alpha' + \beta' = \alpha + \beta, \alpha \neq \alpha', \beta \neq \beta'$ .

Roughly speaking this means that a term  $w^{\beta}$  cannot be contained in the power series expansion of  $w^{\alpha}f_{\alpha}(w)$  and  $w^{\alpha'}f_{\alpha'}(w)$ ,  $\alpha \neq \alpha'$  at the same time.

# Lemma 2.61

Any  $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$  admits a splitting decomposition. Furthermore, given a splitting decomposition  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w)$  and a positive continuous function  $\rho: [0, \delta]^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$  one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}^n_{\tau}} w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w) \overline{w^{\beta} f_{\beta}(w)} \rho(|w_1|^2, \dots, |w_2|^2) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n} = 0$$

for all  $\alpha \neq \beta$ ,  $\tau \leq \delta$ .

Proof. Assume that f vanishes up to order  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  in 0. By assumption U contains the closure of a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}^n_{\tau}$  for some  $\tau > \delta$  around 0. Thus, we can write  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \ge N+1} a_{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$  where the sum on the right hand side converges absolutely on the closure of  $\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}$ . Let  $\alpha(1), \alpha(2), \ldots, \alpha(d_{N+1})$  be an enumeration of the elements in  $\{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \mid |\alpha| = N + 1\}$ . For  $w \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}$  define

$$\tilde{f}_1(w) = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha| \ge N+1\\\alpha - \alpha(1) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n}} a_{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$$

where  $\alpha - \alpha(1) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  means that  $\alpha_j \ge \alpha(1)_j$  holds for all  $1 \le j \le n$ . We have that  $\tilde{f}_1$  is a holomorphic function on  $\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^n$  and that its power series converges absolutely

on  $\overline{\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^{n}}$ . Take  $\alpha(2)$  and do the same construction for  $f - \tilde{f}_{1}$  to obtain  $\tilde{f}_{2}$  and so on. One has that  $f_{l}(w) := \tilde{f}_{l}(w)/w^{\alpha(l)}$ ,  $1 \leq l \leq d_{N+1}$ , defines a holomorphic function on  $\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^{n}$ . Since for any  $|\alpha| \geq N + 1$  there exists at least one  $1 \leq l \leq d_{N+1}$  such that  $\alpha - \alpha^{(l)} \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}$  and by construction we get that  $f(w) = \sum_{l=1}^{d_{N+1}} w^{\alpha(l)} f_{l}(w)$  is a splitting decomposition. To prove the second part of the statement we observe that for  $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$  one has  $\int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{im\theta} d\theta = 0$ . This implies that for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}, \alpha \neq \beta$ , one gets

$$0 = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{i(\alpha_j - \beta_j)\theta} d\theta \right) \cdot \int_{[0,\tau]^n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} r_j^{\alpha_j + \beta_j + 1} \rho(r_1^2, \dots, r_n^2) dr_1 \dots dr_n$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} w^{\alpha} \overline{w^{\beta}} \rho(|w_1|^2, \dots, |w_2|^2) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$$

for any  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Consider a splitting decomposition of f, i.e.  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w)$ and  $w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w) = \sum_{|\beta| \ge N+1} a_{\beta}^{(\alpha)} w^{\beta}$  converges absolutely,  $|\alpha| = N+1$ . By the properties of a splitting decomposition we have that

$$w^{\alpha}f_{\alpha}(w)\overline{w^{\beta}f_{\beta}(w)} = \sum_{\alpha',\beta' \ge N+1} a^{(\alpha)}_{\alpha'}\overline{a^{(\beta)}_{\beta'}}w^{\alpha'}\overline{w^{\beta'}} = \sum_{\alpha',\beta' \ge N+1 \atop \alpha' \ne \beta'} a^{(\alpha)}_{\alpha'}\overline{a^{(\beta)}_{\beta'}}w^{\alpha'}\overline{w^{\beta'}}$$

is a power series which converges absolutely on  $\overline{\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^n}$ . Thus, for  $\tau \leq \delta$  we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^{n}} w^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(w) \overline{w^{\beta}} \overline{f_{\beta}(w)} \rho(|w_{1}|^{2}, \dots, |w_{2}|^{2}) dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{\alpha', \beta' \ge N+1 \\ \alpha' \neq \beta'}} a_{\alpha'}^{(\alpha)} \overline{a_{\beta'}^{(\beta)}} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^{n}} w^{\alpha'} \overline{w^{\beta'}} \rho(|w_{1}|^{2}, \dots, |w_{2}|^{2}) dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}$$

$$= 0.$$

Γ	

#### Lemma 2.62

Let  $S_1 \,\subset \, C^{N+4}(D,\mathbb{R})$  and  $S_2 \,\subset \, C^0(D,\mathbb{R})$  be bounded sets,  $D' \,\subset \, D$  open and  $C'_1, C'_2 > 0$  two constants such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'_1$  Id is positive definite and  $\rho(z) > C'_2$  for all  $\varphi \in S_1$ , all  $\rho \in S_2$  and all  $z \in D'$ . Choose  $U_j, 0 \leq j \leq 3$ , and F as in Proposition 2.59. Assume that  $U_0$  contains the closure of a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta_0}$  of radius  $3\delta_0$  around 0 for some  $\delta_0 > 0$ . One can find an open neighborhood  $U \subset U_1$  around  $z_0$  such that the following holds: For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ , all  $\varphi \in S_1, \rho \in S_2$ , all  $z \in U$  and any  $f \in H^0_k(D)$ , which vanishes up to order N in z, and any splitting decomposition of  $f \circ F(z, \cdot)e^{-k\gamma(z,F(z,\cdot))}$ ,

$$f(F(z,w))e^{-k\gamma(z,F(z,w))} = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha}g_{\alpha,z,k}(w) , g_{\alpha,z,k} \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^{n}_{3\delta_{0}})$$

one has

$$\sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} \sup_{w\in\mathbb{D}^n_{\delta_0}} |g_{\alpha,z,k}(w)|^2 e^{-\frac{3k}{2}\tilde{\varphi}(z,F(z,w))} \le Ck^{N+n+1+\varepsilon} ||f||_k^2.$$

Proof. We can write  $\tilde{\varphi}(z, F(z, w)) = |w|^2 + R(z, w)$  where  $|R(z, w)| \leq C_0 |w|^3$  for some constant  $C_0 > 0$  independent of  $z \in U_1$  and  $\varphi \in S_1$ . Thus, we can find  $\delta > 0$ such that  $|R(z, w)/|w|^2| \leq 1/5$  on  $U_1 \times \mathbb{D}^n_{3\delta}$ . Setting  $C_1 = 6/5$  we conclude that

$$\tilde{\varphi}(z, F(z, w)) \le C_1 |w|^2 \le \frac{3}{2} \tilde{\varphi}(z, F(z, w))$$

holds for all  $w \in \mathbb{D}_{3\delta}^n$ ,  $z \in U$  and  $\varphi \in S_1$ . Applying Lemma 2.30 for  $\varphi(w) = C_1 |w|^2$ and  $\rho \equiv 1$  we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of  $g_{\alpha,z,k}$  and k such that

$$k^{-(N+1+n+\varepsilon)} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\delta}} |g_{\alpha,z,k}(w)|^2 e^{-kC_1|w|^2} \le \frac{C_2}{n} \int_{\mathbb{D}^n_{2\delta}} |w^{\alpha}g_{\alpha,z,k}(w)|^2 e^{-kC_1|w|^2} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}(w)$$

holds. By Lemma 2.61 we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}} \left| \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha} g_{\alpha,z,k}(w) \right|^{2} e^{-kC_{1}|w|^{2}} dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w)$$
$$= \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}} |w^{\alpha} g_{\alpha,z,k}(w)|^{2} e^{-kC_{1}|w|^{2}} dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w).$$

Write  $dV_{z,U_0}(w) := F^*(z,w)(\rho(w)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}) = \rho(z,w)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  for  $\rho \in S_2$ . There is a constant  $C_3 > 0$  independent of  $\rho \in S_2$  such that  $C_3\rho(z,w) > 1$  holds for all  $(z,w) \in U \times \mathbb{D}^n_{2\delta}$ . Thus, one finds

$$\begin{aligned} k^{-(N+1+n+\varepsilon)} & \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\delta}^{n}} |g_{\alpha,z,k}(w)|^{2} e^{-\frac{3k}{2}\tilde{\varphi}(z,F(z,w))} \\ & \leq C_{2} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}} |f(F(z,w))e^{-k\gamma(z,F(z,w))}|^{2} e^{-kC_{1}|w|^{2}} dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w) \\ & \leq C_{2} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}} |f(F(z,w))|^{2} e^{-k(\tilde{\varphi}(z,F(z,w))+\gamma(z,F(z,w))+\overline{\gamma(z,F(z,w))})} dV_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}(w) \\ & \leq C_{2}C_{3} \int_{\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n}} |f(F(z,w))|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(F(z,w))} dV_{z,U_{0}}(w) \\ & = C_{2}C_{3} \int_{F(z,\mathbb{D}_{2\delta}^{n})} |f(w)|^{2} e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_{D}(w) \leq C_{2}C_{3} ||f||_{k}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The following lemma is crucial for the proof of Theorem 2.55.

# Lemma 2.63

Let  $U_0 \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be an open neighborhood around 0 and  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer. Furthermore, let  $R, S \subset C^{N+3}(U_0)$  be bounded sets with supp  $s \subset U_0$  for all  $s \in S$  and that there is a constant  $C_0 > 0$  such that  $|\eta(w)| \leq C_0 |w|^{N+3}$  holds for all  $\eta \in R$  and  $w \in U_0$ . Let  $\xi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  be a cutoff function  $0 \leq \xi \leq 1$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(\xi) \subset (-2\delta, 2\delta) \subset (-1, 1), \ \xi \equiv 1 \ on \ (-\delta, \delta) \ for \ some \ \delta > 0 \ such \ that \ U_0$ contains the closure of a ball of radius  $3\delta$  around 0. Set

$$R_{0} = \left\{ w \mapsto \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|, |\beta| \geq 2 \\ |\alpha|, |\beta| \leq N+2}} c_{\alpha,\beta} w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta} \middle| c_{\alpha,\beta} \in A \right\} \subset C^{\infty}(U_{0})$$

where  $A \subset \mathbb{C}$  is some bounded set. For  $\eta \in R$ ,  $\eta_0 \in R_0$  and  $s \in S$  set

$$G_{\alpha,k}(w) = e^{-k(\eta_0(w) + \eta(w))} \overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \left( s(w) e^{k(\eta_0(w) + \eta(w))} \right).$$

There exists a constant C > 0 such that for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = N + 1$ , all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ and all  $\eta \in R$ ,  $\eta_0 \in R_0$ ,  $s \in S$  one has

$$\sup_{w \in U_0} |\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2) G_{\alpha,k}(w)| \le Ck^{\varepsilon 2(N+1)}.$$

*Proof.* First we notice that

$$\sup_{|\alpha| \le N} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{3\delta}} |\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} s(w)| \le C_1$$

for some constant  $C_1 > 0$  independent of k and  $s \in S$ . Next, we find for  $|\alpha| \leq N+1$ that  $|\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha}\eta(w)| \leq C_2|w|^{N+3-|\alpha|}$  for some constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of  $w \in \mathbb{D}_{3\delta}$ ,  $\eta \in R$  and  $\alpha$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N+1$ . Set  $\xi_k(w) = \xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2)$ . Since  $\operatorname{supp}(\xi) \subset (-2\delta, 2\delta)$ , i.e.  $\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2) = 0$  for  $|w|^2 \geq 2\delta k^{\varepsilon-1}$ , we conclude

$$|\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha}\eta(w)| \le C_2 |w|^{N+3-|\alpha|} \le C_3 k^{-(1-\varepsilon)(N+3-|\alpha|)}$$

for all  $w \in \operatorname{supp} \xi_k$ ,  $\eta \in R$  and  $\alpha$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N+1$ , where we choose  $C_3 > 0$  such that  $C_2(2\delta)^{N+3-|\alpha|} \leq C_3$  for all  $|\alpha| \leq N+1$ . One has

$$k^{m} |\prod_{j=1}^{m} \overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha(j)} \eta(w)| \leq C_{3}^{m} k^{-\frac{m}{2}(1-\varepsilon)(N+3)} k^{\frac{1}{2}|\alpha|(1-\varepsilon)+m} \leq (1+C_{3})^{N+1} k^{\varepsilon} k^{-\frac{m-1}{2}(N-1)(1-\varepsilon)} \leq C_{4} k^{\varepsilon}$$

for all  $\alpha(1), \ldots, \alpha(m) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $1 \leq m \leq N+1$ ,  $|\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha(j)| \leq N+1$ . Thus, there exists  $C_5$  such that

$$\left|e^{-k\eta(w)}\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\alpha}e^{k\eta(w)}\right| \leq C_{5}k^{(N+1)\varepsilon}$$

for all  $\eta \in R$ ,  $w \in \operatorname{supp} \xi_k$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N + 1$  and  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . For  $\alpha', \beta' \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  such that  $|\alpha'|, |\beta'| \geq 2$  one has

$$|\overline{\partial}^{\alpha}_{w}w^{\beta'}\overline{w}^{\alpha'}| \leq |w|^{|\beta'|} \leq |w|^{2}.$$

Thus, we find a constant  $C_6 > 0$  such that for all  $\eta_0 \in R_0$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N + 1$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ and  $w \in \operatorname{supp}(\xi_k)$  one has  $|\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \eta_0(w)| \leq C_6 k^{-1+\varepsilon}$  and hence there exists a constant  $C_7 > 0$  independent of  $\eta_0 \in R_0$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $w \in \operatorname{supp}(\xi_k)$  such that

$$k^m |\prod_{j=1}^m \overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha(j)} \eta_0(w)| \le C_7 k^{(N+1)\varepsilon}$$

holds for all  $\alpha(1), \ldots, \alpha(m) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $1 \leq m \leq N+1$ ,  $|\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha(j)| \leq N+1$ . We conclude that there is a constant  $C_8 > 0$  such that for any  $\eta_0 \in R_0$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $w \in \operatorname{supp}(\xi_k)$  and  $|\alpha| \leq N+1$  one has

$$\left|e^{-k\eta_0(w)}\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha}e^{k\eta_0(w)}\right| \le C_8 k^{(N+1)\varepsilon}.$$

As a conclusion we find a constant C > 0 such that  $|G_{\alpha,k}(w)| \leq Ck^{2\varepsilon(N+1)}$  for all  $\eta \in R, \eta_0 \in R_0, s \in S, k \in [1, \infty), w \in \operatorname{supp}(\xi_k)$  and  $|\alpha| = N + 1$  or in other words

$$\sup_{w \in U_0} |\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2) G_{\alpha,k}(w)| \le Ck^{2\varepsilon(N+1)}$$

for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

**Proof of Theorem 2.55.** Let  $S_1 \,\subset C^{N+4}(D,\mathbb{R})$  and  $S_2 \,\subset C^{N+1}(D,\mathbb{R})$  be bounded sets,  $D' \subset C$  D open and  $C'_1, C'_2 > 0$  two constants such that  $H_{\varphi}(z) - C'_1$  Id is positive definite and  $\rho(z) > C'_2$  for all  $\varphi \in S_1$ , all  $\rho \in S_2$  and all  $z \in D'$ . Fix  $0 < \varepsilon' < 1$  and  $z_0 \in D'$ . Choose an open neighborhood  $V \subset D'$  around  $z_0$  such that for  $\varphi|_V$  the point  $z_0$  has the N-th localization property. Now, there exists an open neighborhood  $V' \subset V$  such that  $\varphi|_V$  has the N-th localization property for any point  $z \in V'$  and any  $\varphi \in S_1$ . More precisely there exists a constant  $C'_3 > 0$  with  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \geq C|w-z|^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in V' \times V$  and  $\varphi \in S_1$  (see Lemma 2.47). Apply Proposition 2.59 where we assume  $U_1 \subset V'$  and  $U_3 \subset V$ . Choose the cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R})$  to be supported in  $U_2$  and  $\chi \equiv 1$  on some open neighborhood  $U' \subset U_2$  around  $z_0$ . Set

$$A_k(z) := \int_D f(w) \overline{(w-z)}^\beta e^{k\overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}} \chi(w) e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_D(w)$$
$$= \int_{U_0} g(z,w) h(z,w) e^{k\overline{\gamma_{N,F}(z,w)}} e^{-k\varphi(F(z,w))} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$

where g(z, w) = f(F(z, w)) is holomorphic in w and  $h(z, w) = \overline{(F(z, w) - z)}^{\beta} \chi(F(z, w))$ ,  $\gamma_{N,F}(z, w) = \gamma(z, F(z, w)), \ dV_{z,U_0}(\cdot) = F(z, \cdot)^* dV_D$ . Note that  $\operatorname{supp}(h(z, \cdot)) \subset U_1$ holds for all  $z \in U_1$ . We further set  $\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z, w) = \tilde{\varphi}_N(z, F(z, w))$  and can assume that  $U_0$  contains the closure of a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}^n_{3\tau}$  of radius  $3\tau$  around 0 for some  $\tau > 0$ .

Choose a cutoff function  $\xi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}), 0 \leq \xi \leq 1$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(\xi) \subset (-2\delta, 2\delta) \subset (-1, 1), \xi \equiv 1$  on  $(-\delta, \delta)$  where  $\sqrt{\delta} < \tau$ . Consider the term

$$\begin{aligned} A_{1,k}(z) &:= \left| \int_{U_0} g(z,w) h(z,w) e^{k \overline{\gamma_{N,F}(z,w)}} (1-\xi(|w|^2)) e^{-k\varphi(F(z,w))} dV_{z,U_0}(w) \right|^2 \\ &\leq \|f\|_k^2 \int_{U_0} |h(z,w)|^2 |(1-\xi(|w|^2))|^2 e^{-k \tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w). \end{aligned}$$

By the assumptions on  $\tilde{\varphi}_N$ ,  $U_1$  and the properties of F from Proposition 2.59 we find a constant  $C_1$  independent of  $k, z \in U_1$  and  $\varphi \in S_1$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w) \geq C_1 |w|^2$ . Then, we conclude

$$\int_{U_0} |h(z,w)|^2 (1-\xi(|w|^2))|^2 e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$
  

$$\leq \int_{U_0} |h(z,w)|^2 |(1-\xi(|w|^2))|^2 e^{-kC_1|w|^2} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$
  

$$\leq e^{-C_1\delta k} \int_{U_0} |h(z,w)|^2 dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$

where  $\int_{U_0} |h(z, w)|^2 dV_{z, U_0}(w)$  is uniformly bounded in  $z \in U_1, \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Now, consider

$$A_{2,k}(z) := \int_{U_0} g(z, w) s(z, w) e^{k \overline{\gamma_{N,F}(z, w)}} e^{-k\varphi(F(z, w))} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$
  
= 
$$\int_{U_0} g(z, w) e^{-k\gamma_{N,F}(z, w)} s(z, w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z, w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$

where  $s(z, w) := h(z, w)\xi(|w|^2)$ . Since  $U_0$  contains the closure of a polydisc  $\mathbb{D}_{3\tau}^n$  of radius  $3\tau$  around 0 we find by the assumption on f a splitting decomposition of  $g(z, \cdot)e^{-k\gamma_{N,F}(z, \cdot)}$  as

$$g(z,w)e^{-k\gamma_{N,F}(z,w)} = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} w^{\alpha}g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)$$

where  $g_{z,\alpha,k}$  are holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{D}^n_{3\tau}$ . By the properties of s we can write  $A_{2,k}(z) = \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} B_{\alpha,k}(z)$  where

$$B_{\alpha,k}(z) := \int_{U_0} w^{\alpha} g_{z,\alpha,k}(w) s(z,w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w).$$

We write

$$\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w) = |w|^2 - \eta_0(z,w) - \eta(z,w)$$

as in Proposition 2.59 where

$$\eta_0(z,w) = \sum_{\substack{|\alpha|+|\beta| \ge 3\\ |\alpha|, |\beta| \le N+2}} c_{\alpha,\beta}(z) w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta}$$

such that  $c_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = 0$  if  $|\alpha| \le 1$  or  $|\beta| \le 1$  and  $\eta(z,w) = O(|w|^{N+3})$ . Furthermore, set

$$G_{\alpha,k}(z,w) = \rho(z,w)^{-1} e^{-k(\eta_0(z,w)+\eta(z,w))}$$
$$\cdot \overline{\partial}_w^\alpha \left( \rho(z,w) s(z,w) e^{k(\eta_0(z,w)+\eta(z,w))} \right)$$

where  $\rho(z, w) dV_{\mathbb{C}^n} = dV_{z,U_0}(w)$ . One calculates

$$B_{\alpha,k}(z) = (-k)^{-N-1} \int_{U_0} g_{z,\alpha,k}(w) s(z,w) e^{k(\eta_0(z,w) + \eta(z,w))} (\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} e^{-k|w|^2}) dV_{z,U_0}(w)$$
  
=  $k^{-N-1} \int_{U_0} g_{z,\alpha,k}(w) G_{\alpha,k}(z,w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w)$ 

For  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon'/8(N+1), \, 0 < \varepsilon' < 1$ , consider the term

$$B_{1,\alpha,k}(z) := \left| \int_{U_0} g_{z,\alpha,k}(w) (1 - \xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2)) G_{\alpha,k}(z,w) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w) \right|$$
  
$$\leq \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)| e^{-\frac{3k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} |G_{\alpha,k}(z,w)|$$
  
$$\cdot \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} (1 - \xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2))^2 e^{-\frac{k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w).$$

We observe that  $|G_{\alpha,k}(z,w)| \leq C_2 k^{N+1}$  for some constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of k,  $z \in U_1, w \in U_0, \varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Furthermore, we have  $\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w) \geq C_1 |w|^2$ . Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^{n}} (1 - \xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^{2}))^{2} e^{-\frac{k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_{0}}(w) \le C_{3} e^{-C_{1}\frac{\delta}{4}k^{\varepsilon}}$$

for some constant  $C_3 > 0$  independent of  $k, z, \varphi$  and  $\rho$  which implies

$$B_{1,\alpha,k}(z) \le C_2 C_3 e^{-C_1 \delta k^{\varepsilon}} k^{N+1} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\tau}} |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)| e^{-\frac{3k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)}$$

Now, consider

$$B_{2,\alpha,k}(z) := \left| \int_{U_0} g_{z,\alpha,k}(w) G_{\alpha,k}(z,w) \xi(k^{1-\varepsilon} |w|^2) e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w) \right|$$
  
$$\leq \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)| e^{-\frac{3k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} |\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon} |w|^2) G_{\alpha,k}(z,w)|$$
  
$$\cdot \int_{\mathbb{D}_{\tau}^n} e^{-\frac{k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w).$$

A similar argument as above and Example 2.45 leads to

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}^n_\tau} e^{-\frac{k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{N,F}(z,w)} dV_{z,U_0}(w) \le C_4 k^{-n}$$

for some constant  $C_4 > 0$  independent of  $k, z, \varphi$  and  $\rho$  which implies

$$B_{2,\alpha,k}(z) \le C_4 k^{-n} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}^n_\tau} |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)| e^{-\frac{3k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_F(z,w)} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}^n_\tau} |\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2) G_{\alpha,k}(z,w)|.$$

Using Lemma 2.63 and Lemma 2.62 we find an open neighborhood  $U \subset U_1$  around  $z_0, k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and constants  $C_5, C_6 > 0$  such that

$$|\xi(k^{1-\varepsilon}|w|^2)G_{\alpha,k}(z,w)| \le C_5 k^{2(N+1)\varepsilon}$$

and

$$\sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}^n_{\tau}} |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)|^2 e^{-\frac{3k}{2}\tilde{\varphi}_F(z,w)} \le C_6 k^{N+1+n+\frac{\varepsilon'}{2}} ||f||_k^2$$

holds for all  $z \in U$ ,  $k \geq k_0$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| = N + 1$ ,  $w \in U_0$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ and f with the properties mentioned above and all splitting decompositions for  $f(F(z, \cdot))e^{-k\gamma_F(z, \cdot)}$ . Then we have

$$|B_{\alpha,k}(z)| \leq k^{-(N+1+n)+2(N+1)\varepsilon} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{D}_{\tau}^{n}} \left( |g_{z,\alpha,k}(w)| e^{-\frac{3k}{4}\tilde{\varphi}_{F}(z,w)} \right) \cdot \left( C_{2}C_{3}e^{-C_{1}\delta k^{\varepsilon}} k^{N+1+n-2(N+1)\varepsilon} + C_{4}C_{5} \right) \leq k^{-\frac{N+1+n}{2} + \frac{8(N+1)\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}{4}} ||f||_{k} \left( C_{2}C_{3}e^{-C_{1}\delta k^{\varepsilon}} k^{N+1+n-2(N+1)\varepsilon} + C_{4}C_{5} \right) \leq k^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon'}{2}} C_{7} ||f||_{k}$$

some constant  $C_7 > 0$  independent of  $z \in U$ ,  $k \geq k_0$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and f or its decomposition respectively such that  $C_2C_3e^{-C_1\delta k^{\varepsilon}}k^{N+1+n-(N+1)\varepsilon} + C_4C_5 \leq C_7$  for all  $k \geq k_0$ . Putting all together we find

$$\left| \int_{D} f(w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\beta} e^{k\overline{\gamma(z,w)}} \chi(w) e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_{D}(w) \right| \leq A_{1,k}(z) + \sum_{|\alpha|=N+1} |B_{\alpha,k}(z)|$$
$$\leq Ck^{-\frac{N+1+n-\varepsilon'}{2}} \|f\|_{k}$$

for some constant C independent of  $z \in U$ ,  $k \geq k_0$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and f. From Lemma 2.29 Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and the compactness of  $[1, k_0]$  we can choose C such that the statement holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

# **2.8 Decomposition of** $H^0_k(D)$

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain with volume form  $dV_D = \rho dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  where  $\rho \in C^{2(N+n+1)}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  is positive on  $\overline{D}$  and consider a weight  $\varphi \in C^{3(N+n)+4}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ . Given  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $z \in D$  let  $V_{z,N,k} \subset H^0_k(D) = H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  be the linear subspace spanned by the linear independent set

$$\{w \mapsto (w-z)^{\alpha} e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}\}_{|\alpha| \le N}.$$

Let  $W_{z,N,k} \subset H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  the linear subspace which consists of all elements in  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  vanishing up to order N in z, i.e

$$W_{z,N,k} := \left\{ f \in H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) \mid \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} f}{\partial^{\alpha} w}(z) = 0 \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n_0 , \, |\alpha| \le N \right\}.$$
For any holomorphic function f on D we can write the Taylor expansion in z up to order N as

$$T_{z,N}(f)(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} f}{\partial^{\alpha} w}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}.$$

Then, define the linear map  $T_{z,N,k}: H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) \to H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  by

$$T_{z,N,k}(f)(w) = e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}T_{z,N}(e^{-k\gamma_N(z,\cdot)}f(\cdot))(w).$$

We will show that  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  can be written as the direct sum of  $V_{z,N,k}$  and  $W_{z,N,k}$  with respective projection  $T_{z,N,k}$ .

## Lemma 2.64

One has  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) = V_{z,N,k} \oplus W_{z,N,k}$  where the respective projections are given by  $T_{z,N,k}$  or  $I - T_{z,N,k}$  respectively. More precisely,  $T_{z,N,k}$  is a projection, i.e.  $T_{z,N,k} \circ T_{z,N,k} = T_{z,N,k}$ , such that  $\operatorname{ran}(T_{z,N,k}) = V_{z,N,k}$  and  $\ker(T_{z,N,k}) = W_{z,N,k}$ .

*Proof.* By construction one has  $\operatorname{ran}(T_{z,N,k}) \subset V_{z,N,k}$ . Given a polynomial  $p, p(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq N} c_{\alpha}(w-z)^{\alpha}$ , of degree lower than or equal to N one has  $T_{z,N}p = p$ . For  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$  write

$$f(w) = e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} c_\alpha (w-z)^\alpha$$

and consider the polynomial p defined by  $p(w) = e^{-k\gamma_N(z,w)}f(w)$ . One gets

$$T_{z,N,k}f(w) = e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}(T_{z,N}p)(w) = e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}p(w) = f(w)$$

and hence  $V_{z,N,k} \subset \operatorname{ran}(T_{z,N,k})$  as well as  $T_{z,N,k} \circ T_{z,N,k} = T_{z,N,k}$ . Since  $w \mapsto e^{-k\gamma_N(z,w)}$ does not vanish we have  $f \in W_{z,N,k}$  if and only if  $e^{-k\gamma_N(z,\cdot)}f(\cdot) \in W_{z,N,k}$ . Furthermore, one observes that  $f \in W_{z,N,k}$  if and only if  $T_{z,N}f = 0$ . Thus, we conclude that  $\ker(T_{z,N,k}) = W_{z,N,k}$ .

We would like to study the restriction of  $\|\cdot\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$  to  $V_{z,N,k}$ . Therefore, we set  $v_{\alpha,k,z}(w) = k^{\frac{|\alpha|+n}{2}}(w-z)^{\alpha}e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ ,  $k \in [1,\infty)$  and  $z, w \in D$ . Then,  $\{v_{\alpha,k,z}\}_{|\alpha|\leq N}$  is a basis for  $V_{z,N,k\varphi}$  and we define a norm  $\|\cdot\|_{k;2}$  by  $\|f\|_{k;2}^2 = \sum_{|\alpha|\leq N} |c_{\alpha}|^2$  for  $f = \sum_{|\alpha|\leq N} c_{\alpha}v_{\alpha,k,z} \in V_{z,N,k\varphi}$ .

## Lemma 2.65

Given  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $D' \subset D_N$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} \ge C ||f||_{k;2}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $f \in V_{z,N,k\varphi}$ . Moreover, C > 0 can be chosen independent of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  if  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set  $S_1 \subset C^{3(N+n)+4}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times D} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2$  has a positive lower bound and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set  $S_2 \subset C^{2(N+n+1)}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{z\in D} \rho(z)$  has a positive lower bound. *Proof.* Let  $R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$  be the space of homogeneous polynomials of degree M in n complex variables, i.e.

$$R_M(\mathbb{C}^n) = \{ f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \dots, z_n] \mid f(\lambda z) = \lambda^M f(z) \text{ for all } \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \}.$$

First, we observe that  $(f,g)^{\mathrm{Id}} = \Delta^M f(z)\overline{g(z)} \in \mathbb{C}$  defines a Hermitian inner product on  $R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , because  $\Delta^M z^{\alpha} \overline{z}^{\beta} = \alpha! \beta! \delta_{\alpha,\beta}$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  with  $|\alpha| = |\beta| = M$ , and  $\{z^{\alpha} \mid |\alpha| = M\}$  is a basis for  $R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , where  $\Delta = \langle \partial_z, \overline{\partial}_z \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_j}$ . Given  $A \in \mathrm{Gl}_n(\mathbb{C})$  we have that  $f \mapsto f \circ A$  defines an automorphism on  $R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Since  $\langle A^{-1}\partial_z, \overline{A^{-1}\partial_z} \rangle^M f(z)\overline{g(z)} = \Delta^M f(Az)\overline{g(Az)}$  we find out that

$$(f,g)^A = \langle A^{-1}\partial_z, \overline{A^{-1}\partial_z} \rangle^M f(z)\overline{g(z)}$$

defines a Hermitian inner product on  $R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$  as well. For  $0 \leq M \leq N$  let  $R_{z,M,k}$  be the linear span of the linear independent set  $\{v_{\alpha,k,z}\}_{|\alpha|=M}$ . By Theorem 2.50 we find

$$|(v_{\alpha,k,z}, v_{\beta,k,z})_{k\varphi,\rho} - \rho(z) \det(H_{\varphi}(z))^{-1} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^M w^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\beta}| \le C_1 k^{-1}$$

for some constant  $C_1 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha|, |\beta| = M$ . Given  $f \in R_{z,M,k}$  write  $f = \sum_{|\alpha|=M} c_{\alpha} v_{\alpha,k,z}$  and we observe that the function g defined by  $g(w) = e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,z+w)}f(z+w)$  satisfies  $g \in R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . We conclude that

$$|||f||_k^2 - \rho(z) \det(H_{\varphi}(z))^{-1} \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1} \partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^M g(w) \overline{g(w)}| \le C_2 k^{-1} \sum_{|\alpha|=M} |c_{\alpha}|^2$$

for some constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in R_{z,M,k}$ . Since  $\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle = \langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\partial_w, \overline{H_{\varphi}(z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}}\partial_w \rangle$  we find, using the considerations above, that

$$\langle H_{\varphi}(z)^{-1}\partial_w, \overline{\partial}_w \rangle^M g(w)\overline{g(w)} \ge C_3 \sum_{|\alpha|=M} |c_{\alpha}|^2$$

holds for some constant  $C_3 > 0$  independent of  $z \in D'$  and  $g \in R_M(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Thus, one has

$$||f||_{k\varphi,\rho}^2 \ge (C_3 - k^{-1}C_2) ||f||_{k;2}^2$$

By using Theorem 2.50 we find for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq N$ ,  $|\alpha| \neq |\beta|$  that

$$|(v_{\alpha,k,z}, v_{\beta,k,z})_{k\varphi,\rho}| \le C_4 k^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

holds where  $C_4 > 0$  is a constant independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Thus, we find a constant  $C_5 > 0$  such that  $|(f, g)_{k\varphi,\rho}| \leq C_5 k^{-\frac{1}{2}} (||f||_{k;2}^2 + ||g||_{k;2}^2)$ 

for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $s \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in R_{z,M,k}$ ,  $g \in R_{z,M',k}$  such that  $M \neq M'$ . Using the decomposition  $V_{z,N,k} = \bigoplus_{M=0}^{N} R_{z,M,k}$  we find constants  $C_6, C_7 > 0$  with  $||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} \ge (C_6 - C_7 k^{-\frac{1}{2}}) ||f||_{k;2}$ . Thus, there exist  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $C_8 > 0$ such that  $||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} \ge C ||f||_{k,2}$  holds for all  $k \ge k_0$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in$  $V_{z,N,k}$ . We have  $||f||_{k\varphi,\rho}/||f||_{k;2} > 0$  for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $f \in V_{z,N,k} \setminus \{0\}$  and there exists a constant  $C_9 > 0$  with  $-C_9 \le \inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N \le \sup_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N \le C_9$ ,  $\inf_{z\in\overline{D}}\rho > 1/C_9$  for all  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Together with the compactness of  $\{f \in$  $V_{z,N,k} \mid ||f||_{k;2} = 1\}$  and  $[1, k_0]$  we find a constant  $C_{10} > 0$  with  $||f||_{k\varphi,\rho}/||f||_{k;2} \ge C_{10}$ for all  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$ ,  $k \in [1, k_0]$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Putting  $C = \min\{C_8, C_{10}\}$  finishes the proof.

We have the decomposition  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) = V_{z,N,k} \oplus V^{\perp}_{z,N,k}$  where  $V^{\perp}_{z,N,k}$  denotes the orthogonal complement of  $V_{z,N,k}$  in  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ . The main result we want to prove in this section shows that the restriction of  $\operatorname{Id} -T_{z,N,k}$  to  $V^{\perp}_{z,N,k}$  is bounded by a constant independent of k and locally uniformly in  $z \subset D'$ . In particular, we will show the following.

## Theorem 2.66

Given  $D' \subset \subset D_N$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

 $\|(\mathrm{Id} - T_{z,N,k})f\|_{k\varphi,\rho} \le C \|f\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$ 

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$  and  $f \in V_{z,N,k}^{\perp}$ . Moreover, C > 0 can be chosen independent of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  if  $\varphi$  stays in a bounded set  $S_1 \subset C^{3N+3n+4}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ such that  $\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times D} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|w-z|^2$  has a positive lower bound and  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set  $S_2 \subset C^{2N+2n+2}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{z\in D} \rho(z)$  has a positive lower bound.

In order to prove Theorem 2.66 we need the following lemma which shows that  $V_{z,N,k}$  and  $W_{z,N,k}$  become asymptotically orthogonal, i.e.  $W_{z,N,k} \to V_{z,N,k}^{\perp}$  when k goes to infinity.

#### Lemma 2.67

In the situation of Theorem 2.66 we have that for any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|(f,g)_{k\varphi,\rho}| \le Ck^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} ||g||_{k\varphi,\rho}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$  and  $g \in W_{z,N,k}$ .

*Proof.* We define another norm on  $V_{z,N,k}$  which is the maximum norm with respect to the basis

$$\{w \mapsto (w-z)^{\alpha} e^{k\gamma(z,w)}\}_{|\alpha| \le N},$$

i.e.  $||f||_{k;\infty} := \max_{|\alpha| \leq N} |c_{\alpha}|$  where  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq N} c_{\alpha}(w-z)^{\alpha} e^{k\gamma_N(z,w)}$ . One has  $||f||_{k;\infty} \leq k^{\frac{N+n}{2}} ||f||_{k;2}$  and hence, using Lemma 2.65, we find a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that  $||f||_{k;\infty} \leq C_2 k^{\frac{N+n}{2}} ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho}$  holds for all  $k \in [1,\infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ , and  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$ . Then, we can apply Corollary 2.56 and get for  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$  and  $g \in W_{z,N,k}$  that

$$|(f,g)_{k\varphi,\rho}| \le C_1 k^{-\frac{N+n+1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f||_{k;\infty} ||g||_{k\varphi,\rho} \le C k^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} ||g||_{k\varphi,\rho}$$

holds. In other words, for any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $|(f,g)_{k\varphi,\rho}| \leq Ck^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} ||g||_{k\varphi,\rho}$  holds for all  $k \in [1,\infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ ,  $f \in V_{z,N,k}$  and  $g \in W_{z,N,k}$ .

**Proof of Theorem 2.66.** Given  $f \in V_{z,N,k}^{\perp}$  write  $f = f_1 + f_2$  where  $f_1 = T_{z,N,k} f \in V_{z,N,k}$  and  $f_2 = (I - T_{z,N,k}) f \in W_{z,N,k}$  respectively. We find  $0 = (f_1, f)_{k\varphi,\rho} = ||f_1||_{k\varphi,\rho}^2 + (f_1, f_2)_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and hence, using Lemma 2.67 for some  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ ,  $||f_1||_{k\varphi,\rho}^2 = |(f_1, f_2)_{k\varphi,\rho}| \le C_1 k^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f_1||_{k\varphi,\rho} ||f_2||_{k\varphi,\rho}$  which implies  $||f_1||_{k\varphi,\rho} \le C_1 k^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}} ||f_2||_{k\varphi,\rho}$ . Thus, we have  $||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} \ge ||f_2||_{k\varphi,\rho} - ||f_1||_{k\varphi,\rho} \ge ||f_2||_{k\varphi,\rho} (1 - C_1 k^{-\frac{1-\varepsilon}{2}})$  and we can find  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and C > 0 such that  $||(I - T_{z,N,k})f||_{k\varphi,\rho} \le C ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho}$  for all  $k \ge k_0$ ,  $z \in D', \varphi \in S_1, \rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in V_{z,N,k}^{\perp}$ . From the compactness of  $[1, k_0]$  and the assumption that  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are bounded sets we find by using Lemma 2.28 that C > 0 can be chosen such that the statement holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$ .

## Chapter 3

## Bergman Kernel Expansion

In this chapter we prove the main results announced in Section 1.2 and Section 1.3. We construct the local asymptotically reproducing kernel in Section 3.1. Theorem 1.3 then follows from Lemma 3.4 and Lemma 3.8. In Section 3.2 we establish a formula for the coefficients in the Bergman kernel expansion (see Definition 1.4 and Example 1.11). The main calculations for the explicit formulas are performed in the proof of Theorem 3.17. With that formulas Theorem 1.6 and Theorem 1.7 follow from Lemma 3.9 and Lemma 3.12 (see Theorem 3.20, Theorem 3.21 and Corollary 3.26).

In Section 3.3 we introduce some basic notations from complex geometry in order to apply Theorem 1.3 in the manifold case (see Lemma 3.30). Using Hörmander's  $L^2$  estimates in a version due to Demailly (see Theorem 3.31) we prove Theorem 1.15 and Theorem 1.16 in Section 3.4 (see Theorem 3.36 and Theorem 3.38).

## 3.1 Local Expansion of the Bergman Kernel

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain and let  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), \ \rho \in C^{4N+2n+2}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  be two real valued functions such that  $\rho > 0$  on  $\overline{D}$  holds. Define a volume form on D by  $dV_D(z) = \rho(z)dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . For any  $k \in [1,\infty)$  set

$$H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D) = \{ f \in \mathcal{O}(D) \mid ||f||_{k\varphi,\rho} < \infty \}$$

where the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$  is induced by the weighted inner product  $(\cdot,\cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$  given by

$$(f,g)_{k\varphi,\rho} = \int_D f(z)\overline{g(z)}e^{-k\varphi(z)}dV_D(z)$$
, for all  $f,g \in L^2(D)$ .

Thus,  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  is the space of holomorphic functions on D with finite  $L^2$ -norm. Let  $K_k := K_{k\varphi,\rho}$  the reproducing kernel,  $P_k := P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  the Bergman kernel and  $B_k := B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  the Bergman kernel function for the space  $H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$  (see Definition 2.34). For brevity, we will also use the notations  $H^0_k(D) := H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D)$ ,  $(\cdot, \cdot)_k := (\cdot, \cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_k := \|\cdot\|_{k\varphi,\rho}$  in this section. Let  $\gamma_N, \tilde{\varphi}_N : D \times \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$  be defined by

$$\gamma_N(z,w) = \frac{\varphi(z)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le N+2} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} \varphi(z)}{\partial^{\alpha} z} (w-z)^{\alpha}$$

and  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) = \varphi(w) - \gamma_N(z,w) - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}$ . Given  $\alpha, \alpha', \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  and  $z \in D$  we set

$$a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z) = \int_{D} \overline{(w-z)^{\alpha}} (w-z)^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_{N}(z,w)} dV_{D}(w)$$
  

$$A_{N,k}(z) = (a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z))_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le N} \text{ and } A_{N,\alpha',k}(z) = (a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z))_{|\alpha|,|\beta| \le N,|\alpha| \ne 0,\beta \ne \alpha'}$$

where we define an order on  $\mathbb{N}_0^n$  by saying  $\alpha < \beta$  if  $|\alpha| < |\beta|$  and using lexicographic order for  $|\alpha| = |\beta|$ . We have that  $A_{N,k}(z)$  and  $A_{N,\alpha',k}(z)$  are square matrices and that  $A_{N,k}(z)$  is invertible as the restriction of  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$  to the finite dimensional subspace

$$V_{N,z,k} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ w \mapsto (w-z)^{\alpha} e^{k\gamma(z,w)} \}_{|\alpha| \le N} \subset H^0_{k\varphi,\rho}(D).$$

Hence, for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ , we can define

$$\lambda_{N,\alpha,k}(z) = (-1)^{\text{NUM}(\alpha)} \frac{\det A_{N,\alpha,k}(z)}{\det A_{N,k}(z)}$$

where NUM:  $\mathbb{N}_0^n \to \mathbb{N}_0$  is the inverse of the enumeration of the elements in  $\mathbb{N}_0^n$  with respect to the order on  $\mathbb{N}_0^n$ . Now, define  $K_{N,k} = K_{k\varphi,\rho,N} : D \times \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ 

$$K_{N,k}(z,w) = e^{k(\overline{\gamma_N(z,z)} + \gamma_N(z,w))} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{N,\alpha,k}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}$$

and set similar to Section 2.4

$$P_{N,k}(z,w) = e^{-k\frac{\varphi(z)+\varphi(w)}{2}}\overline{K_{N,k}(z,w)} \text{ and } B_{N,k}(z) = P_{N,k}(z,z)$$

for  $z \in D, w \in \overline{D}$ .

## Lemma 3.1

One has  $(f, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot))_k = f(z)$  for all  $z \in D$  and  $f \in V_{N,z,k}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $z \in D$  be a point. Consider the vector  $\lambda_{N,k}(z) = (\lambda_{N,\alpha,k}(z))_{|\alpha| \leq N}^T$ . By Cramer's rule we find that  $\lambda_{N,k}(z)$  solves  $A_{N,k}(z)\lambda_{N,k}(z) = (1,0,0,\ldots,0)^T$  which implies

$$\int_{D} K_{N,k}(z,w) \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha} e^{k\overline{\gamma_N(z,w)}} e^{-k\varphi(w)} dV_D(w) = \begin{cases} 0 & , \text{ if } 0 < |\alpha| \le N, \\ e^{k\gamma_N(z,z)} & , \text{ if } \alpha = 0. \end{cases}$$

Given  $f \in V_{N,z,k}$  write  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} c_{\alpha}(w-z)^{\alpha} e^{\gamma_N(z,w)}$  and hence, using that  $\gamma_N(z,z) \in \mathbb{R}$  holds, one finds  $(f, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot)_k) = c_0 e^{k\overline{\gamma(z,z)}} = f(z)$ .

## Lemma 3.2

For any  $z \in D$  one has  $||K_{N,k}(z, \cdot)||_k^2 = K_{N,k}(z, z)$  and  $B_{N,k}(z) = \lambda_{N,0,k}(z)$ .

*Proof.* Since  $K_{N,k}(z, \cdot) \in V_{N,z,k}$  we can apply Lemma 3.1 and find

$$||K_{N,k}(z,\cdot)||_k^2 = (K_{N,k}(z,\cdot), K_{N,k}(z,\cdot))_k = K_{N,k}(z,z) = \lambda_{N,0,k}(z)e^{k(\gamma(z,z)+\gamma(z,z))}.$$

Furthermore, one has  $B_{N,k}(z) = e^{-k\varphi(z)} K_{N,k}(z,z) = \lambda_{N,0,k}(z).$ 

#### Lemma 3.3

Given  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  one has  $\lambda_{N,\alpha,k} \in C^{5N+3n+1+l}(D)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ .

Recall that  $D_{\varphi,N}$  is the set which consists of all points  $z \in D$  satisfying the N-th localization property, that is

(i) 
$$z \in D_{\varphi,+},$$
  
(ii)  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) > 0$  for all  $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \{z\}.$ 

For the rest of the section we define the following. Let  $D' \subset \subset D$  be an open set and  $S_1 \subset C^{6N+3n+4}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), S_2 \subset C^{4N+2n+2}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  be bounded sets such that  $\{\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}} \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|z-w|^2 \mid \varphi \in S_1\}, \{\inf_{z\in\overline{D}} \rho \mid \rho \in S_2\}$  have positive lower bounds. It immediately follows that  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  for  $\varphi \in S_1$ .

## Lemma 3.4

Let  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  be a non-negative integer. For any  $\varphi \in S_1 \cap C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D)$ ,  $\rho \in S_2 \cap C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D)$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ , there exist functions  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(0)}, \ldots, \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(N)} \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$  where  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)$  depends only on the derivatives of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  in  $z \in D_{\varphi,+}$  such that

$$\lambda_{N,\alpha,k} - k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} = O(k^{-N-1+n}) \text{ in } C^0(D') \text{ uniformly in } \varphi \in S_1 \text{ and } \rho \in S_2$$

Furthermore, we have  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(0)}(z) = \pi^{-n}\rho(z)^{-1} \det \left(H_{\varphi}(z)\right)$ .

Proof. Let  $F_N$  be the set of all multi-indices  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$  and denote by  $\operatorname{Perm}(F_N)$  the group of permutations of the elements in  $F_N$  where we define an order on  $F_N$  as before by saying  $\alpha < \beta$  if  $|\alpha| < |\beta|$  and using lexicographic order for  $|\alpha| = |\beta|$ . Using the Laplace rule for the determinant we find

$$\det(A_{N,k}) = \sum_{\tau \in \operatorname{Perm}(F_N)} (-1)^{\operatorname{sign}(\tau)} \prod_{\alpha \in F_N} a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k}.$$

We can apply Theorem 2.50 and find  $a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k} = O(k^{-n-\max\{|\alpha|,\tau(\alpha)\}})$  which implies  $a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k} = O(k^{-n-|\alpha|})$  with

$$k^{n+|\alpha|}a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k} - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi})} \sum_{j=0}^N a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha)}^{(j+|\alpha|)} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1}) \text{ in } C^0(D')$$
(3.1)

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Thus,  $k^{d_N} \prod_{\alpha \in F_N} a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k} = O(1)$  and hence  $k^{d_N} \det(A_{N,k}) = O(1)$  where  $d_N = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq N} (|\alpha| + n)$ . From Lemma 2.65 we get that for any compact subset  $K \subset D'$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $\det(A_{N,k}(z)) \geq Ck^{-d_N}$  holds for all  $z \in K$ ,  $k \in [1,\infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . We conclude that

$$k^{d_N} \det(A_{N,k}) - \sum_{j=0}^N c_j k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1})$$
 in  $C^0(D')$ 

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  holds where  $c_0, \ldots, c_N$  are continuous functions defined on D' and  $c_0$  positive lower bound uniform in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  on any compact subset of D'. Applying the Leibniz criterion for determinants we find

$$\det(A_{N,\beta,k}) = \sum_{\substack{\tau \in \operatorname{Perm}(F_N)\\\tau(0) = \beta}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sig}(\tau) + NUM(\beta)} \prod_{\substack{\alpha \in F_N\\\alpha \neq 0}} a_{\alpha,\tau(\alpha),k}$$

As before NUM:  $\mathbb{N}_0^n \to \mathbb{N}_0$  is the inverse of the enumeration of the elements in  $\mathbb{N}_0^n$  with respect to the order on  $\mathbb{N}_0^n$ . Using the same arguments as above, we find

$$k^{d_N-n} \det(A_{N,\beta,k}) - \sum_{j=0}^N c_{\beta,j} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1})$$
 in  $C^0(D')$ 

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  where  $c_{\beta,0}, \ldots, c_{\beta,N}$  are continuous functions defined on D'. We apply Lemma 2.5 for  $\frac{k^{-d_N}}{\det(A_{N,k})}$  to get after multiplication with  $k^{d_N-n} \det(A_{N,\beta,k})$ 

$$\lambda_{N,\beta,k} - k^n \sum_{j=0}^N \tilde{\lambda}_{N,\beta}^{(j)} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1+n}) \text{ in } C^0(D')$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . Since

$$\det(A_{N,k}(z)) - a_{0,0,k} \det(A_{N,0,k}) = O(k^{-d_N - 1})$$

we find by (3.1) that  $\tilde{\lambda}_{N,0}^{(0)}(z) = \pi^{-n} \det(H_{\varphi}(z))(a_{0,0}^{(0)}(z))^{-1}$  holds which implies by Theorem 2.50  $\tilde{\lambda}_{N,0}^{(0)}(z) = \pi^{-n} \det(H_{\varphi}(z))\rho(z)^{-1}$ . It remains to show the first part of the statement, that is for  $l \geq 0$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ ,  $0 \leq j \leq N$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1 \cap C^{6N+4+l}(D)$  and  $\rho \in S_2 \cap C^{4N+l+l}(D)$  we have  $\tilde{\lambda}_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} = \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}|_{D'}$  where  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$  such that  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)$  only depends on the derivatives of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  at  $z \in D_{\varphi,+}$ . Given  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,+}$  we find by Lemma 2.47 an open neighborhood  $U \subset D$  around  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N}$ holds. We apply the already proven part of Lemma 3.4 to the setting D = U,  $S_1 = \{\varphi|_{\overline{U}}\}$  and  $S_2 = \{\rho|_{\overline{U}}\}$  and find  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),U} \in C^l(U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N})$ ,  $0 \leq j \leq N$ , because of  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(m)} \in C^l(U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N})$  by Theorem 2.50. Given another open neighborhood  $V \subset U$ around  $z_0$  we have  $U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N} \cap V \subset V_{\varphi|_{\overline{V},N}}$  and since  $a_{\alpha,\beta,N}^{(j)}(z)$  can be expressed in terms of the derivatives of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  at  $z \in U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N}$  we verify that  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),U}(z_0) = \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),V}(z_0)$  holds. In this way we can define  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}: D_{\varphi,+} \to \mathbb{C}$  and find that  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  only depends on the derivatives of  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  at  $z_0$ . The construction also implies that  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  coincides with  $\tilde{\lambda}_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  on D'. Furthermore, since  $a_{\alpha,\beta,N}^{(j)} \in C^l(U_{\varphi|_{\overline{U}},N})$  for  $\varphi \in C^{6N+4+l}(U)$  and  $\rho \in C^{4N+2+l}(U)$  it follows that any point  $z_0$  has an open neighborhood where  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$ is a  $C^l$  functions. Hence, we have  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$ .

## Corollary 3.5

Given  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4+l}(D) \cap S_1$  and  $\rho \in C^{4N+2n2+l}(D) \cap S_2$  we have the following. For all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ , there exist functions  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(0)}, \ldots, \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(N)} \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+})$  such that

$$\lambda_{N,\alpha,k} - k^n \sum_{j=0}^N \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1}) \text{ in } C^0(D_{\varphi,N}).$$

Furthermore, we have  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(0)}(z) = \pi^{-n} \rho(z)^{-1} \det (H_{\varphi}(z)).$ 

## Remark 3.6

Given any open set  $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U)$ ,  $\rho \in C^{4N+2n^2}(U)$  and  $a \in U$  such that  $H_{\varphi}(a)$  is positive definite Lemma 3.4 allows us to define  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(a)$  for  $0 \leq j \leq N$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N$ , by taking a bounded open neighborhood  $V \subset C$  around a with  $a \in V_{\varphi|_{\overline{V}},N}$  (which always exists by Lemma 2.47). Then  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(a)$  is independent of the choice of V.

## Lemma 3.7

We have  $e^{k\tilde{\varphi}_N}|P_{N,k}|^2 = O(k^{2n})$  in  $C^0(D' \times D)$  uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ . In addition we find for any compact set  $K \subset D'$  constants  $\delta, C > 0$  such that

$$|P_{N,k}(z,w)| \le Ck^n e^{-\delta k|z-w|^2}$$

holds for all  $(z, w) \in K \times \overline{D}$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

Proof. Write

$$-\varphi(w) + \overline{\gamma_N(z,z)} + \gamma_N(z,w) + \gamma_N(z,z) + \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)} = -\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) + \varphi(z).$$

Thus, we find

$$e^{-k(\varphi(z)+\varphi(w))}|K_{N,k}(z,w)|^2 = e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)} \left|\sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{N,\alpha,k}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}\right|^2.$$

The first part of the claim follows from  $P_{N,k}(z,w) = e^{-k\frac{\varphi(z)+\varphi(w)}{2}}K_{N,k}(z,w)$  and Lemma 3.4. Using the assumptions on  $S_1$  we find  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) \geq \delta |w-z|^2$  for all  $(z,w) \in D' \times \overline{D}$  and all  $\varphi \in S_1$ . Since D is bounded the second part of the claim follows.

## Lemma 3.8

For any compact subset  $K \subset D'$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|f(z) - (f, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot))_k|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le Ck^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon} ||f||_k^2$$

holds for all  $z \in K$ ,  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in H^0_k(D)$ .

Proof. Given  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and  $z \in D'$  we can write  $H_k^0(D) = V_{N,z,k} \oplus V_{N,z,k}^{\perp}$  where  $V_{N,z,k} \subset H_k^0(D)$  is defined as above and  $V_{N,z,k}^{\perp}$  denotes its orthogonal complement in  $H_k^0(D)$ . Recall that we denote the Taylor expansion up to order N in z of a holomorphic function f on D by  $T_{z,N}(f)$ , i.e.

$$T_{z,N}(f)(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} f}{\partial^{\alpha} w}(z)(w-z)^{\alpha}.$$

We have another decomposition  $H_k^0(D) = V_{N,z,k} \oplus W_{z,k}$  where

$$W_{N,z,k} = \left\{ f \in H_k^0(D) \mid \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} f}{\partial^{\alpha} w}(z) = 0 \text{ for all } |\alpha| \le N \right\}$$

and the respective projection on  $V_{N,z,k}$  is given by  $T_{z,N,k} : H_k^0(D) \to H_k^0(D)$  by  $T_{z,N,k}(f)(w) = e^{k\gamma(z,w)}T_{z,N}(e^{-k\gamma(z,\cdot)}f(\cdot))(w)$  (see Lemma 2.64). By Theorem 2.66 there exists a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that  $\|(\operatorname{Id} - T_{z,N,k})f\|_k \leq C_1 \|f\|_k$  holds for all  $k \in [1,\infty), z \in D', \varphi \in S_1, \rho \in S_2$  and  $f \in V_{N,z,k}^{\perp}$ .

Now, given  $g \in V_{N,z,k}$ , we have by Lemma 3.1 that  $(K_{N,k}((z, \cdot)), g)_k = g(z)$ holds. For  $f \in V_{N,z,k}^{\perp}$  we write  $f = f_1 + f_2$  with respect to the decomposition  $H_k^0(D) = V_{N,z,k} \oplus W_{N,z,k}$  and get for  $f_2$  by Corollary 2.56 that

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \left| \int_D f_2(w) \overline{(w-z)^{\alpha} e^{k\gamma(z,w)}} e^{-\varphi(w)} dV_D(w) \right|^2 \le C_2 k^{-(N+1)-n+\varepsilon} \|f_2\|_k^2$$

holds for some constant  $C_2 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$ and  $f_2$ . Thus, using Lemma 3.4 one has

$$|(f_2, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot))_k|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le C_3 k^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon} ||f_2||_k^2 \le C_1 C_3 k^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon} ||f||_k^2$$

for some constant  $C_3 > 0$  independent of  $k \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $z \in D'$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$ ,  $\rho \in S_2$  and  $f_2$ . Since

$$|(f+g)(z) - (f+g, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot))_k|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} = |(f_2, K_{N,k}(z, \cdot))_k|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)}$$

and  $||f + g||_k^2 = ||f||_k^2 + ||g||_k^2$  the claim follows.

From this lemma we obtain

76

## Lemma 3.9

For any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  one has

$$B_k - B_{N,k} = O(k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(D'),$$
  

$$P_k - P_{N,k} = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(D' \times D)$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

*Proof.* Writing  $f(z) = (f, K_k(z, \cdot))_k$  and putting  $f(\cdot) = K_k(z, \cdot) - K_{N,k}(z, \cdot)$  we find by using Lemma 3.8 that

$$Ck^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon} \geq \|K_k(z,\cdot) - K_{N,k}(z,\cdot)\|_k^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)}$$
  
=  $e^{-k\varphi(z)} (K_k(z,z) + K_{N,k}(z,z) - 2 \operatorname{Re}(K_{N,k}(z,\cdot), K_k(z,\cdot))_k)$   
=  $e^{-k\varphi(z)} K_k(z,z) - e^{-k\varphi(z)} K_{N,k}(z,z)$   
=  $B_k(z) - B_{N,k}(z) \geq 0$ 

where we use the reproducing property of  $K_k(z, \cdot)$ , that  $K_{N,k}(z, z)$  is real and  $B_k(z) \geq B_{N,k}(z)$  since  $B_k$  is the Bergman kernel function for a larger space (see Lemma 2.36). Since  $K_k$  and  $K_{N,k}$  are holomorphic in the second argument we can apply Lemma 2.29 and get

$$Ck^{n} \|K_{k}(z, \cdot) - K_{N,k}(z, \cdot)\|_{k}^{2} \geq e^{-k\varphi(w)} |K_{k}(z, w) - K_{N,k}(z, w)|^{2}$$
$$= e^{k\varphi(z)} |P_{k}(z, w) - P_{N,k}(z, w)|^{2}.$$

#### Corollary 3.10

Let  $K \subset D' \times D$  be compact. Given  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist constants  $C, \delta > 0$  such that  $|P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w)| \leq C\left(k^n e^{-\delta k|w-z|^2} + k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+\varepsilon}\right)$  holds for all  $k \in [1,\infty), (z,w) \in K$ ,  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

*Proof.* The statement is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.7 and Lemma 3.9.  $\Box$ 

Now, define  $\tilde{K}_{N,k} = \tilde{K}_{k\varphi,\rho,N} : D' \times \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\tilde{K}_{N,k}(z,w) = e^{k(\gamma_N(z,z) + \gamma_N(z,w))} k^n \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z) (w-z)^{\alpha}$$

with  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  as in Lemma 3.4 and set

$$\tilde{P}_{N,k}(z,w) = e^{-k\frac{\varphi(z)+\varphi(w)}{2}}\overline{\tilde{K}_{N,k}(z,w)} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{B}_{N,k}(z) = \tilde{P}_{N,k}(z,z)$$

for  $z \in D'$ ,  $w \in \overline{D}$ . Lemma 3.9 and Lemma 3.4 imply  $B_k - \tilde{B}_{N,k} = O(k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon})$ in  $C^0(D')$  which proves that the Bergman kernel function  $B_k$  for  $H_k^0(D)$  has an asymptotic expansion of order N on D' in  $C^0$ -norm. To get an expansion in  $C^l$ norm for  $l \geq 0$  we need the following.

Lemma 3.11 (Hörmander's Trick)

Let  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a domain. For any  $V \subset \subset U$  there exists a constant C > 0 such that

 $|d_x f(x)|^2 \le C ||f||_{C^0(U)} (||f||_{C^0(U)} + ||f||_{C^2(U)})$ 

holds for all  $x \in V$  and all  $f \in C^2(U)$ .

*Proof.* Given a non-negative function  $g \in C^2((-\delta, \delta), \mathbb{R})$  one has

$$\delta^2 |g'(0)|^2 \le g(0)(g(0) + 2 \sup_{|x| < \delta} \delta^2 |g''(x)|).$$

A proof of this statement can be found for example in [24, Lemma 7.7.2]. Replacing g by  $g + \sup_{|x| < \delta} |g(x)|$  and considering real and imaginary part separately shows that

$$\delta^{2}|g'(0)|^{2} \leq 8 \sup_{|x|<\delta} |g(x)|(\sup_{|x|<\delta} |g(x)| + \sup_{|x|<\delta} \delta^{2}|g''(x)|)$$

holds for all  $g \in C^2(-\delta, \delta)$ . Given any  $x \in V$  choose  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mathbb{B}_{\delta}(x) \subset U$ holds. For  $1 \leq j \leq n$  put  $g_j(t) = f(x + te_j)$ , where  $e_j$  is the vector which has a one at the *j*-th position and all other entries are zero. We have  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j}(x) = g'_j(0)$  and hence

$$\begin{aligned} |d_x f(x)|^2 &= \sum_{j=1}^n |g_j'(0)|^2 \le 8 \sum_{j=1}^n \sup_{|x| < \delta} |g_j(x)| (\delta^{-2} \sup_{|x| < \delta} |g_j(x)| + \sup_{|x| < \delta} |g_j''(x)|) \\ &\le 8n \|f\|_{C^0(U)} (\delta^{-2} \|f\|_{C^0(U)} + \|f\|_{C^2(U)}). \end{aligned}$$

Choosing  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mathbb{B}_{\delta}(x) \subset U$  holds for all  $x \in V$  finishes the proof.  $\Box$ 

#### Lemma 3.12

Given  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  put  $\tilde{S}_1 := S_1 \cap C^{6N+3n+5+l}(D')$  and  $\tilde{S}_2 := S_2 \cap C^{2N+2n+3+l}(D')$ . Assuming that  $\tilde{S}_1$  and  $\tilde{S}_2$  are bounded subsets of  $C^{6N+3n+5+l}(D')$  and  $C^{2N+2n+3+l}(D')$ respectively one has for any  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ 

$$B_{k} - \tilde{B}_{N,k} = O(k^{-c_{r}(N+1)+n+r}) \text{ in } C^{r}(D'),$$
  

$$P_{k} - \tilde{P}_{N,k} = O(k^{-c_{r}\frac{N+1}{2}+n+r}) \text{ in } C^{r}(D' \times D)$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in \tilde{S}_1$  and  $\rho \in \tilde{S}_2$  for  $1 \leq r \leq l$  with  $c_r = 1 - \frac{r}{l+1}$ .

79

*Proof.* We are going to prove a slightly more stronger result, that is for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$B_k - \tilde{B}_{N,k} = O(k^{-c_r(N+1-\varepsilon)+n+r}) \text{ in } C^r(D'),$$
  

$$P_k - \tilde{P}_{N,k} = O(k^{-c_r \frac{N+1-\varepsilon}{2}+n+r}) \text{ in } C^r(D' \times D)$$
(3.2)

uniformly in  $\varphi \in \tilde{S}_1$  and  $\rho \in \tilde{S}_2$  for  $1 \leq r \leq l$  with  $c_r = 1 - r \frac{1-2^{-l}}{l+1}$ . By Lemma 2.39 and Lemma 3.4 we have that  $d_x^{\alpha} \tilde{B}_{N,k}, d_x^{\alpha} B_k = O(k^{n+|\alpha|})$  and  $d_x^{\alpha} d_y^{\beta} \tilde{P}_{N,k}, d_x^{\alpha} d_y^{\beta} P_k = O(k^{n+|\alpha|+|\beta|})$  in  $C^0(D')$  or  $C^0(D' \times D)$  respectively, uniformly in  $\varphi \in \tilde{S}_1$  and  $\rho \in \tilde{S}_2$ for any  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n, |\beta| + |\alpha| \leq l$ . Hence we find that (3.2) is true for  $c_r = c_r^{(0)} = 0$ ,  $1 \leq r \leq l$ . For  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we write  $c^{(m)} = (c_1^{(m)}, \ldots, c_l^{(m)})^T \in \mathbb{R}^l$ . Applying Lemma 3.11 and using the estimate in  $C^0$ -norm from Lemma 3.9 we find that if (3.2) was true for  $c_r = c_r^{(m)}, 1 \leq r \leq l$ , we have that the statement will be true for  $c_r = c_r^{(m+1)},$  $1 \leq r \leq l$ , where  $c_r^{(m+1)}$  is defined by

$$c_r^{(m+1)} = \begin{cases} \frac{c_2^{(m)}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} & , \text{ for } r = 1, \\ \frac{c_{l-1}^{(m)}}{2} + \frac{1}{2^{l+1}} & , \text{ for } r = l, \\ \frac{c_{r+1}^{(m)}}{2} + \frac{c_{r-1}^{(m)}}{2} & , \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

We can rewrite this as  $c^{(m+1)} = F(c^{(m)})$  where  $F \colon \mathbb{R}^l \to \mathbb{R}^l$  is the affine map defined by F(v) = Av + b with

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & & \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & & \\ & 1 & 0 & 1 & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b = \begin{pmatrix} 2^{-1} \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ 2^{-l-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Setting  $c^{(0)} = 0$  and  $c^{(m+1)} = F(c^{(m)})$  for  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , it follows from induction that the statement holds for all  $c_r^{(m)}$ ,  $1 \leq r \leq l$ , and  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . We are now going to show that  $c^{(m)} \to c = (c_1, \ldots, c_l)$  for  $m \to \infty$  with  $c_r = 1 - r \frac{1-2^{-l}}{l+1}$ ,  $1 \leq r \leq l$ . The constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  ensures that the statement (3.2) follows after finitely many iterations.

For l = 1 we immediately find  $c_1^{(m)} = \frac{1}{2}$  for all  $m \ge 1$ . Given  $l \ge 2$  we start by observing that the restriction  $F : [0, 1]^l \to [0, 1]^l$  is well defined. Let ||A|| denote the operator norm of A with respect to the standard Euclidean norm on  $\mathbb{R}^l$ . Applying the definition of the operator norm to A it follows  $||A|| \le 1$ . Since A is a real symmetric matrix we have that it is diagonalizable with eigenvalues  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l \in \mathbb{R}$ . Furthermore, we have  $||A|| = \max\{|\lambda_1|, \ldots, |\lambda_l|\}$ , which implies  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l \in [-1, 1]$ . Solving the the equation  $(A \pm \mathrm{Id})v = 0$  recursively shows  $\ker(A \pm \mathrm{Id}) = \{0\}$  and hence  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l \in (-1, 1)$  which implies ||A|| < 1. We conclude that F is a contraction. Since  $[0,1]^l \subset \mathbb{R}^l$  is closed we deduce from the Banach fixed-point theorem that  $\lim_{m\to\infty} c^{(m)} = c$  where c is given by the solution of F(c) = c. Finding c then leads to solving the equation  $(2 \operatorname{Id} - 2A)c = 2b$ . This can be written as  $c_2 = 2c_1 - 1$ ,  $2c_l - c_{l-1} = 2^{-l}$  and  $c_r = 2c_{r-1} - c_{r-2}$ ,  $3 \leq r \leq l$  which in fact leads to the problem of finding  $c_1 \in [0, 1]$  such that

$$(-1,2)\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{l-2} \begin{pmatrix} c_1\\ 2c_1 - 1 \end{pmatrix} = 2^{-l}$$
(3.3)

holds. Putting

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_2 = \begin{pmatrix} -2 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

we observe  $Bv_1 = v_1$ ,  $Bv_2 = v_1 + v_2$ ,  $(c_1, 2c_1 - 1)^T = (3c_1 - 2)v_1 + (c_1 - 1)v_2$ . Because of  $(-1, 2)v_1 = 1$  and  $(-1, 2)v_2 = 0$  we have that (3.3) is equivalent to  $(3c_1 + 2) + (l - 2)(c_1 - 1) = 2^{-l}$  which has  $c_1 = \frac{l+2^{-l}}{l+1} = 1 - \frac{1-2^{-l}}{l+1}$  as its unique solution. It follows  $c_2 = 2c_1 - 1 = 1 - 2\frac{1-2^{-l}}{l+1}$  and since  $c_r = 2c_{r-1} - c_{r-2} = (-1, 2)B^{r-3}((3c_1 - 2)v_1 + (c_1 - 1)v_2), 3 \le r \le l$ , we conclude that  $c_r = 1 - r\frac{1-2^{-l}}{l+1}$  holds for all  $1 \le r \le l$ . Choosing  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small proves the original statement.

## **3.2** Coefficients

Given  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  let  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U,\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\rho \in C^{4N+2n+2}(U,\mathbb{R})$  two functions defined in a neighborhood U around a point  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . Before we start to compute the coefficients in the expansion of the Bergman kernel, that is  $\lambda_{N,0}^{j,\varphi,\rho}(z_0) := \lambda_{N,0}^j(z_0)$ defined in Lemma 3.4 we need to develop some basic tools in order to reduce the computations to simpler cases.

## Lemma 3.13

Let  $f, g \in \mathcal{O}(U)$  be holomorphic functions and let  $\psi \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\tilde{\rho} \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U, \mathbb{R})$ be defined by  $\psi(z) = \varphi(z) + f(z) + \overline{f(z)}$  and  $\tilde{\rho}(z) = e^{g(z) + \overline{g(z)}}\rho(z)$ . We have  $H_{\psi}(z_0)$ is positive definite and  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\varphi,\rho}(z_0) = e^{g(z) + \overline{g(z)}}\lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\psi,\tilde{\rho}}(z_0)$  for all  $0 \le j \le N$ .

*Proof.* We have  $B_{k\varphi,\rho} = e^{g(z) + \overline{g(z)}} B_{k\psi,\tilde{\rho}}$  by Lemma 2.40. Since f is holomorphic we find  $\overline{\partial}f = \partial \overline{f} = 0$  and hence we conclude  $H_{\varphi}(z_0) = H_{\psi}(z_0)$  by the definition of the complex Hessian. Using Lemma 2.47 we find an open neighborhood  $D \subset U$  around  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,N} \cap D_{\psi,N}$  holds. From Lemma 3.9 it follows that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N} (\lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\varphi,\rho}(z_0) - \lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\psi,\rho}(z_0))k^{-j} \le Ck^{-N-1-\varepsilon}$$

for some constants C > 0 and  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  which proves the statement.

## Lemma 3.14

Given an invertible  $n \times n$ -matrix F consider the map  $G \colon \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$  defined by  $G(w) = F(w-z_0)+z_0$ . We have  $\varphi \circ G \in C^{6N+3n+4}(G^{-1}(U),\mathbb{R}), \ \rho \circ G \in C^{4N+2n+2}(G^{-1}U,\mathbb{R}), H_{\varphi \circ G}(z_0) = F^*H_{\psi}(z_0)F$  is positive definite and  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\varphi \circ G,\rho \circ G}(z_0) = |\det(F)|^2 \lambda_{N,0}^{(j),\varphi,\rho}(z_0)$ for all  $0 \leq j \leq N$ . In addition, for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  and  $\psi \in C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|}(U \cap G^{-1}(U))$  we have  $\overline{\partial_w^\alpha} \partial_w^\beta \psi \circ G(z_0) = \overline{X_w^\alpha} X_w^\beta \psi(z_0)$  with

$$(X_w)^{\alpha} = \prod_{m=1}^n (X_{w,m})^{\alpha_m}, \ X_{w,m} = F_{m1} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} + \ldots + F_{mn} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_n}$$

where  $F = (F_{lm})_{1 \leq l,m \leq n}$ .

Proof. Since G is holomorphic (even affine linear) we find  $H_{\varphi \circ G}(z_0) = F^*H_{\varphi}(z_0)F$ which immediately implies that  $H_{\varphi \circ G}(z_0)$  is positive definite. Since  $G(z_0) = z_0$  and using Lemma 2.47 we find an open neighborhood  $D \subset \subset U \cap G^{-1}(U)$  around  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,N} \cap D_{\varphi \circ G,N}$  holds. We have  $|\det(F)|^2 B_{k\varphi|_D} = B_{k\varphi \circ G|_D}$  by Lemma 2.41. As in the proof of Lemma 3.13 the claim follows from Lemma 3.9. The last part of the statement follows from the chain rule and the fact that the differential of G is constant by induction.

#### Lemma 3.15

We have  $\lambda_{M,0}^{(j)}(z_0) = \lambda_{N,0}^{(j)}(z_0)$  for any  $M \leq N$  and  $j \leq M$ .

*Proof.* Using Lemma 2.47 we find an open neighborhood  $D \subset U$  around  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in D_{\varphi,N} \cap D_{\varphi,M}$  holds. From Lemma 3.9 it follows that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{M} (\lambda_{M,0}^{(j)}(z_0) - \lambda_{N,0}^{(j)}(z_0)) k^{-j} \le C k^{-M-1-\varepsilon}$$

for some constants C > 0 and  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  which proves the statement.

#### Lemma 3.16

Let  $d, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be some positive integers and  $A_1, \ldots, A_d \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C})$  matrices,  $A_j = (a_{l,m}^{(j)})_{1 \leq l,m,\leq n}$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, d$ . Denote by  $B = (b_{l,m})_{0 \leq l,m,\leq n} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C})$  the product of the  $A_j$ 's, i.e.  $B = A_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot A_d$ . One has that

$$b_{l,m} = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d-1} \\ \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{d-1} \le n}} a_{l,\alpha_1}^{(1)} a_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2}^{(2)} \dots a_{\alpha_{d-1},m}^{(d)}$$

holds for all  $1 \leq l, m \leq n$ .

*Proof.* We prove the statement via induction with respect to d. Given the case d = 1 there is nothing to show. Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  be arbitrary and assume that the statement

holds for d. We set  $B' = A_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot A_d$ ,  $B' = (b'_{l,m})_{0 \le l,m,\le n}$ . One has  $B = B'A_{d+1}$ , i.e.  $b_{l,m} = \sum_{j=1}^n b'_{l,j} a^{(d+1)}_{j,m}$ . Using the induction hypothesis one finds

$$b'_{l,j} = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d-1} \\ \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{d-1} \le n}} a_{l,\alpha_1}^{(1)} a_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2}^{(2)} \dots a_{\alpha_{d-1},j}^{(d)}$$

and hence

$$b_{l,m} = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d-1} \\ \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{d-1} \le n}} \sum_{j=1}^n a_{l,\alpha_1}^{(1)} a_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2}^{(2)} \dots a_{\alpha_{d-1},j}^{(d)} a_{j,m}^{(d+1)}$$

which proves that the statement holds for d + 1.

#### Theorem 3.17

Given a point  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $\varphi \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U,\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\rho \in C^{4N+2n+2}(U,\mathbb{R})$  two functions defined in a neighborhood U around  $z_0$  such that  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  is positive definite and  $\rho(z_0) > 0$ . We have the following expression for  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  constructed in Lemma 3.4. We have  $\lambda_{N,0}^{(0)}(z_0) = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z_0))}{\pi^n \rho(z)}$  and assuming  $H_{\varphi}(z_0) = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  we find

$$\lambda_{N,\tau}^{(j)}(z_0) = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z_0))}{\pi^n \rho(z)} \frac{\lambda^{\tau}}{\tau!} b_{N,\tau,j}(z_0), \qquad (3.4)$$

$$b_{N,\tau,j}(z_0) = \sum_{d=1}^{2j+|\tau|} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ |\alpha|=2j+|\tau|}} \sum_{\substack{(\beta^{(1)},\dots,\beta^{(d)}) \in (\mathbb{N}^n_0)^{d-1} \\ |\beta^{(1)}|,\dots,|\beta^{(d-1)}| \le N}} (-1)^d \nu_{\tau,\beta^{(1)}}^{(\alpha_1)} \nu_{\beta^{(1)},\beta^{(2)}}^{(\alpha_2)} \cdot \dots \cdot \nu_{\beta^{(d-1)},0}^{(\alpha_d)}$$

for  $1 \leq j \leq N$  if  $\tau = 0$  and for  $0 \leq j \leq N - \frac{|\tau|}{2}$  if  $1 \leq |\tau| \leq N$  where

$$\nu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(r)} = \frac{\lambda^{\beta}}{\beta!} \frac{\chi_{|\alpha|,|\beta|}^{(r)}}{\rho(z)} \sum_{l=0}^{r+|\alpha|+|\beta|} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=l+\frac{r+|\alpha|+|\beta|}{2}\\\eta \ge \max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (-1)^{l} \frac{\eta!}{l!\lambda^{\eta}} \mu_{\eta-\alpha,\eta-\beta}^{(l)}$$
$$\chi_{p,q}^{(r)} = \begin{cases} 1 & , if 2 \mid (r+p+q) \text{ and } r \ge |p-q| \\ 0 & , else. \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(l)} = \sum_{\substack{(\alpha^{(0)},\dots,\alpha^{(l)}) \in (\mathbb{N}_{0}^{n})^{l+1} \ (\beta^{(0)},\dots,\beta^{(l)}) \in (\mathbb{N}_{0}^{n})^{l+1} \\ |\alpha_{m}^{(0)}| + \dots + |\alpha_{m}^{(l)}| = \alpha_{m} \ |\beta_{m}^{(0)}| + \dots + |\beta_{m}^{(l)}| = \beta_{m}}} \frac{\partial_{w}^{\alpha^{(0)}} \partial_{w}^{\beta^{(0)}} \rho(z_{0})}{\alpha^{(0)}! \beta^{(0)}!} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{l} \frac{\partial_{w}^{\alpha^{(j)}} \partial_{w}^{\beta^{(j)}} h_{N,z_{0}}(z_{0})}{\alpha^{(j)}! \beta^{(j)}!}.$$

Here  $h_{N,z_0}$  is given by

$$h_{N,z}(w) = \tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w) - (w-z)^T H_{\varphi}(z) \overline{(w-z)}.$$

Furthermore, for  $\tau = 0$  and  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  not necessarily diagonal let F be an invertible matrix such that  $F^*H_{\varphi}(z_0)F = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  for some  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . In

that case (3.4) stays true when we can replace  $\overline{\partial_w^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} \rho(z_0)$  by  $\overline{(X_w)^{\alpha}} (X_w)^{\beta} \rho(z_0)$ , and  $\overline{\partial_w^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} h_{N,z_0}(z_0)$  by

$$\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_0) = \begin{cases} \left(\overline{X_w^{\alpha}} X_w^{\beta} \varphi\right)(z) & , if \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 2, \min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 1, \\ 0 & , else, \end{cases}$$

with

$$(X_w)^{\alpha} = \prod_{m=1}^n X_{w,m}^{\alpha_m}, \ X_{w,m} = F_{m1} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} + \ldots + F_{mn} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_n}$$

where  $F = (F_{lm})_{1 \leq l,m \leq n}$  and noticing that  $X_w^{\alpha} = \partial_w^{\alpha}$  when F = Id.

*Proof.* Recall that

$$a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z_0) = \int_D \overline{(w-z_0)^{\alpha}} (w-z_0)^{\beta} e^{-k\tilde{\varphi}_N(z_0,w)} dV_D(w).$$

Define

$$c_{\alpha,\beta,k} = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))}{\pi^n \rho(z)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\beta}}{\alpha! \beta!}} k^{n + \frac{1}{2}(|\alpha| + |\beta|)} a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z_0)$$

From Theorem 2.50 we get

$$a_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z_0) - \frac{\pi^n}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} k^{-n} \sum_{j=\max\{|\alpha|,|\beta|\}}^{2N} k^{-j} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z_0) = O(k^{-2N-1-n}).$$

Replacing j by  $(j + |\alpha| + |\beta|)/2$  we find since  $j + |\alpha| + |\beta| \ge 2 \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\}$  if and only if  $j \ge ||\alpha| - |\beta||$  that

$$c_{\alpha,\beta,k} - \sum_{j=0}^{2N} k^{-\frac{j}{2}} c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)} = O(k^{-N-1}), \ c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)} = \frac{\chi_{|\alpha|,|\beta|}^{(j)}}{\rho(z)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\beta}}{\alpha! \beta!}} a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(\frac{j+|\alpha|+|\beta|}{2})}(z_0)$$
(3.5)

with

$$\chi_{p,q}^{(j)} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{, if } 2 \mid (j+p+q), \ j \ge |p-q| \\ 0 & \text{, else.} \end{cases}$$

As in Section 3.1 set  $C_{N,k}(z) = (c_{\alpha,\beta,k}(z))_{0 \le |\alpha|,|\beta| \le N}$ . Let  $S_{N,k}$  be a diagonal matrix with entries  $\left(\sqrt{\frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))\lambda^{\alpha}}{\pi^{n}\rho(z)\alpha!}}k^{\frac{1}{2}(n+|\alpha|)}\right)_{|\alpha|\le N}$ . One has  $S_{N,k}A_{N,k}S_{N,k} = C_{N,k}$  and hence  $A_{N,k}^{-1} = S_{N,k}C_{N,k}^{-1}S_{N,k}$ . Thus, it lasts out to calculate  $C_{N,k}^{-1}$ . Therefore, we write  $C_{N,k} - \sum_{j=0}^{2N} k^{-\frac{j}{2}}C_j = (O(k^{-N-1}))$  with  $C_j = (c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)})_{0\le |\alpha|,|\beta|\le N}$ . Here  $(O(k^{-N-1}))$  denotes a matrix of suitable size such that any entry is an  $O(k^{-N-1})$ . Since  $c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(0)} = 1$  if  $\alpha = \beta$  and  $c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(0)} = 0$  otherwise we find  $C_0 = \text{Id}$ . Put

$$\tilde{C}_{N,k} = -\sum_{j=1}^{2N} k^{-\frac{j}{2}} C_j$$
 and  $C'_{N,k} = \sum_{d=0}^{2N} (\tilde{C}_{N,k})^d$ .

One has  $\tilde{C}_{N,k} = (O(k^{-\frac{1}{2}}))$  and hence  $(\tilde{C}_{N,k})^{2N+1} = (O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}}))$ . Thus we find that  $C_{N,k}C'_{N,k} - \mathrm{Id} = C'_{N,k}C_{N,k} - \mathrm{Id} = -\tilde{C}^{2N+1}_{N,k} = \mathrm{Id} + (O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}}))$  holds. We need to prove that this implies  $C'_{N,k} - C^{-1}_{N,k} = (O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}}))$ . As in the proof of Lemma 3.4 we find  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\det(C_{N,k}) \geq \delta$  holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and that  $\det(C_{N,k})$  as well as all the subdeterminants of  $C_{N,k}$  is an O(1). Applying Cramer's rule we find  $C^{-1}_{N,k} = (O(1))$  which implies  $C'_{N,k} - C^{-1}_{N,k} = C^{-1}_{N,k}(C_{N,k}C'_{N,k} - \mathrm{Id}) = (O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}}))$ . Thus, we can write

$$C_{N,k}^{-1} - \sum_{j=0}^{2N} k^{-\frac{j}{2}} C_N^{\prime(j)} = (O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}})), \quad C_N^{\prime(j)} = \sum_{d=1}^j \sum_{\substack{\eta \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ |\eta| = j}} (-1)^d \prod_{l=1}^d C_{\eta_l}.$$

Let  $c_k^{\alpha}$  (resp.  $c^{\alpha,(j)}$ ) denote the entry of  $C_{N,k}^{-1}$  (resp.  $C_N^{\prime(j)}$ ) at position  $(\alpha, 0)$ . One has

$$c_k^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=0}^{2N} k^{-\frac{j}{2}} c^{\alpha,(j)} + O(k^{-N-\frac{1}{2}}).$$
(3.6)

Since  $\lambda_{N,\alpha,k}$  is the entry of  $A_{N,k}^{-1}$  at position  $(\alpha, 0)$  we find

$$k^{-n}\lambda_{N,\alpha,k}(z_0) = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z_0))}{\pi^n \rho(z_0)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}} k^{\frac{|\alpha|}{2}} c_k^{\alpha}.$$
(3.7)

From Lemma 3.4 we have  $k^{-n}\lambda_{N,\alpha,k} - \sum_{j=0}^{N} k^{-j}\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} = O(k^{-N-1})$ . Plugging (3.6) into (3.7) we find after comparing the coefficients that

$$\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0) = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z_0))}{\pi^n \rho(z_0)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}} c^{\alpha,(2j+|\alpha|)}$$

holds for  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $0 \leq j \leq N - \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ . Let us compute now  $c^{\alpha,(2j+|\alpha|)}$ . It follows from Lemma 3.16 that

$$c^{\alpha,(2j+|\alpha|)} = \sum_{d=1}^{2j+|\alpha|} \sum_{\substack{\tau \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ |\tau|=2j+|\alpha|}} (-1)^d \sum_{\substack{\eta \in (\mathbb{N}^n_0)^{d-1} \\ |\eta_1|,\dots,|\eta_{d-1}| \le N}} c^{(\tau_1)}_{\alpha,\eta_1} c^{(\tau_2)}_{\eta_1,\eta_2} \dots c^{(\tau_d)}_{\eta_{d-1},0}$$

From Lemma 2.53 we find

$$a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{l=0}^{2j} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=l+j\\\eta \ge \max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (1/\lambda)^{\eta} \frac{(-1)^l \eta!}{l!(\eta-\alpha)!(\eta-\beta!)} \overline{\partial}_w^{\eta-\alpha} \partial_w^{\eta-\beta}(h_{N,z}^l \rho)(z)$$

which implies

$$c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(j)} = \frac{\chi_{|\alpha|,|\beta|}^{(j)}}{\rho(z)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}\lambda^{\beta}}{\alpha!\beta!}} \sum_{l=0}^{j+|\alpha|+|\beta|} \sum_{\substack{|\eta|=l+\frac{j+|\alpha|+|\beta|}{2}\\\eta \ge \max\{\alpha,\beta\}}} (-1)^{l} \frac{\eta!}{l!\lambda^{\eta}} \mu_{\eta-\alpha,\eta-\beta}^{(l)}$$

where  $\mu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(l)} = \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} \overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \partial_w^{\beta} (h_{N,z_0}^l \rho)(z_0)$ . Using Lemma 2.9 we get

$$\mu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(l)} = \sum_{\alpha' \le \alpha} \sum_{\beta' \le \beta} \left( \frac{1}{(\alpha - \alpha')!} \frac{1}{(\beta - \beta')!} \overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha - \alpha'} \partial_w^{\beta - \beta'} h_{N,z_0}^l(z_0) \right) \left( \frac{1}{\alpha'!} \frac{1}{\beta'!} \overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha'} \partial_w^{\beta'} \rho(z_0) \right).$$

Writing  $h_{N,z_0}^l = h_{N,z_0} \cdots h_{N,z_0}$  and proceeding inductively we find

$$\mu_{\alpha,\beta}^{(l)} = \sum_{\substack{(\alpha^{(0)},\dots,\alpha^{(l)}) \in (\mathbb{N}_{0}^{n})^{l+1} \\ |\alpha_{m}^{(0)}| + \dots + |\alpha_{m}^{(l)}| = \alpha_{m} |\beta_{m}^{(0)}| + \dots + |\beta_{m}^{(l)}| = \beta_{m}}} \overline{\frac{\partial_{w}^{\alpha^{(0)}}}{\partial_{w}^{(0)}} \partial_{w}^{\beta^{(0)}} \rho(z_{0})}{\alpha^{(0)}! \beta^{(0)}!}} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{l} \overline{\frac{\partial_{w}^{\alpha^{(j)}}}{\partial_{w}^{\alpha^{(j)}}} \partial_{w}^{\beta^{(j)}} h_{N,z_{0}}(z_{0})}{\alpha^{(j)}! \beta^{(j)}!}}$$

Now consider the case  $\tau = 0$  and F = Id. We want to show that we can replace  $(\overline{\partial}^{\alpha}_{w}\partial^{\beta}_{w}h_{N,z_{0}})(z_{0})$  by  $\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_{0})$  where  $\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_{0})$  is defined as above. Define a holomorphic function  $f(w) = \sum_{|\alpha| \ge N+2}^{4N} \partial^{\alpha}\varphi(z_{0})(w-z_{0})^{\alpha}$  and set  $\psi = \varphi - f - \overline{f} \in C^{6N+3n+4}(U)$ ,

$$h_{N,z_0}^{\psi}(w) = \tilde{\psi}_N(z_0, w) - \overline{(w - z_0)}^T H_{\psi}(z_0)(w - z_0).$$

We notice by the definition of  $h_{N,z}^{\psi}$  that for  $|\alpha|, |\beta| \leq 4N$  we have  $(\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \partial_w^{\beta} h_{N,z_0}^{\psi})(z_0) = 0$ if  $\min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} = 0$  or  $\max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \leq 1$ . Using Lemma 3.13 we can replace  $h_{N,z}$  by  $h_{N,z}^{\psi}$  with  $\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \partial_w^{\beta} h_{N,z_0}^{\psi}(z_0) = \varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_0)$  where  $\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_0)$  is defined as above. Now consider the case where  $\tau = 0$  and  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  is not diagonal. Given an invertible matrix F with  $F^*H_{\varphi}(z_0)F = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  define the map  $G \colon \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n, G(w) = F(w-z_0) + z_0$ . Since  $H_{\varphi \circ G}(z_0)$  is diagonal and by Lemma 3.14 we find that  $\lambda_{N,\tau}^j$  can be computed as in the diagonal case with  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  replaced by  $\varphi \circ G$  and  $\rho \circ G$ . The statement follows from  $\overline{X_w^{\alpha}} X_w^{\beta} \psi(z_0) = \overline{\partial_w^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} \psi \circ G(z_0)$  for any sufficiently often differentiable function  $\psi$ .

#### Remark 3.18

In the case where  $H_{\varphi}$  is not diagonal we can still get a formula for  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$ ,  $\alpha \neq 0$ , by replacing  $a_{\alpha,\beta}^{(\frac{j+|\alpha|+|\beta|}{2})}(z_0)$  in (3.5) with its representation given in Theorem 2.50.

Assuming higher regularity on  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  in Theorem 3.17 would lead to a similar expression also for the  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  with  $j > N - \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ . We will show this in Lemma 3.23 below where we assume  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  to be smooth. Before we turn to the smooth case let us focus on the coefficients for the diagonal expansion, that is the coefficients in the expansion of  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  in the non-smooth case.

#### Definition 3.19

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a domain and  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  a non-negative integer. Given two functions  $\varphi \in C^{6j+3n+4}(D,\mathbb{R}), \ \rho \in C^{4j+2n+j}(D,\mathbb{R})$  we define  $b_j \colon D_{\varphi,+} \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $b_j(z) = \frac{\pi^n \rho}{\det(H_{\varphi})} \lambda_{j,0}^{(j)}(z)$  with  $\lambda_{j,0}^{(j)}(z)$  given as in Theorem 3.17. From Lemma 3.4 it is clear that  $b_j \in C^l(D_{\varphi,+},\mathbb{R})$  if  $\varphi \in C^{6j+3n+4+l}(D,\mathbb{R})$  and  $\rho \in C^{2j+2+l}(D,\mathbb{R})$  holds for some  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . We have the following theorem for diagonal Bergman kernel expansion.

### Theorem 3.20 (On-Diagonal Expansion)

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain,  $D' \subset D$  open and  $S_1 \subset C^{6N+2n+4+l}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ and  $S_2 \subset C^{2N+2n+2+l}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  two bounded sets such that

$$\{\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}}\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|z-w|^2 \mid \varphi \in S_1\} \quad and \quad \{\inf_{z\in\overline{D}}\rho \mid \rho \in S_2\}$$

have positive lower bounds. Then for any  $0 \le r \le l$  we have that  $B_{k\varphi,\rho}$  has an asymptotic expansion of order  $c_r(N+1)-n-r-1$  in  $C^r(D')$  uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$  with  $c_r = 1 - \frac{r}{l+1}$ , coefficients  $b_0, \ldots, b_N$  of class  $C^l$  defined in Definition 3.19 and explicitly computed in Theorem 3.17. More precisely, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$B_{k\varphi,\rho} - k^n \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j = O(k^{-(N+1)+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(D')$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ , and for  $1 \leq r \leq l$  we have

$$B_{k\varphi,\rho} - k^n \frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\pi^n \rho} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j = O(k^{-c_r(N+1)+n+r}) \text{ in } C^r(D')$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1$  and  $\rho \in S_2$ .

Furthermore, the  $b_j = b_j^{\rho,\varphi}$ ,  $0 \le j \le N$ , are polynomials in the derivatives of  $\rho$  and the entries of  $H_{\varphi}$  and the reciprocals of  $\rho$  and the eigenvalues of  $H_{\varphi}$  (see Theorem 3.17).

*Proof.* The claim follows immediately from Lemma 3.9, Lemma 3.12, Lemma 3.15 and Theorem 3.17.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## Theorem 3.21 (Near-Diagonal Expansion)

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain,  $D' \subset D$  open and  $S_1 \subset C^{6N+2n+4+l}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$ and  $S_2 \subset C^{4N+2n+2+l}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  two bounded sets such that

$$\{\inf_{(z,w)\in D'\times\overline{D}}\tilde{\varphi}_N(z,w)/|z-w|^2 \mid \varphi \in S_1\} \text{ and } \{\inf_{z\in\overline{D}}\rho \mid \rho \in S_2\}$$

have positive lower bounds. Then for any  $0 \leq r \leq l$  we have that  $P_{k\varphi,\rho}$  has an expansion of order  $\frac{c_r}{2}(N+1) - n - r - 1$  in  $C^r(D')$  uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$ and  $\rho \in S_2 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$  with  $c_r = 1 - \frac{r}{l+1}$  and  $C^{\infty}$ -coefficients  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ , such that  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} = b_{j,\alpha}$  for  $2|\alpha| + 2j \leq N$  with  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}$  constructed in Lemma 3.4 and  $b_{j,\alpha}$ defined in Definition 3.24. More precisely, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - P_{k\varphi,\rho,N} = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(D' \times D)$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$  and  $\rho \in S_2 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$ , and for  $1 \leq r \leq l$  we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - P_{k\varphi,\rho,N} = O(k^{-c_r \frac{N+1}{2} + n + r}) \text{ in } C^r(D' \times D)$$

uniformly in  $\varphi \in S_1 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$  and  $\rho \in S_2 \cap C^{\infty}(D')$  with

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) = k^n e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(w) - 2\overline{\gamma_N(z,w)})} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \overline{\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}.$$

Furthermore, for any point  $z \in D'$  where  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  is diagonal the  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)} = \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),\rho,\varphi}$  can be computed explicitly for any j and any  $\alpha$  with  $j, |\alpha| \leq N$  (see Theorem 3.17 and Lemma 3.23).

*Proof.* The claim follows immediately from Lemma 3.9, Lemma 3.12, Lemma 3.15 and Theorem 3.17.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Now we will consider the smooth case, that is  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R})$  where  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  is a domain. From Definition 3.19 we obtain functions  $b_0, b_1, \ldots \in C^{\infty}(D_{\varphi,+}, \mathbb{R})$  which are explicitly computed in terms of the entries of  $H_{\varphi}$ ,  $\rho$  and their derivatives.

## Lemma 3.22

Let  $z_0 \in D$  be a point such that  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  is positive definite and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  be a multiindex. We have  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0) = \lambda_{M,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  for all  $M, N, j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  satisfying  $2|\alpha| + 2j \leq M \leq$ N. Here  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  and  $\lambda_{M,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  are defined by Lemma 3.4 and Remark 3.6.

*Proof.* Fix  $M, N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  with  $|\alpha| \leq M \leq N$ . First we observe that  $\overline{\partial}_w^{\eta}(\overline{\gamma_M(z,w)} - \overline{\gamma_N(z,w)})|_{w=z} = 0$  for all  $|\eta| \leq M$  which implies

$$\overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta} e^{-k\frac{1}{2}\varphi(w)+k\overline{\gamma_{M}(z,w)}}|_{w=z} = \overline{\partial}_{w}^{\eta} e^{-k\frac{1}{2}\varphi(w)+k\overline{\gamma_{N}(z,w)}}|_{w=z}$$

for all  $|\eta| \leq M$ . From Lemma 2.47 we get an open neighborhood  $D' \subset \subset D$  around  $z_0$  such that  $z_0 \in D'_{\varphi,N} \cap D'_{\varphi,M}$  holds. Using Lemma 3.12 we find a constant C > 0 such that

$$|k^{-n}\overline{\partial}_w^{\tau}(\tilde{P}_{N,k} - \tilde{P}_{M,k})|_{w=z_0}| \le Ck^{-\frac{M}{2}-\varepsilon+|\tau|}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and some fixed  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$ . By Lemma 2.9 and our previous considerations we conclude

$$\left|\sum_{\tau \leq \eta} {\eta \choose \tau} \partial_w^{\eta-\tau} (e^{-k\frac{1}{2}\varphi(w) + k\gamma_N(z,w)}) \right|_{w=z_0} \sum_{j=0}^M \tau! k^{-j} (\lambda_{M,\tau}^{(j)}(z_0) - \lambda_{N,\tau}^{(j)}(z_0)) \right| \qquad (3.8)$$
$$\leq Ck^{-\frac{M}{2} - \varepsilon + |\eta|} + R(k)$$

with

$$R(k) = \left| \sum_{\tau \le \eta} \binom{\eta}{\tau} \partial_w^{\eta - \tau} (e^{-k\frac{1}{2}\varphi(w) + k\gamma_N(z,w)}) \right|_{w = z_0} \sum_{j=M+1}^N \tau! k^{-j} \lambda_{N,\tau}^{(j)}(z_0) \right| \le C' k^{-M-1+|\eta|}$$

for some constant C' > 0 independent of k where the sums run over all  $\tau \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $\tau \leq \eta$ . For  $|\eta| = 0$  the claim follows from Lemma 3.15. Assume that the claim is true for all  $\eta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\eta| < |\alpha|$ . By (3.8) it follows that

$$\left| \sum_{j=0}^{M} \alpha! k^{-j} (\lambda_{M,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0) - \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)) \right| \le C k^{-\frac{M}{2} - \varepsilon + |\alpha|} + C' k^{-M - 1 + |\alpha|}$$

holds for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and hence  $\lambda_{M,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0) = \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  for all  $j \leq \frac{M}{2} - |\alpha|$ .

## Lemma 3.23

Let  $z_0 \in D$  be a point such that  $H_{\varphi}(z_0)$  is positive definite and diagonal. We have that the formula (3.4) for  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0)$  holds also for  $N - \frac{|\alpha|}{2} < j \leq N$ . Furthermore, for  $j \leq \frac{N}{2} - |\alpha|$  we have that (3.4) stays true when we replace  $\overline{\partial_w^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} h_{N,z_0}(z_0)$  by

$$\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(z_0) = \begin{cases} \left(\overline{\partial_w^{\alpha}} \partial_w^{\beta} \varphi\right)(z) & , if \max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 2, \min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \ge 1, \\ 0 & , else. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* Fix  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . For the first part of the statement we go through the proof of Theorem 3.17 and see that (since  $\varphi$  and  $\rho$  are smooth) we can expand  $a_{k,\alpha,\beta}$ up to higher order namely 4N + n + 1. This implies that (3.6) becomes  $c_k^{\alpha} = \sum_{i=0}^{4N} k^{-\frac{i}{2}} c^{\alpha,(j)} + O(k^{-2N-\frac{1}{2}})$ . We conclude

$$\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z_0) = \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z_0))}{\pi^n \rho(z_0)} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}} c^{\alpha,(2j+|\alpha|)}$$

for all  $0 \le j \le N$ .

For the second part, we define a holomorphic function

$$f(w) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{|\alpha| \ge N+2}^{4N} \partial_z^{\alpha} \varphi(z_0) (w - z_0)^{\alpha}$$

and set  $\psi = \varphi + 2f + 2\overline{f} \in C^{\infty}(D)$ ,

$$h_{N,z_0}^{\psi}(w) = \tilde{\psi}_N(z_0, w) - \overline{(w - z_0)}^T H_{\psi}(z_0)(w - z_0).$$

As in the proof of Theorem 3.17 we notice that  $H_{\psi}(z_0)$  is diagonal and that by the definition of  $h_{N,z}^{\psi}$  we have  $(\overline{\partial}_w^{\alpha} \partial_w^{\beta} h_{N,z_0}^{\psi})(z_0) = 0$  if  $\min\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} = 0$  or  $\max\{|\alpha|, |\beta|\} \le 1$ ,  $|\alpha|, |\beta| \le 4N$ . Using Lemma 2.40 we get  $P_{k\psi,\rho}(z,w) = e^{k(f(z) - f(w) + \overline{f(w)} - \overline{f(z)})} P_{k\varphi,\rho}(z,w)$ ,  $z, w \in D$ . Since all the derivatives of f vanish up to order N + 2 we can proceed as in the proof of Lemma 3.22 and find  $\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),\varphi,\rho}(z_0) = \lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j),\psi,\rho}(z_0)$  for all  $j \le \frac{N}{2} - |\alpha|$ .  $\Box$ 

Lemma 3.22 and Lemma 3.23 give rise for the following definition.

## Definition 3.24

Given  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}(D, \mathbb{R}), \rho > 0$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  define

$$b_{j,\alpha} \colon D_{\varphi,+} \to \mathbb{R}, \ b_{j,\alpha}(z) = \frac{\rho}{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))} \overline{\lambda_{2(|\alpha|+j),\alpha}^{(j)}(z)}$$

where in the case when  $H_{\varphi}(z)$  is diagonal  $\lambda_{2(|\alpha|+j),\alpha}^{(j)}(z)$  is explicitly given by Theorem 3.17 with the modification in Lemma 3.23. Furthermore, set

$$\hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) = \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{\det(H_{\varphi}(z))}{\rho} e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(w) - 2\overline{\gamma_N(z,w)})} \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} k^{-j} \sum_{|\alpha| \le \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor - j} b_{j,\alpha}(z) \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}.$$

#### Lemma 3.25

One has

$$\hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,2N} - P_{k\varphi,\rho,2N} = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,2N} \times D)$$

with  $P_{k\varphi,\rho,2N}$  as in Theorem 3.21.

Proof. Let  $K \subset D_{\varphi,2N}$  be compact and  $\eta, \tau \in \mathbb{N}_0^{2n}$ ,  $|\eta| + |\tau| \leq r$ , two multi-indicies. Set  $\psi_k(z, w) = e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(w) - 2\gamma_N(z, w))}$ . The 2N-th localization property ensures that there exist constants  $C, \delta > 0$  such that  $|\psi(z, w)|^2 \leq Ck^{-\delta k|z-w|^2}$  holds for  $(z, w) \in K \times D$  and  $k \in [1, \infty)$ . This observation leads to

$$\left| d_z^{\eta} d_w^{\tau} \psi_k(z, w) \sum_{N+1}^{2N} \overline{\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha} \right| \le C_1 k^{-N-1+r}$$

for all  $k \in [1, \infty)$  and all  $(z, w) \in K \times D$  where  $C_1 > 0$  is a constant independent of k, z and w. Given  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq N - j$ , we get from Lemma 3.22 that  $\frac{\det(H_{\varphi})}{\rho} b_{j,\alpha} = \lambda_{2N,\alpha}^{(j)}$ . Then consider the term

$$R_{j,\alpha,k}(z,w) := \psi_k(z,w)k^j \overline{\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha}$$

for  $0 \leq j \leq N$  and  $N - j < |\alpha| \leq 2N$ . Given  $0 < \varepsilon' < 1$  we find  $|d_z^{\eta} d_w^{\tau} R_{j,\alpha,k}|^2 \leq C_2 e^{-\delta k^{\varepsilon'}}$  for  $|w - z|^2 > k^{\varepsilon'-1}$ . For  $|w - z|^2 \leq k^{\varepsilon'-1}$  we have  $|(w - z)^{\beta}|^2 \leq |w - z|^{2|\beta|} \leq k^{|\beta|(\varepsilon'-1)}$ . Since  $|\alpha| \geq N - j + 1$  we find  $|d_z^{\eta} d_w^{\tau} R_{j,\alpha,k}|^2 \leq C_3 k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+\varepsilon}$ . Here  $C_2, C_3, \varepsilon > 0$  are constants independent of k, z and w. The claim follows from

$$\tilde{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,2N}(z,w) - \hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,2N}(z,w) = \psi_k(z,w) \left( \sum_{\substack{|\alpha| \le 2N\\N-j < |\alpha|}} R_{j,\alpha,k}(z,w) + \sum_{N+1}^{2N} \overline{\lambda_{N,\alpha}^{(j)}(z)} \overline{(w-z)}^{\alpha} \right).$$

## Corollary 3.26

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be a bounded domain. Given  $\varphi, \rho \in C^{\infty}(D) \cap C^0(\overline{D}), \varepsilon > 0$  and  $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ we have

$$P_{k\varphi,\rho} - \hat{P}_{k\varphi,\rho,2N} = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi,2N} \times D).$$

## **3.3 Bergman Kernels on Manifolds**

Let M be a complex manifold of complex dimension n. Given a smooth vector bundle F over M we denote by  $\Gamma(M, F)$  the space of smooth sections  $M \to F$ . Let  $T^{1,0}M$  (resp.  $T^{0,1}M$ ) denote the bundle of holomorphic (resp. antiholomorphic) vectors. Let E be a holomorphic line bundle over M. The space of smooth (p,q)forms (or forms of type (p,q)) with values in E is defined by  $\Omega^{p,q}(M, E) = \Gamma(M, E \otimes$  $\Lambda^p T^{*(1,0)}M \otimes \Lambda^q T^{*(0,1)}M)$  where  $T^{*(1,0)}M := (T^{1,0}M)^*$  and  $T^{*(0,1)}M := (T^{0,1}M)^*$ . We denote by  $\partial: \Omega^{p,q}(M, E) \to \Omega^{p+1,q}(M, E)$  and  $\overline{\partial}: \Omega^{p,q}(M, E) \to \Omega^{p,q+1}(M, E)$ the holomorphic and antiholomorphic differential. A Hermitian metric  $h_E$  on Eis said do be upper semi-continuous (resp. of class  $C^l$ ) if  $-\log(|s|_{h_E}^2)$  is an upper semi-continuous (resp. a  $C^l$ ) function for any local holomorphic frame s of E where  $|s|_{h_E} := \sqrt{h_E(s,s)}$  denotes the pointwise norm of s. Given a continuous volume form  $dV_M$  on M and an upper semi-continuous locally bounded Hermitian metric  $h_E$  on E we denote by  $H_2^0(M, E)$  the space of holomorphic sections with finite  $L^2$ -norm  $\|\cdot\|_{h_E,dV_M}$  induced by the inner product

$$(f,g)_{h_E,dV_M} = \int_M h_E(f,g)dV_M \ f,g \in L^2_{h_E,dV_M}(M,E).$$

We have that  $H_2^0(M, E)$  is a separable Hilbert space. Given an orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^d, d \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , of  $H_2^0(M, E)$  we define the Bergman kernel

$$P_{h_E,dV_M}\colon M\to E\boxtimes E^*, \ P_{h_E,dV_M}(x,y)=\sum_{j=1}^d s_j(x)\otimes (s_j(y))^*$$

and the Bergman kernel function

$$B_{h_E,dV_M}: M \to \mathbb{R}, \ B_{h_E,dV_M} = \sum_{j=1} h_E(s_j, s_j),$$

where we write  $v^* := h_E(\cdot, v) \in E_x^*$  for  $v \in E_x$ ,  $x \in M$  and choose the metric  $h_E^*$  on  $E^*$  such that  $v \mapsto v^*$  becomes an isometry. Note that  $P_{h_E,dV_M}$  and  $B_{h_E,dV_M}$  are well defined, independent of the choice of the orthonormal basis  $\{s_j\}_{j=1}^d$  and in the case when  $h_E$  is smooth we have  $P_{h_E,dV_M} \in \Gamma(M, E \boxtimes E^*)$  and  $B_{h_E,dV_M} \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$  (see Section 2.4).

From now on we assume that  $h_E$  is smooth. Given another holomorphic Hermitian line bundle L over M and an upper semi-continuous Hermitian metric h on Lwe are interested in studying the Bergman kernel and the Bergman kernel function for the space  $H_2^0(M, L_k), k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $L_k = L^k \otimes E$  and  $h_k = h^k \otimes h_E$ .

#### Definition 3.27

Let  $M_{h,+}$  denote the subset of M consisting of points which have a neighborhood where h is of class  $C^2$  with positive curvature  $c_1(L, h)$ . The curvature  $c_1(L,h)$  is a form of type (1,1) and can be locally written as  $c_1(L,h) = -\frac{i}{2}\partial\overline{\partial}\log(h(s,s))$  for any local holomorphic frame s of L around points where h is at least of class  $C^2$ . We define the following invariants.

## Definition 3.28

Assume h is of class  $C^{6j+3n+4}$  and  $dV_M$  is of class  $C^{4j+2n+2}$ , Define

$$b_j = b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M} \colon M_{h,+} \to \mathbb{R}, \ b_j^{h,h_E,dV_M}(p) = b_j^{\varphi,\rho}(z(p))$$

where  $b_j^{\varphi,\rho}$  is given by the formula in Definition 1.4 with respect to a choice of local trivializations s of L and e of E and local coordinates (U, z) with  $\varphi = -\log(h(s, s))$ ,  $\rho = h_E(e, e)\tilde{\rho}, dV_M = \tilde{\rho}dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ .

## Lemma 3.29

The function  $b_j$  is well defined, that is  $b_j$  is independent of the choice of coordinates and trivializations. Furthermore, we have that  $b_j \in C^l(M_{h,+}, \mathbb{R})$  if h is of class  $C^{6j+3n+4+l}$  and  $dV_M$  is of class  $C^{4j+2n+2+l}$ .

Proof. We need to show that  $b_j^{\varphi,\rho}$  is invariant under biholomorhic mappings. Let U and V be open neighborhoods around points  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and let  $G: U \to V$  be a biholomorphic map. Set  $F = (\frac{\partial G_l}{\partial z_m})_{1 \leq m, l \leq n}$  and  $c = \det(F(p))$ . By shrinking U and V we can achieve that  $|\det(F(z)) - c| \leq |c|/2$  holds for all  $p \in U, p_1 \in U_{\varphi,j}$  and  $p_2 \in V_{\varphi \circ G,j}$ . By Lemma 3.14 we have  $B_{\varphi \circ G, |\det(F)|\rho \circ G} = B_{\varphi,\rho}$ . Using our assumptions on  $\det(F)$  we find  $|\det(F)|^2 = e^{\log(\det(F)) + \log(\det(F))}$ . Then the claim follows from Lemma 3.13, Lemma 3.9 and the uniqueness of the coefficients in an asymptotic expansion. The last part of the statement follows from Definition 3.19 and Lemma 3.4.

#### Lemma 3.30

Given  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  assume that  $p \in M_{h,+}$  has an open neighborhood  $U \subset M$  where h is of class  $C^{6N+3n+4}$  and  $dV_M$  is of class  $C^{4N+2n+2}$ . Choose coordinates (D, z),  $D \subset C$  U around p such that D is identified with a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and local holomorphic frames s and e for L and E such that  $z(p) \in D_{\varphi,N}$  holds (see Lemma 2.47) with  $\varphi := -\log(|s|_h^2)$ . Furthermore, set  $\tilde{\rho} = \rho|e|_{h_E}$  where  $\rho$  is defined by  $dV_M = \rho \cdot \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^n dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n \wedge d\overline{z_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge d\overline{z_n}$ . For any compact set  $K \subset D_{\varphi,N}$ there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|\tilde{f}(z) - (\tilde{f}, K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,\cdot))_{k\varphi,\rho}|^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le Ck^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} ||f||^2_{h_k,dV_M}$$

for all  $f \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $z \in D_{\varphi,N}$  where  $\tilde{f} \in H_{k\varphi,\rho}^0(D)$  is defined by  $\tilde{f}(z)s^k \otimes e = f$  and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{k\varphi,\rho}$ ,  $K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}$  are as in Section 3.1.

Here C is bounded when  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{4N+2n+2}(D,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\overline{D})$  such that  $\inf_{w \in \overline{D}} \rho(w)$  has a positive lower bound.

*Proof.* The statement follows immediately from Lemm 3.8.

## 3.4 Global Bergman Kernel Expansion

We start this section by stating the following theorem on  $L^2$  estimates due to Hörmander [23] in a generalized version given by Demailly [14].

#### **Theorem 3.31** ([14, Theorem VIII–6.5])

Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a weakly pseudoconvex Kähler manifold, E a hermitian line bundle on  $X, \varphi \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{R})$  a weight function such that the eigenvalues  $\lambda_1 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_n$  of  $i\Theta(E) + id'd''\varphi$  are  $\geq 0$ . Then for every form g of type  $(n, q), q \geq 1$ , with  $L^2_{\text{loc}}$  (resp.  $C^{\infty}$ ) coefficients such that D''g = 0 and

$$\int_X \frac{1}{\lambda_1 + \ldots + \lambda_n} |g|^2 e^{-\varphi} dV < +\infty.$$

We can find a  $L^2_{\text{loc}}$  (resp.  $C^{\infty}$ ) form f of type (n, q-1) such that D''f = g and

$$\int_X |f|^2 e^{-\varphi} dV \le \int_X \frac{1}{\lambda_1 + \ldots + \lambda_n} |g|^2 e^{-\varphi} dV.$$

Proof. [14, Theorem VIII–6.5]

#### Lemma 3.32

The conclusion of Theorem 3.31 is valid if  $(X, \omega)$  is a complete Kähler manifold provided that g has compact support.

*Proof.* The claim follows from [14, Theorem VIII–4.5] and [14, VIII–(6.4)].  $\Box$ 

We will reformulate Theorem 3.31 in our notation. Therefore, let  $(X, \omega)$  be a complete Kähler manifold and let  $(E, h_E)$  be a holomorphic Hermitian line bundle with smooth metric  $h_E$ .

## Corollary 3.33

Assume  $c_1(E, h_E) \geq 0$  on X. Let  $f \in \Gamma(X, E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)}X)$  be a section compactly supported in  $X_{h_{E,+}}$  and C > 0 a constant with  $Cc_1(E, h_E) \geq \omega$  on the support of f. Then there exists  $u \in \Gamma(X, E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)}X)$  with  $f - u \in H_2^0(X, E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)}X)$ , such that  $\int_X |u|_{h_E}^2 dV_X \leq C \int_X |\overline{\partial}f|_{\omega}^2 dV_X$  holds.

We focus on the following setting. Let  $L_0$  be a holomorphic line bundle over a complete Kähler manifold  $(X, \omega)$ . Given a domain  $M \subset X$  we consider the line bundle  $L = L_0|_M$ . Let  $(E, h_E) \to X$  be another holomorphic line bundle with smooth Hermitian metric  $h_E$ . Choose an upper semi-continuous metric h on L, a function  $\rho \in C^0(M)$  which is positive and bounded and define a volume form on M by  $dV_M = \rho \frac{\omega^n}{n!}$ . Then we consider the Bergman kernel  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$  and the Bergman kernel function  $B_{h_k,dV_M}$  for the space  $H_2^0(M, L_k)$  with  $L_k = L^k \otimes E \otimes \Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)}M$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . In local coordinates (U, z) using the holomorphic frame  $dz := dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n$ 

for  $\Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)}M$  we observe  $dV_M = \rho \tilde{\rho} dV_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  and  $h_{\omega}(dz, dz) = 1/\tilde{\rho}$ . Hence we find that  $b_j$  is independent of  $\omega$ , so we set  $b_j^{h,\rho} := b_j^{h,dV_M,h_E \otimes h^{\omega}}$  in this setting. Note that  $b_j^{h,\rho}$  depends on the fixed metric  $h_E$  but we do not indicate this here to maintain a brief notation style.

#### Definition 3.34

We define the set  $M_{h,\infty} \subset M$  by saying  $p \in M_{h,\infty}$  if and only if p has an open neighborhood U where h is smooth with positive curvature and there exists a smooth Hermitian metric  $h_0$  on  $L_0 \to X$  with  $h \leq h_0$  on M and  $h = h_0$  on U and  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$kc_1(L_0, h_0) + c_1(E, h_E) \ge 0, \ k \ge k_0.$$
 (3.9)

#### Remark 3.35

In Definition 3.34 assume that E is trivial with flat metric then (3.9) is equivalent to assume that  $h_0$  is semi-positive.

## Theorem 3.36 (On-Diagonal Expansion)

For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\rho \in C^{4m+2n+2+r}(M_{h,\infty},\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(M)$ ,  $m = Nr + N + r^2 + 2r + 1$ , which is positive and bounded one has

$$B_{h_k,dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L,h)^n}{n!dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N b_j^{h,\rho} k^{-j} = O(k^{-N-1+n}) \text{ in } C^r(M_{h,\infty})$$

More precisely, given any compact set  $K \subset M_{h,\infty}$  and any partial differential operator F of order  $\leq r$  there exists a constant  $C = C_{K,F}$  such that

$$\left| F\left( B_{h_k, dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L, h)^n}{n! dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N b_j^{h, \rho} k^{-j} \right) (p) \right| \le C k^{-N-1+n}$$

holds for all  $p \in K$  and all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Here C is bounded when  $\rho$  stays in a bounded set in  $C^{4m+2n+2+r}(M_{h,\infty},\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(M)$  such that  $\inf_{p \in M} \rho(p)$  has a uniform positive lower bound and  $\sup_{p \in M} \rho(p)$  has a uniform upper bound.

The theorem follows from the following lemma.

## Lemma 3.37

Let  $U \subset M$  be an open set where h is smooth and has positive curvature. Assume there exists a semi-positive smooth Hermitian metric  $h_0$  on  $L_0$  with  $h \leq h_0$  on M,  $h = h_0$  on U, and there exists  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $kc_1(L_0, h_0) + c_1(E, h_E) \geq 0$  holds on X for all  $k \geq k_0$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\rho \in C^{4N+2n+2}(U, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(M)$  which is positive and bounded one has

$$B_{h_k,dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L,h)^n}{n!dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{h,\rho} = O(k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(U).$$

More precisely, given a compact set  $K \subset U$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a bounded subset  $S \subset C^{4N+2n+2}(U) \cap C^0(M)$  and a constant  $C_0 > 0$  with  $1/C_0 \leq \rho(p) \leq C_0$  for all  $p \in M$  and  $\rho \in S$ , there exists a constant  $C = C_{K,S,N,\varepsilon} > 0$  independent of k such that

$$\left| B_{h_k, dV_M}(p) - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L, h)^n}{n! dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{h, \rho}(p) \right| \le C k^{-N - 1 + n + \varepsilon}$$

holds for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $p \in K$  and  $\rho \in S$ .

Proof. Fix  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and a compact set  $K \subset U$ . Given any point  $p \in K$  choose local coordinates (D, z),  $D \subset \subset U$  around p and local frames s and e for L and Esuch that  $z(p) \in D_{\varphi,N}$  (see Lemma 2.47) where  $\varphi = -\log(|s|_h^2)$  and set  $\tilde{\rho} = \rho |e|_{h_E}$ . Furthermore, let  $s_k = s^k \otimes e \otimes dz$  be the induced local holomorphic frame for  $L_k$ and identify D with an open set in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  via the local coordinate z. Since  $D_{\varphi,N}$  is open and non-empty we find an open neighborhood  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N}$  around p. With  $K'_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) = s_k(w)K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w)$  we find from Lemma 3.30 that

$$|f - s_k(z)(f, K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w))_{h_k,dV_M,U}|^2_{h_k} \le C_1 k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} ||f||^2_{h_k,dV_M}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , all  $z \in D'$  and all  $f \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$  where  $C_1$  is a constant independent of  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $z \in D'$  and  $\rho \in S$ . Now take a cutoff function  $\chi \in C_0^\infty(M, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $0 \le \chi \le 1$ supported in D such that  $\chi \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of the closure of D'. Using  $h \le h_0$ on M and  $h = h_0$  on U we get from Corollary 3.33 that for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k \ge k_0$ , and any  $z \in D'$  we can choose  $u_z^{(k)} \in \Gamma(M, L_k)$  such that  $\chi(w) K'_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) - u_z^{(k)}$  is holomorphic on M and

$$\|u_{z}^{(k)}\|_{h_{k},dV_{M}}^{2} \leq C_{0}^{2}C_{2}\int_{M}|\overline{\partial}\chi(w)|_{\omega}^{2}|K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}'(z,w)|_{h_{k}}^{2}dV_{M}$$

where  $C_2 > 0$  is a constant independent of  $k \ge k_0$ ,  $z \in D'$  and  $\rho \in S$ . Note that it is actually enough to assume here that  $1/C_0 \le \rho$  holds on  $\operatorname{supp}(\chi)$ . Since  $\overline{\partial}\chi(w)$ and  $(1 - \chi(w))$  is zero in a neighborhood of  $\overline{D'}$  we find from Lemma 3.7 that

$$e^{-k\varphi(z)} \|u_z^{(k)}\|_{h_k}^2, \ e^{-k\varphi(z)} \int_D (1-\chi(w))^2 |K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w)|_{h_k}^2 dV_M = O(k^{-\infty})$$
(3.10)

in  $C^0(D')$  uniformly in  $\rho \in S$ . Write

$$K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) = \chi(w)K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) + (1-\chi(w))K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) - u_z^{(k)} + u_z^{(k)}.$$

From (3.10) we conclude

$$|f - s_k(z)(f, \chi(w)K'_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) - u_z^{(k)})_{h_k,dV_M}|_{h_k}^2 \le C_3 k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon} ||f||_{h_k,dV_M}$$
(3.11)

for all  $k \ge k_0$ ,  $z \in D'$  where  $C_3$  is a constant independent of k, z and  $\rho$ . For  $z \in D'$ set  $v_z^{(k)} = \sum_{j=1}^{d_k} \overline{\tilde{s}_j^{(k)}}(z) s_j^{(k)}$  where  $\{s_j^{(k)}\}_{j=1}^{d_k}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $H_2^0(M, L_k)$  with  $d_k = \dim H_2^0(M, L_k) \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Here we use the notation  $\tilde{f}(z)s_k = f$  to identify sections  $f \in H_2^0(M, L)$  with holomorphic functions  $\tilde{f}$  on D. We have  $\tilde{f}(z) = (f, v_z^{(k)})_{h_k, dV_M}$  for all  $f \in H^0(M, L_k)$ . Putting  $f_z^{(k)} = v_z^{(k)} - \chi(w)K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) + u_z^{(k)}$ we have  $f_z^{(k)} \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$  as in the proof of Lemma 3.9 we obtain from (3.11)

$$\|v_{z}^{(k)} - \chi(w)K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}'(z,w) + u_{z}^{(k)}\|_{h_{k}}^{2}e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le C_{3}k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}$$
(3.12)

for all  $k \ge k_0, z \in D'$  and  $\rho \in S$ . Furthermore, we have

$$\|f_z\|_{h_k}^2 = (v_z^{(k)}, v_z^{(k)})_{h_k, dV_M} - \chi(z)\lambda_{N,0,k}(z)e^{k\varphi(z)} + 2\operatorname{Re} u_z^{(k)}(z) + R_{k,z}$$

with

$$|R_{k,z}| = \left\| \|\chi(w)K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) + u_z^{(k)} \|_{h_k}^2 - \chi(z)\lambda_{N,0,k}(z)e^{k\varphi(z)} \right\|$$
  
$$\leq \|(1-\chi(w))K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w)\|_{h_k,D}^2 + \|u_z^{(k)}\|_{h_k}^2$$

where we used  $(K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,\cdot), K_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,\cdot))_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho}} = \lambda_{N,0,k}(z)e^{k\varphi(z)}$  (see Lemma 3.2) and  $(f, v_z^{(k)}) = \tilde{f}(z)$  for any  $f \in H_2^0(M, L_k)$  by the reproducing property of the Bergman kernel. Since  $\overline{\partial} u_z^{(k)} = (\overline{\partial} \chi(w))K'_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w)$  we have that  $u_z$  is holomorphic on D'' with  $D' \subset D''$ . Hence we can use Lemma 2.29 and find a constant  $C_4 > 0$  independent of k with  $|u_z^{(k)}(z)|_{h_k}^2 e^{-k\varphi(z)} \leq C_4 k^n e^{-k\varphi(z)} ||u_z||_{h_k}^2 = O(k^{-\infty})$  on D'. Using  $B_{h_k,dV_M} = (v_z, v_z)_{h_k} e^{-k\varphi(z)}$ , (3.10) and the expansion of  $\lambda_{N,0,k}$  in Lemma 3.4 (see also Lemma 3.15 and Definition 3.19) we conclude

$$\left| B_{h_k,dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L,h)^n}{n!dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{h,\rho}(q) \right| \le C_5 k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}$$

on D' for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\rho \in S$ . Since K can be covered by finitely many of those sets D' the claim follows.

Proof of Theorem 3.36. We just need to show that any point in  $M_{h,\infty}$  has an open neighborhood where the claim in Theorem 3.36 holds. Given an arbitrary point in  $M_{h,\infty}$  we know from the definition that is has an open neighborhood  $U \subset M_{h,\infty}$ where the assumptions of Lemma 3.37 are satisfied. In Lemma 3.37 we proved the statement already for r = 0 and arbitrary N. Let  $C_0 > 0$  be a constant and  $S \subset C^{4m+2n+2+r}(U) \cap C^0(M)$ ,  $m = Nr + N + r^2 + 2r + 2$  a bounded set with  $1/C_0 \leq \rho(p) \leq C_0$  for all  $p \in M$  and  $\rho \in S$ . Using Hörmander's trick (see Lemma 3.11) and Lemma 3.12 which is true for that case since all the arguments are local and Corollary 2.39 is valid we find

$$B_{h_k,dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L,h)^n}{n!dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^m k^{-j} b_j^{h,\rho} = O(k^{-c_r(m)+n+r+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(U)$$

uniformly in  $\rho \in S$  with  $c_r = \frac{1}{r+1}$ . Taking  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough the statement follows from  $c_r(Nr + N + r^2 + 2r + 2) - r = N + 1 + c_r$  and  $\sum_{j=N+1}^m k^{-j}b_j = O(k^{-N-1})$  in  $C^r(U)$  uniformly in  $\rho \in S$  (see Definition 3.19 and Remark 3.18).

In order to state the next theorem we fix the following notation. Given local coordinates (D, z) around a point  $p \in M$  and local holomorphic frames s and e of L and E, we denote by  $(D \times D, (z, w))$  the induced coordinates around  $(p, p) \in M \times M$  and choose  $\hat{s}_k(z, w) := e^{\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(z) + \varphi(w))} s^k(z) e(z) dz (s^k(w) e(w) dw)^*$  as a trivialization of  $L_k \boxtimes L_k^*|_{U \times U}$  with  $\varphi = -\log(h(s, s))$ . Furthermore, set  $\tilde{\rho} = \rho |e|_{h_E}^2$  and recall the definition of  $\hat{P}_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}$  (see Definition 1.9). We have the following result on off-diagonal expansion.

### Theorem 3.38

Assume that  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(M_{h,\infty}, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^{0}(M)$  is bounded and positive. Let  $p \in M_{h,\infty}$  be a point and (D, z) local coordinates around p with  $D \subset M_{h,\infty}$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$  one has

$$P_{h_k, dV_M} - \hat{s}_k(z, w) \hat{P}_{k\varphi, \tilde{\rho}, 2N}(z, w) = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2} + n + r + \varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^r(D_{\varphi, 2N} \times D).$$

Furthermore, for any open set  $D \subset M_{h,\infty}$  we have

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} = O(k^{-\infty})$$
 in  $C^r(D \times M \setminus \overline{D})$ .

For the proof we need the following lemma.

#### Lemma 3.39

Let  $U \subset M$  be an open set where h is smooth and has positive curvature. Assume there exists a semi-positive smooth Hermitian metric  $h_0$  on  $L_0$  with  $h \leq h_0$  on M,  $h = h_0$  on U, and there exists  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $kc_1(L_0, h_0) + c_1(E, h_E) \geq 0$  holds on X for all  $k \geq k_0$ . Let  $p \in U$  be a point and (D, z) local coordinates around p with  $D \subset U$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(U, \mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(M)$ ,  $C_0^{-1} \leq \rho \leq C_0$  on Mfor some constant  $C_0 > 0$  one has

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} - \hat{s}_k P_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}(z,w) = O(k^{-\frac{N+1}{2}+n+\varepsilon}) \text{ in } C^0(D_{\varphi,2N} \times D)$$

with  $P_{k\varphi,\tilde{\rho},N}$  as in Theorem 3.21. Furthermore, for any open set  $D \subset M_{h,\infty}$  we have

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} = O(k^{-\infty}) \text{ in } C^0(D \times M \setminus \overline{D}).$$

*Proof.* We use the same notation as in the proof of Lemma 3.37. Given any compact subset K of D we take a cutoff function  $\chi$  with support in D and  $\chi \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of K. Choose  $D' \subset D_{\varphi,N} \cap K$ . As in the proof of Lemma 3.37 we find

$$\|v_{z}^{(k)} - \chi(w)K_{k\varphi,\rho,N}'(z,w) + u_{z}^{(k)}\|_{h_{k}}^{2}e^{-k\varphi(z)} \le C_{3}k^{-N-1+n+\varepsilon}$$
(3.13)

for all  $z \in D'$  and all  $k \ge k_0$  where  $v_z^{(k)}$  and  $u_z^{(k)}$  as in the proof of Lemma 3.37. We apply Lemma 2.29 and find

$$|\tilde{v}_{z}^{(k)}(w) - K_{k\varphi,\rho,N}(z,w) + \tilde{u}_{z}^{(k)}(w)|^{2}e^{-k(\varphi(z) + \varphi(w))} \le C_{3}k^{-N-1+2n+\varepsilon}$$

for all  $(z, w) \in D' \times K$ . We have that  $u_z^{(k)}$  is holomorphic in a neighborhood of K. We apply Lemma 2.29 again and find by (3.10) that  $|\tilde{u}_z^{(k)}(w)|^2 e^{-k(\varphi(z)+\varphi(w))} = O(k^{-\infty})$  in  $C^0(D' \times K)$ . Since locally we have

$$P_{h_k,dV_M} = s_k(z) \otimes (v_z^{(k)}(w))^* e^{-\frac{k}{2}(\varphi(z) + \varphi(w))}$$

the claim follows from Lemma 3.4. Furthermore, we have that  $u_z^{(k)}$  is holomorphic outside the support of  $\chi$ . By Lemma 3.7 we conclude  $|P_{h_k,dV_M}|^2_{h_k \otimes h_k^*} \leq C_4 k^{-N-1+2n+\varepsilon}$ on  $K \times M \setminus \text{supp}(\chi)$ . Since the statement is true for all N we find by choosing K and the support of  $\chi$  sufficiently small that

$$P_{h_k, dV_M} = O(k^{-\infty})$$
 in  $C^0(D \times M \setminus \overline{D})$ 

is valid for any set  $D \subset U$ .

Proof of Theorem 3.38. As explained in the proof of Theorem 3.36 the  $C^r$  expansion can be obtained from the  $C^0$  expansion using Hörmander's trick and the apriori estimate for  $P_{h_k,dV_M}$  in Corollary 2.39 as in the proof of Lemma 3.12. Then the conclusion of Theorem 3.38 follows from Lemma 3.25 by replacing N with 2N.  $\Box$ 

As a consequence we obtain the following corollary which is actually the result of Catlin [10] and Zelditch [38] for vector bundles of rank one.

## Corollary 3.40

Let M be a compact complex manifold,  $dV_M$  a smooth volume form on M and L, E two holomorphic line bundles over M with smooth Hermitian metrics such that the metric of L has positive curvature. The Bergman kernel function for the space  $H^0_k(M, L^k \otimes E)$  has an asymptotic expansion, that is

$$B_{h^k \otimes h_E, dV_M} - \frac{k^n}{\pi^n} \frac{c_1(L, h)^n}{n! dV_M} \sum_{j=0}^N k^{-j} b_j^{h, h_E, dV_M} = O(k^{-N-1+n}) \text{ in } C^r(M)$$

for any  $N, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

Proof. Since M is compact and L is positive we have that the curvature of L induces a complete Hermitian metric on M. Thus, the curvature of  $L^k$  becomes arbitrary large for  $k \to \infty$  and M is compact the claim follows from Theorem 3.36 replacing E by  $E \otimes (\Lambda^n T^{*(1,0)})^{-1}$ .

## Bibliography

- S. BERGMAN, Über die Entwicklung der harmonischen Funktionen der Ebene und des Raumes nach Orthogonalfunktionen, Mathematische Annalen 86 (1922), 238–271.
- [2] R. J. BERMAN, Bergman kernels and local holomorphic Morse inequalities, Mathematische Zeitschrift 248 (2004), 325–344.
- [3] R. J. BERMAN, B. BERNDTSSON AND J. SJÖSTRAND, A direct approach to Bergman kernel asymptotics for positive line bundles, Ark. Mat. 46 (2008), 197–217.
- [4] R. J. BERMAN, Bergman Kernels for Weighted Polynomials and Weighted Equilibrium Measures of C<sup>n</sup>, Indiana University Mathematics Journal 58 (2009), 1921–1946.
- [5] R. J. BERMAN, Bergman Kernels and Equilibrium Measures for Line Bundles over Projective Manifolds, Am. J. Math. 131 (2009), 1485–1524.
- [6] S. BOCHNER, Curvature in Hermitian metric, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947), 179–195.
- [7] L. BOUTETDE MONVEL AND J. SJÖSTRAND, Sur la singularité des noyau de Bergman et de Szegö, Astérisque 34 (1976), 123–164.
- [8] T. BRÖCKER, Analysis II, Heidelberg : Spektrum, Akad. (BI-Wissenschaftsverlag, 1992).
- M. CAHEN, S. GUTT AND J. RAWNSLEY, Quantization of Kähler manifolds. II, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 337 (1993), 73–98.
- [10] D. CATLIN, The Bergman kernel and a theorem of Tian, Analysis and geometry in several complex variables (1999), 1–23.
- [11] S.-C. CHEN AND M.-C. SHAW, Partial Differential Equations in Several Complex Variables, Studies in Advanced Mathematics 19 (American Mathematical Society - International Press, 2001).
- [12] D. COMAN, S. KLEVTSOV, G. MARINESCU, Bergman kernel asymptotics for singular metrics on punctured Riemann surfaces, arxiv: 1105.0221vl (2016).

- [13] X. DAI, K. LIU AND X. MA, On the asymptotic expansion of Bergman kernel, J. Diff. Geom. 72 (2006), 1–41.
- [14] J.-P. DEMAILLY, Complex Analytic and Differential Geometry, http://www-fourier.ujf-grenoble.fr/ demailly/ documents.html, 2012, published online, accessed May 2018.
- [15] M. DOUGLAS M. AND S. KLEVTSOV, Bergman Kernel from Path Integral, Commun. Math. Phys. 293 (2010), 205–230.
- [16] M. ENGLIŠ, The asymptotics of a Laplace integral on a Kähler manifold, J. Reine Angew. Math. 528 (2000), 1–39.
- [17] M. ENGLIŠ, Weighted Bergman kernels and quantization, Commun. Math. Phys. 227 (2002), 211–241.
- [18] C. FEFFERMAN, The Bergman kernel and biholomorphic mappings of pseudoconvex domains, *Invent. Math.* 26 (1974), 1–65.
- [19] K. HIRACHI, Invariant theory of the Bergman kernel of strictly pseudoconvex domains, Sugaku Expositions 17 (2004), 151–169.
- [20] C.-Y. HSIAO AND G. MARINESCU, Asymptotics of Spectral function of lower energy forms and Bergman kernel of semi-positiv and big line bundles, *Comm. Anal. Geom.* 22 (2014), 1–108.
- [21] C.-Y. HSIAO, Bergman Kernel Asymptotics and a Pure Analytic Proof of the Kodaira Embedding Theorem, *Complex Analysis and Geometry* 144 (Springer Tokyo, 2015), 161–173.
- [22] L. HÖRMANDER, L<sup>2</sup> estimates and existence theorems for the ∂ operator, Acta Math. 133 (1965), 89–152.
- [23] L. HÖRMANDER, An Introduction to Complex Analysis in Several Variables, North-Holland Mathematical Library 7 (Elsevier, 1973).
- [24] L. HÖRMANDER, The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators I, Classics in Mathematics 256 (Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2003).
- [25] A. KARABEGOV AND M. SCHLICHENMAIER, Identification of Berezin-Toeplitz deformation quantization, J. Reine Angew. Math. 540 (2001), 49–76.
- [26] C.-J. LIU, Z. LU, Abstract Bergman kernel expansion and its applications, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 368 (2016), 1467–1495.

- [27] Z. LU, On the lower order terms of the asymptotic expansion of Tian-Yau-Zelditch, Amer. J. Math. 122 (2000), 235–273.
- [28] Z. LU, G. TIAN, The log term of the Szegö kernel, Duke Math. J. 125 (2004), 351–387.
- [29] X. MA AND G. MARINESCU, The first coefficients of the asymptotic expansion of the Bergman kernel of the spin<sup>c</sup> Dirac operator, *Internat. J. Math.* 17 (2006), 737–759.
- [30] X. MA AND G. MARINESCU, Holomorphic Morse Inequalities and Bergman Kernels, Progress in Mathematics 254 (Birkhäuser Basel, 2007).
- [31] X. MA AND G. MARINESCU, Generalized Bergman kernels on symplectic manifolds, Adv. Math. 217 (2008), 1756–1815.
- [32] X. MA AND G. MARINESCU, Berezin-Toeplitz quantization of Kähler manifolds, J. Reine Angew. Math. 662 (2012), 1–56.
- [33] M. RANGE, Holomorphic Functions and Integral Representations in Several Complex Variables, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 108 (Springer-Verlag New York, 1986).
- [34] M. SCHLICHENMAIER, Berezin-Toeplitz quantization and Berezin transform (Bologna, 1999), Long time behaviour of classical and quantum systems, Ser. Concr. Appl. Math. 1 (World Sci. Publ., 2001) 271–287.
- [35] B. SHIFFMAN AND S. ZELDITCH, Distribution of zeros of random and quantum chaotic sections of positive line bundles, *Comm. Math. Phys.* 200 (1999), 661– 683.
- [36] G. TIAN, On a set of polarized Kähler metrics on algebraic manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 32 (1990), 99–130.
- [37] H. XU, A Closed Formula for the Asymptotic Expansion of the Bergman Kernel, Communications in Mathematical Physics 314 (2012), 555–585.
- [38] S. ZELDITCH, Szegö kernels and a theorem of Tian, Internat. Math. Res. Notices 6 (1998), 317–331.

# Erklärung gemäß §4 der Promotionsordung

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen –, die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie – abgesehen von unten angebenen Teilpublikationen – noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen dieser Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. George Marinescu betreut worden.

Köln, August 2019

Hendrik Herrmann